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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year ended December 31,
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000

Revenue 3,086,742 3,950,585 3,418,035 3,058,632 2,292,903

Gross profit 728,764 738,164 1,030,944 814,620 743,679

Operating profit 115,501 125,014 166,826 482,436 352,426

Profit before income tax 83,447 35,434 122,458 446,435 454,462

Profit for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 82,452 11,627 153,922 420,934 438,907

Non-IFRS Measure:

Adjusted EBITDA(1) 384,483 556,047 213,405 123,378 463,407
 

Note:

(1) For details of our Non-IFRS measures, see “Management Discussion and Analysis – Non-IFRS Measures” in this 
annual report.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As of December 31,
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000

Assets

Non-current assets 1,813,479 1,873,877 1,531,968 1,127,991 609,405

Current assets 5,891,997 6,546,484 5,758,030 5,627,785 5,013,985

Total assets 7,705,476 8,420,361 7,289,998 6,755,776 5,623,390

Equity and liabilities

Equity/(deficit) attributable to equity

 holders of the Company 2,665,238 2,707,876 2,770,335 3,259,250 3,119,787

Total equity/(deficit) 2,589,503 2,617,401 2,681,267 3,200,671 3,166,855

Non-current liabilities 103,016 512,699 468,491 143,002 132,046

Current liabilities 5,012,957 5,290,261 4,140,240 3,412,103 2,324,489

Total liabilities 5,115,973 5,802,960 4,608,731 3,555,105 2,456,535

Total equity and liabilities 7,705,476 8,420,361 7,289,998 6,755,776 5,623,390
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Chairman’s Statement for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. We deeply appreciate your unwavering support and trust.

In 2024, Yeahka reinforced its position as a leading one-stop technology platform for merchants, 
integrating AI and generative technologies to expand our product portfolio and deepen our 
presence across key Asian markets. Our focus on profitability and operational sustainability guided 
our efforts to optimize our payment and value-added services, streamlining operations, boosting 
profitability and cash flow, and fueling investments in product development and regional expansion. 
Our digital ecosystem, processing trillions of RMB in annual transaction volume, enables us to 
serve merchants with a diverse range of offerings, from merchant solutions to in-store e-commerce 
services, while addressing their growing AI needs. This interconnected ecosystem drives our strategy 
to enhance value chain cohesiveness and commercialization.

Business Highlights

AI Technology and Product Innovation

In 2024, we introduced a series of proprietary AI-powered products designed to reduce costs, 
increase efficiency, and generate revenue for merchants. Our Winsfor business intelligence platform 
integrates seamlessly with external platforms, driving sales conversion through automated e-store 
setup, AI content generation, live broadcast planning, and traffic distribution services. In Southeast 
Asia, we launched the region’s first AI Agent through our investee company, Fushi Technology, 
empowering merchants with voice ordering, transaction data analytics, and personalized marketing 
content. We also applied AI across our operations, improving efficiency with tools like “Xiaoka 
Assistant” and “Y-Copilot” coding assistant. 

Overseas Expansion and Global Market Penetration

We made significant strides in expanding our overseas presence, achieving a fivefold year-on-
year increase in overseas GPV. We expanded our channel network, achieving full acceptance 
across international card networks, and forming strategic partnerships with major global banks. 
We also launched in-store e-commerce services in Japan, Singapore, and Hong Kong SAR, further 
integrating our payment and value-added solutions. Our one-stop solutions have gained traction 
overseas, attracting large enterprises, chain stores, and household brands, creating a flywheel 
effect that accelerates the adoption of our products.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Sustained Market Leadership in Payment Business and AI-Driven Growth in Payment and 
Non-Payment Value-Added Services

Our payments business maintained its market leadership, with gross profit more than tripling 
in the second half of the year compared to the first half. We drove growth through increased 
collaborations with SaaS partners, banks, and ISOs, as well as broadened regional coverage, 
particularly in Northeast and Northwest China. We also tailored our payment solutions to vertical 
markets and strengthened risk management using AI, boosting the machine serving rate to 85%. 
In merchant solutions, our precision marketing business achieved record transaction volumes 
and solidified its position in multi-platform marketing, leveraging data-driven distribution across 
platforms like Tencent and Douyin. Our fintech leadership extended to cover over 90% of the 
sector’s major clients, and we optimized our proprietary credit assessment model to improve risk 
control and earnings predictability. Our in-store e-commerce business also transformed, focusing 
on large-scale customers with comprehensive marketing needs. By transitioning from direct 
sales teams to distribution channels and sales networks, we doubled both revenue and profit per 
merchant. With the optimization of our fee model, upfront fees now contribute approximately 50% 
of revenue, ensuring profitability, while AI-driven content generation lowered costs, enabling this 
business to reach breakeven.

Financial Highlights

In 2024, total revenue reached RMB3,086.7 million, representing a year-on-year decrease of 21.9%. 
Notably, the revenue contribution from value-added services with higher gross profit margins 
increased from 11.8% in 2023 to 13.0% in 2024. 

Gross profit amounted to RMB728.8 million, with a gross profit margin of 23.6%, up from 18.7% 
in 2023. Gross profit margin rose further in the second half of 2024 to 28.4%, returning to pre-
pandemic levels.

Profit for the year reached RMB73.0 million, representing an increase of over six-fold compared to 
2023.

ESG Commitment

We are committed to sustainable and responsible development. We take pride in our strong ESG 
performance in 2024, highlighted by a score of 59 in the S&P Global ESG Ratings and an A- rating 
in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Index. We are also delighted to have been included once 
again in the S&P Global 2024 Sustainability Yearbook (China Edition), reaffirming our commitment 
to ESG principles.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Outlook

Moving forward, we will continue to harness the transformative power of AI to elevate operational 
efficiency and product competitiveness. Our sizeable payment volume in China and our fast-
growing payment volume overseas provide a solid foundation for extending our one-stop payment 
and value-added services to more regions and use cases. Moreover, by leveraging our domestic 
operational experience and established products and investing early in cutting-edge technologies, 
we will advance our global expansion, further boosting our growth momentum. As we broaden our 
offerings and enhance our products’ commercialization, we will strengthen our market position as a 
leading payment-based technology platform for merchants across various regions. 

Appreciation

We extend our sincere gratitude to our Shareholders, merchants, partners, consumers, and 
employees for their ongoing support and trust in Yeahka. Your commitment has been crucial to our 
journey of innovation and excellence. We are especially grateful to our employees, whose dedication 
drives our success. As we look to the future, we are excited about the opportunities ahead and 
remain dedicated to creating value for all our stakeholders. 

Liu Yingqi
Chairman

March 27, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review and Outlook

Business and Financial Summary

• As a payment-based technology company, we have been focusing in recent years on in-depth 
and extensive application of generative AI technology, and have achieved remarkable results 
in reducing costs, increasing efficiency and generating revenue for the Company and our 
customers. Fushi Technology, a company we invested in, launched the first AI Agent industry 
solution for merchants in Southeast Asia.

• For the year ended December 31, 2024, our overseas business transaction volume exceeded 
RMB1.1 billion, a nearly five-fold year-on-year increase, with expanded business footprint in 
more Asian countries such as Japan and Singapore;

• Our one-stop payment services continued to lead the industry, with peak number of daily 
transactions reaching nearly 60 million;

• Against the industry backdrop of decrease in average transaction value per customer in the 
Reporting Period, our GPV for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB2,335.5 billion, 
representing a decrease of 19.0% compared to 2023;

• Our payment fee rate1 for the year ended December 31, 2024 was 11.9 basis points (bps), 
maintaining our commercialization capabilities in line with industry trends;

• Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB3,086.7 million, representing a 
decrease of 21.9% from 2023;

• Optimization of business structure continued, where revenue contribution from value-
added services with higher gross profit margins (including merchant solutions and in-store 
e-commerce services) increased from 11.8% of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 
2023 to 13.0% in 2024;

• Overall gross profit margin increased from 18.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
23.6% in 2024. Overall gross profit margin for the six months ended December 31, 2024 reached 
28.4%, recovering to pre-pandemic levels;

• Leveraging the broader application of AI across the Group’s three major business lines, selling, 
administrative, and research and development expenses for the year ended December 31, 
2024 decreased by 11.0%, 10.8%, and 10.5%, respectively, compared to 2023, reflecting cost 
reduction across the board;

1 After eliminating the impact of the “Non-Recurring Adjustment on Revenue”. For details, see “– Non-IFRS 
Measures”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

• As a result of actively upgrading our equity shareholding and financing structure and 
optimizing finance cost, the finance costs for the year ended December 31, 2024 reduced by 
31.5% compared to 2023;

• Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB384.5 million. Profit for 
the year amounted to RMB73.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, representing 
an increase of more than six times compared to 2023. Net cash generated from operating 
activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 was approximately RMB118.9 million; and

• Gearing ratio decreased to 35.9% as of December 31, 2024 due to the Company’s early 
repurchase of its convertible bonds using its internal cash flow.

About Yeahka

Yeahka is a leading commerce enablement technology platform dedicated to creating value for 
merchants and consumers. We strive to expand an independent commercial digitalized ecosystem 
to (i) provide seamless, convenient and reliable payment services to both merchants and consumers 
through our one-stop payment services; (ii) enable merchants to better manage and drive business 
growth through our merchant solutions; and (iii) provide consumers with local lifestyle services of 
great value through our in-store e-commerce services.

Strategic Progress and Outlook

In 2024, we took first-mover advantage to fully embrace AI and generative technologies, and 
developed a series of new, proprietary products that deeply met various industries’ business needs, 
helping merchants ride on the opportunities brought upon by AI, and applying them to all aspects 
of the Company’s operations to improve efficiency and reduce costs. In the second half of 2024, 
our domestic payment business recovered rapidly and achieved higher profits, while our overseas 
business also maintained strong growth. We extended our value-added services, based on  our 
large payment base comprising trillions RMB worth of transaction volume annually and its various 
extension of use cases, to many more regions including overseas to increase economies of scale 
and profit growth. Our business, together with our investee company Fushi Technology, has covered 
multiple regions in Asia, achieved much more card acceptance channels both domestically and 
internationally, and reached strategic cooperation with many global banks. More large domestic 
and foreign chain enterprises have become our customers, covering more comprehensively various 
vertical and product service needs, which speaks to the scalability of our products and business 
models in a wide range of regions. Our high-quality and convenient one-stop payment and other 
value-added service solutions, combined with years of accumulated experience and understanding 
of the needs of various vertical industries, will continuously strengthen our Company’s inherent 
competitive advantage and continue to lead the industry, which is still in its early stages in AI 
application globally.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Given macroeconomic volatility driving industry decrease in average transaction amount per 
customer in the industry and the high base in the same period in 2023, the transaction volume in 
payment industry was temporarily affected in 2024. Our GPV decreased by 19.0% year-on-year 
from RMB2,882.9 billion in the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2,335.5 billion in the same 
period for 2024. As a result, our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB3,086.7 
million, a decrease of 21.9% from RMB3,950.6 million for the same period in 2023. At the same 
time, our revenue structure had been further optimized, and the commercialization capabilities of 
value-added services (including merchant solutions and in-store e-commerce services) have been 
enhanced, with their contribution to our Company’s revenue increasing from 11.8% in the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to 13.0% in the same period for 2024, making the Company’s business model 
more comprehensive and diversified.

In the second half of 2024, our gross profit increased by 42.7% period-on-period to RMB428.5 
million, mainly due to the rapid recovery of our domestic payment business and its strong 
profitability during the period. The impact of the “Non-Recurring Adjustment on Revenue”2 on gross 
profit has ended and will not be further offset in the future, resulting in the gross profit of our 
one-stop payment services increasing from RMB92.9 million in the first half of 2024 to RMB289.8 
million in the second half of 2024. Our gross profit margin increased from 18.7% for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to 23.6% for the same period of 2024, mainly due to the increase in payment 
gross profit mentioned above (payment gross profit margin increased from 6.9% in the first half of 
2024 to 21.6% in the second half of 2024), the increase in revenue from value-added services (the 
gross profit margins of such businesses were higher than those of our payment business) as well as 
the increase in overall gross profit margins from value-added services.

We continue to leverage artificial intel l igence in various areas. For example, we used 
industry-leading, large models domestically and globally such as DeepSeek to deploy our latest 
“Y-Copilot” coding assistant, which increased our Company’s internal code adoption rate to over 
30%. We have also developed our own AI internal efficiency-improvement tool, “Xiaoka Assistant”, 
to improve the efficiency of content production, intelligent customer service, programming, 
copywriting and video generation, and fully empower internal operations and external customer 
service. By increasing the use of AI tools, we reduced related operating expenses by 20%. As a 
result, our selling expenses, administrative expenses and research and development expenses for 
the year ended December 31, 2024 decreased by 11.0%, 10.8% and 10.5% year-on-year, respectively.

Our effective financial management resulted in a significant decrease of 31.5% in financing costs 
for the year ended December 31, 2024 from the same period of 2023. Adjusted EBITDA for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 was RMB384.5 million. Our profit for the Reporting Period increased more 
than six-fold from RMB10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB73.0 million for the 
same period in 2024. During the same period, our profit margin increased to 2.4%.

2 Please refer to the note in “– Non-IFRS Measures”
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023, respectively:

For the year ended 
December 31,

2024
RMB’000

2023
RMB’000

Year-on-
year change

(%)

Revenue 3,086,742 3,950,585 (21.9)

－ One-stop payment services 2,685,898 3,484,960 (22.9)

－ Merchant solutions 339,646 362,951 (6.4)

－ In-store e-commerce services 61,198 102,674 (40.4)

Gross profit 728,764 738,164 (1.3)

Gross profit margin 23.6% 18.7% 4.9(1)

－ One-stop payment services 14.2% 9.7% 4.5(1)

－ Merchant solutions 87.2% 87.4% (0.2)(1)

－ In-store e-commerce services 81.3% 80.3% 1.0(1)

Profit for the Year 73,014 10,113 622.0

Profit margin for the Year 2.4% 0.3% 2.1(1)

Note:

(1) Percentage points.

Below are the key highlights from our business lines during the Reporting Period:

AI Technology Applications and Product Innovation

Since 2023, our AI Lab has begun to deploy and apply large models such as DeepSeek. Combined 
with years of deep understanding of merchants’ business models from a large number of industries, 
it accelerated the implementation of AI technology across commercial use cases, enabling our 
customers to reduce costs, increase efficiency and generate revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our proprietarily developed Winsfor business intelligence platform connects customers to a 
comprehensive set of external platforms such as JD, Douyin, Meituan, WeChat and Xiaohongshu 
(RedNote), and enhances their sales conversion by providing automatic build-up of e-stores, AI 
content creation, live broadcast planning, and traffic distribution services based on data from large 
models. We have also teamed up with our investee company Fushi Technology to launch the first AI 
Agent industry solution for merchants in Southeast Asia, which uses artificial intelligence technology 
to enhance merchants’ business and services, including: (i) intelligent transaction data analysis: 
transaction behavior analysis based on machine learning algorithms, dynamically optimizing 
product recommendation strategies, helping merchants deeply understand customer behavior and 
improve conversion rates; (ii) intelligent creative generation and precision marketing: our system 
automatically outputs marketing design plans that meet the brand tone based on original materials 
uploaded by merchants, and proactively follows up automatically; and (iii) intelligent ordering and 
humanized recommendations: integrating natural language processing in depth, providing accurate 
recommendations and completing orders through precise understanding of consumer needs. In the 
future, we will also launch multi-modal digital employees that support multiple languages to provide 
intelligent ordering, pre-sales consultation and after-sales service processing.

Internally, we have built a general intelligent platform, incorporated AI into every aspect of our 
business process, and improved the execution efficiency of personnel and information coordination. 
Our “Xiaoka Assistant” provides content production, intelligent customer service, programming, 
copywriting and video generation functions to empower our Company’s internal operations and 
external customer service. Our “Y-Copilot” coding assistant uses large models to improve production 
and research efficiency, increasing our Company’s internal code adoption rate to more than 30%, 
and help various projects to be implemented more quickly. AI technology is used to optimize the 
efficiency of customer KYC, liveness and document verification, and to improve risk control such as 
risk relationship detection and abnormal transactions. By increasing the use of AI tools, we reduced 
related operating expenses by 20%.

Rapid Growth of Overseas Business and Deepened Global Penetration

In 2024, our overseas business continued to grow rapidly, with broader and deeper connections 
across international channels. We broadened our coverage of customer industry verticals as well 
as product and service demands, further solidifying our globalization strategy. Our overseas GPV 
for the full year of 2024 exceeded RMB1.1 billion, an increase of nearly five-fold year-on-year, 
demonstrating our market expansion capabilities and recognition from customers.

In terms of channel development, we have achieved full acceptance of all card types both 
domestically and internationally, joining global leading payment networks such as Visa, Mastercard, 
and UnionPay International as an institutional member. In addition, we strategically initiated in-
depth collaborations with globally renowned banks like Citibank, HSBC, and Barclays, further 
enhancing our global payment network coverage and service quality. Regarding customer 
acquisition, we significantly deepened our penetration within our customer verticals, successfully 
onboarding new customers from sectors such as automotive, luxury goods, beauty and haircare, 
alongside leisure and entertainment. Notable new merchants include Clinique, %Arabica, Bose, 
Leica, Xiaomi and Xiabu Xiabu and other prominent brands which enriched the diversity of our 
customer base and strengthened our business’s resilience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our overseas product coverage also further expanded. Fushi Technology, our investee company, 
provided one-stop digital payment and other value-added services platform for well-known 
international brands such as Playmade, Coffee Bean, Mr. Coconut, and KOI. This included Fushi 
Technology’s newly developed AI Agent, which is the first in Southeast Asia. Through its intelligent 
ordering function, powered by an AI recommendation engine and natural language interactive 
processing technology, it has transformed consumer’s experience into an automatic, humanized 
one: offering services such as smart dish recommendations, conversational ordering, and interactive 
sharing of brand culture, product profiles and store information. Our AI Agent is expanding into 
more sectors such as retail, culture and tourism, and entertainment, among others.

Additionally, building on our success in our local lifestyle services and in-store e-commerce services 
domestically, we helped our brand customers enhance brand visibility more globally on platforms 
like Xiaohongshu (RedNote) and Dianping’s international versions across Japan, Singapore and 
Hong Kong SAR. We will continue to expand our local licenses portfolio and our talent teams in 
different regions, and to provide merchants with high-quality and convenient one-stop payment and 
other value-added services solution in more regions.

One-Stop Payment Services: Sustained Market Leadership with Foundation Reinforced for 
High-Quality Long-Term Growth

Our One-Stop Payment Services continued to lead the industry. The peak daily transaction counts 
for our app-based payments reached nearly 60.0 million. Starting from the second half of 2024, our 
domestic payment service was no longer impacted by the “Non-Recurring Adjustment on Revenue”3 
and we consistently demonstrated robust resilience of our business’ innate profitability. Gross 
profit of our one-stop payment services business for the second half of 2024 increased 212.1% to 
RMB289.8 million compared to that of the first half of 2024, and gross profit margin increased to 
21.6% during the same period.

We continued to strengthen our diversified channel expansion, connecting with over 6,000 SaaS 
partners. Our partner base increased by 32.0% year-on-year. At the same time, we established 
group-level strategic partnerships with major joint-stock commercial banks, increasing our banking 
partner network for joint merchant acquiring to nearly 160, while further scaling market coverage 
through approximately 17,000 independent sales organizations. We continued to expand our 
business in Northeast and Northwest China. We delivered more tailored solutions specific to sectors 
such as apparel, maternity and baby care, and energy, effectively mitigated the impact of industry 
cyclical fluctuations and enhanced our profitability.

We actively integrated AI technology in areas such as KYC, risk management, customer service and 
operations. In 2024, we made more than 17 billion risk decisions, processed more than 19 million risk 
transactions, safeguarding transaction safety. In the meantime, we leveraged biometric technology 
to shorten merchant verification time, increasing intelligent customer service resolution rates to 
85%. Based on our vast data and information and years of industry experience, we will extend our 
non-payment use cases and value-added products, and provide solid infrastructure for commerce 
construction and business support.

3 Please refer to the note in “– Non-IFRS Measures”
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Merchant Solutions: Commercialization of AI and Data Technology with High Gross Profit 
Margin Maintained

Despite industry decrease in average transaction amount per customer during the Reporting Period, 
revenue from our merchant solutions declined slightly by 6.4% year-on-year from RMB363.0 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB339.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
primarily due to the fact that our precision marketing business reached a record high in business 
transaction amount in 2024. Gross profit margin for the year ended December 31, 2024 maintained 
at 87.2%, a level similar with that of 2023, primarily due to our products’ high profitability and cost 
control, and focus on customers with higher profit margin.

In 2024, we achieved industry leadership in marketing service for fintech sectors such as credit 
and insurance, covering over 90% of the major clients in the industry, including Ant Group, WeBank, 
Ningbo Bank, and ZhongAn Insurance. We further optimized mainstream online media resources, 
including Tencent and Douyin, enabling more comprehensive coverage of financial projects and 
solidifying our position as a multi-platform marketing service provider. By leveraging AI algorithms 
for precise advertisement targeting and dynamic creative content generation, we significantly 
improved conversion rates.

In the fintech sector, we also leveraged AI technology to enhance business intelligence and 
risk control capabilities. For instance, we utilized the massive transaction data generated by 
our payment business and applied AI algorithms to analyze in depth the relationship between  
merchants’ operational and financial metrics and their repayment performance, continuously 
optimizing our self-developed credit assessment model. Through this approach, we strengthened 
the risk control capabilities of our fintech value-added products across various business use cases, 
thereby enhancing the potential for long-term profitability.

The contribution to our total revenue from merchant solutions increased from 9.2% for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 to 11.0% for the year ended December 31, 2024. Deepening AI 
applications continuously and expanding cooperation with our domestic and international strategic 
partners will further optimize commercialization capability of this business segment and improve 
our overall income and profitability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In-store E-commerce Services: Strategic Upgrades Bringing Significant Improvement on 
Profitability

We strategically upgraded our in-store e-commerce services across the board, focusing on high-
quality and higher-margin customers. We significantly reduced our investment in direct sales team 
and instead developed distribution channels and sales networks. Against the backdrop of gradually 
phasing out customers with lower profitability contributions, revenue from our in-store e-commerce 
services for the year ended December 31, 2024 decreased. We concentrated on providing services  
to large-scale customers, designed comprehensive marketing packages and focused on services’ 
upsale and quality execution, such that both revenue and profit per merchant served in 2024 
doubled year-over-year. We also optimized our fees model: by the end of 2024, our fees paid 
upfront contributed around 50% of revenue in in-store e-commerce services, further ensuring 
profitability of each of our service offerings. The number of stores we served continued to increase 
year-on-year, covering key consumer segments such as hotel and hospitality, culture and tourism, 
entertainment, dining, and retail, with new brand additions including InterContinental Hotels, 
Sunac Snow Park (融創雪世界), BlissCake (幸福西餅), and Jinyi Cinema (金逸影城). Diversified sector 
coverage improved the inherent resilience and sustainability of our in-store e-commerce business.

The gross profit margin for our in-store e-commerce services increased from 80.3% for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to 81.3% for the year ended December 31, 2024. High gross profit margin 
was maintained as a result of our strategic business upgrade and increased AI application usage 
in business operation, including the provision of toolkits such as automatic build-up of e-stores in 
various use cases, AI content generation, livestreaming scriptwriting, effectively reducing manual 
labour for marketing and production, thereby raising average revenue and profit contribution from 
our employees in 2024 year-over-year.

Overall, our in-store e-commerce services were becoming break-even as the period of significant 
investment ended. It remained stable in scale with continued healthy growth, having accumulated 
large amount of experience that supports sustainable development in the future.

In 2024, we also partnered with Meituan and JD.com’s food delivery services to build a 
comprehensive “in-store + at-home” full-use-case service platform, further enriching our local 
lifestyle services. In addition, synergies with our overseas business increased, as we successfully 
launched local lifestyle services for merchants in Japan, Singapore and Hong Kong SAR. These 
services assist merchants in industries such as food and beverage, tourism, hotel and hospitality 
in promoting their brands on platforms like Xiaohongshu (RedNote)’s and Dianping’s international 
versions, accelerating progress in our global expansion strategy.
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Financial Planning: Capital Structure Enhanced and Shareholder Returns Increased

To build long-term competitiveness and enhance shareholder value creation, in 2024 we 
implemented a series of financial initiatives to optimize capital allocation across multiple 
dimensions. We strategically deployed our internal cash flow resources to repurchase an aggregate 
principal of US$35 million of convertible bonds at a discount in the first half of the year, and 
fully redeemed the remaining outstanding amount of another US$35 million in July 2024. These 
transactions significantly reduced interest expenses and improved our debt-to-asset ratio. 
Additionally, in August 2024, the Board approved an additional allocation of US$10 million for 
share repurchases, utilizing flexible capital instruments to increase earnings per share and bolster 
shareholder equity.

As a result of a streamlined debt structure and rigorous finance cost management, our financial 
costs for full-year 2024 decreased by over 30% year-on-year. Combined with enhanced operational 
efficiency, our profit for the Year surged more than six-fold to RMB73.0 million, with profit 
margin for the Year increasing to 2.4%. Furthermore, we successfully attracted investments from 
international long-only funds and multi-strategy funds, enabling us to secure lower-cost financing 
while continuously optimizing our equity structure.

Company Outlook

Looking ahead, we remain committed to an innovation-driven development strategy, further 
harnessing the transformative power of AI technology in our business. Our primary focus will be on 
enhancing operational efficiency and product competitiveness, allowing us to deliver more efficient 
and intelligent payment-based one-stop digital solutions for merchants. Building on our established 
product system and operational expertise within China, we will accelerate our globalization efforts 
and actively pursue opportunities in international markets, achieving further diversification and 
expansion of our global presence.

As the cornerstone of our business, our one-stop payment services will continue to play a 
foundational role, providing extensive resource support and creating synergistic value across our 
other business segments. Simultaneously, we will strengthen the commercialization capabilities of 
our merchant solutions and in-store e-commerce operations, introducing a wider array of products 
and services that align with market demands while integrating cutting-edge technologies to further 
enhance profitability and market share.

We prioritize localized operations and technological innovation to ensure sustainable, high-quality 
growth. Our sizeable payment volume in China and our fast-growing payment volume overseas will 
continue to provide a solid and unique foundation for the extension of our one-stop payment and 
other value-added technology services to more regions and for more use cases.
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Share Purchase by our Controlling Shareholder, Share Purchase Pursuant to the RSU 
Scheme, and Convertible Bonds Repurchase

We have been informed by our controlling shareholder, Creative Brocade International, an entity 
controlled by our founder, chairman of the Board, and chief executive officer, Mr. Liu Yingqi, that as 
of the date of this annual report it has purchased a total of 2,866,800 Shares from the open market 
since January 1, 2024, representing 0.62% of the issued Shares as of the date of this annual report 
By increasing their shareholding in the Company, Mr. Liu and Creative Brocade International have 
expressed their confidence in the Group’s future development prospects and recognized its intrinsic 
value.

Meanwhile, during the Reporting Period, the trustee of the RSU Scheme has utilized an aggregate of 
approximately HKD52.1 million (including commissions and transaction costs) to purchase 4,224,400 
Shares from the open market at a consideration ranging from HKD9.01 to HKD14.76 per Share. The 
Shares purchased during such period represent 0.95% of the issued Shares as of December 31, 2024. 
The purchased Shares will be used as share awards to incentivize key personnel of our Group and/
or its related entities.

Furthermore, the Board has approved an aggregate amount of US$10 million for the Company’s 
share repurchase purposes, further enhancing our shareholder return. In addition, the Company 
has redeemed, in advance, all of its 6.25% convertible bonds due in 2027, in the aggregate principal 
amount of US$70 million (the “Convertible Bonds”). As of the date of this annual report all the 
Convertible Bonds have been redeemed and canceled. The Convertible Bonds were delisted from the 
Stock Exchange on July 23, 2024. The Board believes that the early redemption of the Convertible 
Bonds will significantly reduce the Company’s interest expenses and optimize its capital structure.

Environmental, Social and Governance

Amid the current corporate growth landscape, where sustainable development remains paramount, 
we have firmly embedded Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) principles at the core of 
our strategy. These values are woven into our strategic objectives and consistently practiced in our 
daily operations and management. By aligning our initiatives with global sustainable development 
goals, we innovatively drive the parallel development of our business and environmental and social 
values.
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In 2024, we made significant achievements in the ESG domain. We attained a score of 59 in the 
S&P Global ESG Ratings and received an A – rating in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability 
Index, setting a new record for our performance and reinforcing our leadership position within the 
industry. Furthermore, we were proud to once again qualify for inclusion in the S&P Global 2024 
Sustainability Yearbook (China Edition). On the environmental front, we have continuously optimized 
our system architecture, utilizing Yeahka’s private cloud for centralized resource management and 
allocation. This initiative has realized an improvement of over 8% in overall computing resource 
utilization, resulting in energy savings of 810,000 kilowatt-hours. At our data operations center, we 
harnessed natural cooling sources to create a green data center, significantly reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions. Internally, we are committed to promoting green office initiatives and actively 
engage in outreach activities such as World Forest Day to disseminate environmental protection 
concepts and educate consumers on sustainability. Moreover, we have adopted the International 
Financial Reporting Sustainability Disclosure Standard No. 2 – Climate-related Disclosures (IFRS 
S2), managing and disclosing climate-related matters across four critical dimensions: governance, 
strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.

Socially, we continue to enhance our transaction risk management and control capabilities. During 
the reporting period, we executed over 17 billion risk-based decisions and effectively managed more 
than 19 million risk transactions, ensuring a secure transaction environment. Meanwhile, we provided 
our employees with competitive compensation packages and diverse training opportunities. We 
also expanded our channels for promoting our corporate culture, aiming to cultivate a diverse 
and high-quality talent pool while sharing the benefits of corporate growth with our employees. 
Additionally, we leverage our product advantages to offer financial value-added services and 
non-financial support to small and micro enterprises, facilitating their brand promotion and 
contributing positively to economic recovery.

In terms of corporate governance, we remain dedicated to enhancing our governance framework. 
The Board of Directors actively seeks to recruit female candidates to promote diversity and improve 
our governance standards. We integrate ESG factors into our risk governance system and maintain 
ongoing compliance and risk-related training to strengthen our risk management capabilities. 
During the reporting period, we organized multiple training sessions on anti-corruption, compliance 
operations, risk management, and anti-money laundering, ensuring comprehensive coverage for 
all employees through our enhanced manual, the “Sunshine Code of Conduct.” Furthermore, we 
refined our anti-money laundering protocols and established a reporting mechanism to safeguard 
the interests of our clients and shareholders. We also developed the “Yeahka Tax Guidelines” and 
emphasized anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism financing measures in our “Anti-Money 
Laundering Policy Statement.” Importantly, we prioritize the legitimate rights of minority 
shareholders and maintain robust communication with them through various channels.
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Results of Performance for the Year ended December 31, 2024

For the year ended
December 31,

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 3,086,742 3,950,585

Including: interest revenue 168,940 130,805

Cost of revenue (2,357,978) (3,212,421)

Gross profit 728,764 738,164

Selling expenses (111,208) (124,971)

Administrative expenses (302,131) (338,833)

Research and development expenses (237,570) (265,572)

Net impairment losses on financial assets (88,183) (57,843)

Other income 25,191 56,256

Fair value changes of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – net 81,051 144,563

Other gains/(losses) – net 19,587 (26,750)

Operating profit 115,501 125,014

Finance costs (61,584) (89,937)

Share of profits of investments accounted for using the  
equity method 29,530 357

Profit before income tax 83,447 35,434

Income tax expense (10,433) (25,321)

Profit for the year 73,014 10,113

Profit for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 82,452 11,627

Non-controlling interests (9,438) (1,514)

Revenue

We generate revenue primarily through our three main types of business, namely (i) one-stop 
payment services, (ii) merchant solutions, and (iii) in-store e-commerce services. Our revenue 
decreased by 21.9% from RMB3,950.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB3,086.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to macroeconomic volatilities and 
industry decline in customers’ average transaction amount leading to decrease in our total GPV and 
hence revenue from our one-stop payment services.
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The following table sets forth our revenue by business type for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

Revenue from one-stop payment services 2,685,898 87.0 3,484,960 88.2

Revenue from merchant solutions 339,646 11.0 362,951 9.2

Revenue from in-store e-commerce services 61,198 2.0 102,674 2.6

Total 3,086,742 100.0 3,950,585 100.0

One-stop payment services

Revenue from our one-stop payment services decreased by 22.9% from RMB3,485.0 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB2,685.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
primarily due to the decrease in our total GPV which was impacted by macroeconomic volatilities 
and  industry decrease in customers’ average transaction amount.

Merchant solutions

Revenue from our merchant solutions decreased slightly by 6.4% from RMB363.0 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB339.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due 
to the fact that our precision marketing business reached a record high in business transaction 
amount in 2024, which largely canceled out the impact of decrease in user base in the second half 
of the Reporting Period.

In-store e-commerce services

Revenue from in-store e-commerce services decreased by 40.4% from RMB102.7 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB61.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily 
due to the strategic upgrade in our business model, as we focus on high-quality and higher-margin 
customers and gradually phasing out customers with lower profitability contributions.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of Revenue

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue by nature for the years indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

Commissions and marketing costs 2,196,946 93.2 3,057,862 95.2

Amortization of other non-current assets 105,620 4.5 94,980 2.9

Raw materials and consumables 7,640 0.3 14,829 0.5

Others 47,772 2.0 44,750 1.4

Total 2,357,978 100.0 3,212,421 100.0

Our cost of revenue decreased by 26.6% from RMB3,212.4 million for the year ended December 31, 
2023, to RMB2,358.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to our gradual 
adjustments in the second half of the Reporting Period, and our strong bargaining power, which 
resulted in a reduction in commission expenses we paid to our payment distribution channels.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our cost of revenue by business type for the years 
indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

One-stop payment services 2,303,224 97.7 3,146,532 98.0

Merchant solutions 43,305 1.8 45,694 1.4

In-store e-commerce services 11,449 0.5 20,195 0.6

Total 2,357,978 100.0 3,212,421 100.0
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit margin by business type for the years 
indicated:

For the year ended December 31,

2024 2023

Gross 
profit

Gross 
profit 

margin
Gross 
profit

Gross 
profit 

margin

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

One-stop payment services 382,674 14.2 338,428 9.7

Merchant solutions 296,341 87.2 317,257 87.4

In-store e-commerce services 49,749 81.3 82,479 80.3

Total 728,764 23.6 738,164 18.7

Our gross profit decreased by 1.3% from RMB738.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 
RMB728.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and our gross profit margin increased from 
18.7% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to 23.6% for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Gross profit margin of our one-stop payment services increased from 9.7% for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to 14.2% for the year ended December 31, 2024 as the “Non-Recurring 
Adjustment on Revenue”4 no longer affected results of the second half of 2024, and our strong 
bargaining power led to a decrease in commissions paid to payment distribution channels in the 
second half of the Reporting Period.

Gross profit margin of merchant solutions remained relatively stable at 87.4% and 87.2% for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Gross profit margin of in-store e-commerce services remained relatively stable at 80.3% and 81.3% 
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Selling Expenses

Our selling expenses decreased by 11.0% from RMB125.0 million for the year ended December 
31, 2023 to RMB111.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the reduced 
demand in manpower following the adoption of AI tools.

4 Please refer to the note in “– Non-IFRS Measures”
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Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by 10.8% from RMB338.8 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB302.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the 
decreases in labor cost and depreciation and amortization.

Research and Development Expenses

Our research and development expenses decreased by 10.5% from RMB265.6 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB237.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due 
to the wider adoption of AI tools which were more cost effective.

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

Our net impairment losses on financial assets increased by 52.5% from RMB57.8 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB88.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, following the 
increased collaboration with commercial banks in our fintech services, which reduced the use of 
proprietary funds. As the principals and interests of the underlying loans which were granted by our 
loan facilitation partners increased, our maximum exposure arising from the provision of financial 
guarantee to certain loan facilitation parties also increased accordingly. For details, please refer to 
note 3.1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Other Income

Our other income decreased by 55.2% from RMB56.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 
to RMB25.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the decreases in interest 
income from bank deposits and government grants.

Fair Value Changes of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through 
Profit or Loss

We recorded fair value changes of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss of RMB144.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and RMB81.1 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2024, respectively, both of which were primarily due to the change in the 
fair value from the investments in preferred shares and related financial instruments of an investee 
company, Fushi Technology.

Other Gains/(Losses) – Net

We recorded other losses – net of RMB26.8 million and other gains – net of RMB19.6 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The change from other losses – net to other 
gains – net was primarily due to the gain on the early redemption of convertible bonds in 2024.

Operating Profit

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded operating profit of RMB125.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 and RMB115.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Finance Costs

Our finance costs decreased by 31.5% from RMB89.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 
to RMB61.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the early redemption of 
convertible bonds in 2024.

Share of Profits of Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method

We recorded share of profits of investments accounted for using the equity method of RMB0.4 
million and RMB29.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The 
change was primarily due to the increase in the carrying amount of our equity interests in an 
associate of the Group.

Profit Before Income Tax

As a result of the foregoing, our profit before income tax increased by 135.5% from RMB35.4 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB83.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense decreased by 58.8% from RMB25.3 million for the year ended December 
31, 2023 to RMB10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our effective tax rate was 71.5% 
and 12.5% for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The decrease was mainly 
attributable to (i) the high base in 2023 as we did not recognize our loss as deferred tax asset due 
to our prudent approach; and (ii) the preferential tax treatment of certain subsidiaries with “high 
and new technology” status and R&D expenses in 2024.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit increased by 622.0% from RMB10.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB73.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024

Non-IFRS Measures

We adopt adjusted EBITDA, which is not required by or presented in accordance with IFRS, 
as an additional financial measure to supplement our consolidated financial statements. We 
believe that EBITDA facilitates comparisons of operating performance from period to period 
and company to company, by eliminating potential impacts of items that our management does 
not consider indicative of our operating performance. In addition, our adjusted EBITDA excludes 
certain non-cash or non-recurrent items such as share-based compensation expenses, and fair 
value changes of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. We 
believe that the non-IFRS measure is commonly adopted by our industry peers and provide useful 
information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results 
of operations in the same manner as they help our management. However, our presentation of 
adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. 
The use of the non – IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and the investors and 
Shareholders should not consider them in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, our results 
of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS.
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The following table illustrates reconciliations to our adjusted EBITDA from our profit for the years 
indicated:

Unaudited
For the year

ended December 31

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit for the year 73,014 10,113

Adjusted for:

Finance costs 61,584 89,937

Amortization of other non-current assets 105,620 94,980

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 29,575 37,719

Amortization of intangible assets 18,058 18,211

Income tax expense 10,433 25,321

EBITDA 298,284 276,281

Add:

Share-based compensation expenses 107,159 79,929

Non-Recurring Adjustment on Revenue(1) 86,100 344,400

Deduct:

Fair value changes of financial assets and financial 
 liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – net (81,051) (144,563)

Gain on repurchase of Convertible Bonds (26,009) –

Adjusted EBITDA 384,483 556,047

Note: During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, we paid approximately RMB344.4 million and RMB86.1 
million, respectively, to a suspense account of the payment networks in relation to interchange fee rate 
adjustments as requested by the payment networks. We netted off such payments made to the suspense account 
from our one-stop payment services revenue in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies of revenue 
recognition and based on our communications with the payment networks. Such non-recurring adjustment ceased 
in the first half of 2024.

Our adjusted EBITDA for the year decreased by 30.9% from RMB556.0 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2023 to RMB384.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Capital Structure

Our total assets decreased from RMB8,420.4 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB7,705.5 million 
as of December 31, 2024. Our total liabilities decreased from RMB5,803.0 million as of December 
31, 2023 to RMB5,116.0 million as of December 31, 2024. Liabilities-to-assets ratio decreased from 
68.9% as of December 31, 2023 to 66.4% as of December 31, 2024.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 27

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our current ratio, being current assets divided by current liabilities as of the respective date, 
decreased from 1.24 as of December 31, 2023 to 1.18 as of December 31, 2024.

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Gearing

The Group has adopted a prudent approach in financial resources management. For the year ended 
December 31, 2024, we financed our operations primarily through cash generated from business 
operations and bank borrowings. Our cash and cash equivalents decreased by 32.9% from RMB887.9 
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB595.7 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily attributable 
to (i) early redemption of the Convertible Bonds; and (ii) the payment to the trustee of the RSU 
Scheme to purchase Shares on market. As of December 31, 2024, the cash and cash equivalents 
of the Group were mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. The Group maintains a strong cash 
position to meet potential needs for business expansion and development.

Our gearing ratio, being total debt (which includes total borrowings and convertible bonds) divided 
by total equity, decreased from 45.3% as of December 31, 2023 to 35.9% as of December 31, 2024, 
primarily attributable to the early redemption of the Convertible Bonds using internal cash flow.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures primarily consist of payments for purchasing property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets and payment terminals. Our total capital expenditures decreased 
by 72.1% from RMB148.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB41.4 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily due to a reduction in the purchase of 
payment terminals in 2024.

Indebtedness

Our indebtedness mainly includes interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated in USD and RMB 
respectively. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our convertible bonds, interest-bearing 
borrowings and lease liabilities as of the dates indicated:

As of December 31,

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current
Convertible bonds – 405,539
Lease liabilities 16,767 28,896
Bank borrowings 3,000 –

Current
Bank and other borrowings 928,993 780,062
Lease liabilities 19,165 22,521

Total 967,925 1,237,018
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Please refer to notes 31 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements for details of our 
borrowings and convertible bonds and their interest rates.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any material contingent liabilities, guarantees or any 
litigations or claims of material importance, pending or threatened against any member of the 
Group that was likely to have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or 
results of operations.

Loan Receivables

As of December 31, 2024, our loan receivables decreased to RMB658.1 million (as of December 31, 
2023: RMB882.3 million), as we have increased our cooperation with commercial banks and reduced 
the use of our proprietary funds.

As part of our merchant solutions services, we aim to satisfy the working capital needs of our 
customers. Under prudent loan policies, qualified customers can gain access to credit facilities on 
our platform to purchase inventory, invest in customer acquisition and manage cash flow. As we 
are responsible for providing the platform as well as ancillary services, including loan applicant 
information collection and verification and credit assessment, the experience has been essential for 
the development of our risk management capabilities.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material impairment or write-off of any single loan 
transaction. For the risk management policies and basis of impairment assessments of the loan 
receivables, please refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. For details of the major 
terms of the loans, please refer to note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Risk and Hedging

As we operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in RMB, we consider that our 
business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial 
assets or liabilities that are denominated in the currencies other than the respective functional 
currencies of the Group’s entities. We do not use any derivative contracts to hedge against our 
exposure to foreign exchange risk. We manage currency risks by closely monitoring the movement 
of the foreign currency rates and will take prudent measures to minimize the currency translation 
risk.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals and Future Plans for Major Investments

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we did not conduct any material investments, 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Saved as disclosed in 
this annual report, we have no specific plan for major investment or acquisition for major capital 
assets or other businesses. However, we will continue to identify new opportunities for business 
development.
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Significant Investments Held

As of December 31, 2024, we were interested in 4,500,000 (17.0%) of the ordinary shares in Fushi 
Technology, our associate company, and held 7,272,780 (27.4%) of preferred shares of Fushi 
Technology, which was classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying 
amount of our investment in Fushi Technology’s ordinary shares and the fair value of the preferred 
shares amounted to approximately RMB834,957,000 (as of December 31, 2023: RMB731,898,000), 
which accounted for approximately 10.8% of our total assets as of December 31, 2024. The 
investment costs for our investment in the preferred shares of Fushi Technology was approximately 
RMB351,600,000. Net unrealized fair value gains of approximately RMB103,059,000 was recognized 
by us for the year ended December 31, 2024 in respect of our investment in the preferred shares 
of Fushi Technology. No dividend has been received from Fushi Technology for the year ended 
December 31, 2024.

Fushi Technology is a company established in the PRC on April 12, 2016 with limited liability. It 
is a one-stop SaaS digital platform for merchants. The Board believes that Fushi Technology will 
continue to be an important member within Yeahka’s ecosystem of expanding its merchant base 
and providing merchant services.

Performance Guarantees in relation to the Acquisition of Chuangxinzhong

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated November 9, 2020 and November 30, 
2020 (the “First Acquisition”), and announcements dated December 24, 2020, December 28, 2020 
and April 26, 2021 (the “Second Acquisition”) in relation to the acquisition of 85% of interest in 
Beijing Chuangxinzhong Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chuangxinzhong”) (together, the “Chuangxinzhong 
Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms used in this section shall have the 
same meanings as those set out in the Chuangxinzhong Announcements.

In August 2024, the Group received the financial statements of Chuangxinzhong for the Third 
Performance Undertaking Period (i.e., December 1, 2022 to November 30, 2023), pursuant to 
which the actual net profit of Chuangxinzhong for the Third Performance Undertaking Period 
was approximately RMB60,522,230. Accordingly, the Guaranteed Profit for the Third Performance 
Undertaking Period (i.e., RMB62 million) had not been fulfilled. As agreed between the parties, 
the fourth instalment of the First Acquisition shall be further adjusted to RMB26,315,901 from 
RMB28,220,000, a downward adjustment of RMB1,904,099. The Board is of the view that the Vendors 
have fulfilled their obligations under the profit guarantees after the Downward Adjustment. Please 
refer to the interim results announcement for the six months ended June 30, 2024 dated August 27, 
2024 for details of the performance guarantees and the corresponding consideration adjustments.
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Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM, the 
Company’s register of members will be closed from Monday, June 2, 2025 to Thursday, June 5, 
2025, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will be registered. In order to be 
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of Shares shall ensure that all transfer 
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s 
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration 
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 30, 2025.

Company Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on September 8, 2011 as an exempted 
company with limited liability, and the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 1, 2020.

Employees

As of December 31, 2024, we had a total of 871 employees, a majority of them were based in China. 
Please refer to note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for our employee benefit expenses.

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. The 
remuneration package for our employees generally includes salary and bonuses. We determine 
employee remuneration based on factors such as qualifications and years of experience. Employees 
also receive welfare benefits, including medical care, retirement benefits, occupational injury 
insurance and other miscellaneous items. We make contributions to mandatory social security 
funds for our employees to provide for retirement, medical, work-related injury, maternity and 
unemployment benefits.
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Use of Proceeds from Convertible Bonds

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated July 4, 2022, July 5, 2022 and July 13, 
2022. In July 2022, the Company issued US$70 million 6.25% convertible bonds due 2027. The Group 
successfully raised total net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses including 
commissions, professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses) of approximately USD68.1 million 
(equivalent to HKD533.3 million) through the issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The Convertible 
Bonds were subsequently fully redeemed and cancelled on July 15, 2024. For details of the 
redemption of the Convertible Bonds, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated June 14, 
2024 and July 15, 2024. The following table sets forth the status of the use of net proceeds from the 
Convertible Bonds up to December 31, 2024:

Intended use of proceeds

Percentage of 
intended use 
of proceeds

Intended use 
of proceeds 

from the 
issuance of 
Convertible 

Bonds(1)

Unutilized net 
proceeds 

as of 
December 31, 

2023(1)

Actual usage 
during the 

year ended 
December 31, 

2024(1)

Unutilized net 
proceeds 

as of 
December 31, 

2024(1)(2)

Expected 
timeline for 
utilizing the 

remaining 
net proceeds(2)

(%) (In HKD
millions)

(In HKD
millions)

(in HKD
millions)

(In HKD
millions)

Expansion of the Group’s 
overseas business, including 
cross-border e-commerce 
foreign exchange/RMB 
collection and payment 
business, acquiring and 
mobile payment business, 
software as a service (SaaS) 
digital solution and in-store 
e-commerce services and for 
new business opportunities 
to accelerate the Group’s 
development in upstream and 
downstream industries

80.0 426.6 296.2 40.7 – –

Strengthen the Group’s 
competitiveness in the PRC 
such as product research and 
development, marketing and 
promotion and recruitment to 
further establish and reinforce 
the commercial digitalized 
ecosystem of the Group

20.0 106.7 72.6 17.3 – –

Total 100.0 533.3 368.8 58.0 –

Note:

(1) The figures in the table are approximate figures.

(2) The Convertible Bonds were fully redeemed and cancelled on July 15, 2024 at the option of the bondholders and, 
as a result, all the unutilized net proceeds were used up as of December 31, 2024 because of the early redemption. 
For details, see “Directors' Report – Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities”.
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Rounding

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual report have been subject to 
rounding adjustments. Any discrepancies in any table between totals and sums of amounts listed 
therein are due to rounding.
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Our Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yingqi (劉穎麒), aged 48, is our chairman, chief executive officer and an executive Director. 
He was appointed as a Director on September 8, 2011 and was re-designated as executive Director 
on November 4, 2019. He is responsible for formulating the overall development strategies and 
business plans and overseeing the management and strategic development of our Group. Mr. Liu is 
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and ESG Committee and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee. He is also a director of Yeahka HK since October 2011, a director and the general 
manager of Shenzhen Yeahka since September 2013 and August 2012 respectively, and the general 
manager of Yeahka WFOE since April 2012.

Mr. Liu has around 25 years of experience in corporate management and information technology. 
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Liu has served as the general manager of Shenzhen Tenpay 
Technology Company Limited (深圳市財付通科技有限公司) (currently known as Tenpay Payment 
Technology Co., Ltd. (財付通支付科技有限公司)), an online payment platform company founded by 
Tencent, from August 2006 to December 2011, during which he was employed by two Tencent group 
companies respectively. He has been assigned the role of general manager of the online payment 
department in Tencent Digital (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (騰訊數碼(天津)有限公司) from January 2008 to 
December 2011 and role of general manager in Tencent Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (騰訊科技(深
圳)有限公司), being responsible for supervising and managing the online payment of Tencent group 
companies, from May 2001 to December 2007. Mr. Liu was an engineer of Huawei Technologies Co., 
Ltd. (華為技術有限公司), a communication technology company, from June 2000 to April 2001.

Mr. Liu graduated from Changsha University of Science & Technology (長沙理工大學), formerly 
known as Changsha Communications College (長沙交通學院), with a bachelor’s degree in computer 
application, in June 1999.

Mr. Liu was awarded Shenzhen Municipal Government local leading talents (深圳市政府地方級領軍人
才) in 2009, an award which recognizes the contribution of talents from different industries.

Mr. Yao Zhijian (姚志堅), aged 44, was appointed as a Director on January 3, 2019 and was 
redesignated as an executive Director on November 4, 2019. He was appointed as chief financial 
officer of our Company on October 24, 2011 and is responsible for overseeing the financial and 
accounting affairs of our Group, capital and financial management and assisting the chief executive 
officer in the organizational structure of our Group. Mr. Yao has been the chief financial officer and 
senior vice president of Shenzhen Yeahka since he joined our Group in October 2011 and the general 
manager of the finance department of Leshua Technology since October 2013, where he was 
responsible for capital and financial management. He has also been a director of Yeahka HK since 
December 2018. He is a member of the ESG Committee.
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Mr. Luo Xiaohui (羅小輝), aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director on August 27, 2020 with 
effect from August 28, 2020. He joined our Group in October 2018 and has served as a senior vice 
president of the Company, the head of Information Security Supervision Group (資訊安全領導小組組
長) and the chief architect (首席架構師) of our Company and Shenzhen Yeahka since December 2018. 
He is responsible for overseeing our Group’s technical architecture, planning and management of 
technology innovation, and managing the architecture committee and AI laboratory.

Mr. Luo has over 18 years of experience in the information technology sector. Prior to joining our 
Group, Mr. Luo was a vice president of the technology department of Shenzhen Kuiyuan Technology 
Co., Ltd (深圳市葵園科技有限公司), a company engaged in software and information technology 
services, from October 2015 to August 2018. From July 2004 to August 2014, he served various 
positions and was promoted to deputy director of development center of Tencent Technology 
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (騰訊科技(深圳)有限公司), an internet-based technology and cultural enterprise 
headquartered in Shenzhen, China.

Mr. Luo graduated from Sichuan University (四川大學) with a bachelor’s degree in electronic 
information engineering in July 2004.

Ms. Liang Shengtian (梁勝甜), aged 44, joined the Group in late 2021 and is the deputy general 
manager of the Group’s fintech business. Ms. Liang has over 20 years of experience in the industry. 
In addition to her extensive practical experience, Ms. Liang has also demonstrated outstanding 
professional ability and insight in risk management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liang 
successively worked for China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd (廣發銀行股份有限公司) and Shenzhen Qianhai 
Xinxin Digital Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳前海新心數字科技有限公司), with her last position being the 
general manager of the risk management department. Ms. Liang obtained her bachelor’s degree in 
economics from the South China University of Technology (華南理工大學) in the PRC in July 2003. 
She obtained her postgraduate diploma in digital strategy and business transformation from the 
University of Hong Kong in September 2017.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson (譚秉忠), aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive 
Director on December 6, 2019. He is responsible for providing independent advice and judgment to 
our Board. Mr. Tam is a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee.
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Mr. Tam has been an independent director of Momo Inc. (ticker symbol: MOMO), the shares of which 
are listed on NASDAQ, since December 2014 and a director of Podinn Hotel Zhejiang Co., Ltd (布
丁酒店浙江股份有限公司), a hotel management company listed on National Equities Exchange and 
Quotations (NEEQ: 839121), since September 2019. He has also been an independent non-executive 
director of Longhui International Holdings Limited (龍輝國際控股有限公司) (stock code: 1007. HK), 
a China-based company principally engaged in catering business, since March 1, 2019. Mr. Tam is 
the founder and chief executive officer of Venturous Group, China’s first Citytech™ Group with a 
mission to make cities smarter, since April 2019. He was a partner of Fidelity Growth Partners Asia 
(formerly known as Fidelity Asia Ventures), a venture capital firm, from February 2002 to February 
2012. Mr. Tam obtained a master’s degree in science from University of Oxford in July 1986 and a 
bachelor’s degree in science (engineering) in civil engineering from Imperial College of Science and 
Technology of the University of London in August 1984.

Mr. Tam is a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales since 
September 1989.

Mr. Yao Wei (姚衛), aged 47, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on December 
6, 2019. He is responsible for providing independent advice and judgment to our Board. Mr. Yao 
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee, and a member of the 
Nomination Committee and ESG Committee. Mr. Yao has over 18 years of management experience 
in the technology industry. Mr. Yao has been appointed as the legal representative of Guangzhou 
Aiwei Technology Development Co., Ltd. (廣州艾威科技發展有限公司), a research and development 
company, since March 2020. He has also been one of the partners and subsequently served as the 
deputy general manager of Evertech Technology Limited (廣州艾威儀器科技有限公司), a solution 
provider of precision equipment and software based in South China region, since February 2013.

From April 2010 to February 2013, Mr. Yao was the South China Regional Manager of GE (China) Co., 
Ltd. Analysis Instrument (通用電氣(中國)有限公司). He has also served as the South China Regional 
Manager of Varian Technology China Limited Guangzhou representative office (美國瓦里安技術中國有
限公司廣州代表處) from July 2006 to April 2010. Mr. Yao was the sales manager (South China region) 
of Southeast Chemical Instrument Ltd (東南化學儀器有限公司), an analytical instrument supplier, 
from September 2002 to July 2006.

Mr. Yao graduated from Nanjing University (南京大學) with a bachelor’s degree in science 
(chemistry) in July 1999. He further obtained a master’s degree in science (organic chemistry) from 
Sun Yat-Sen University (中山大學) in July 2002.
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Mr. Ouyang Rihui (歐陽日輝), aged 51, vice dean, research fellow and doctoral mentor of China 
Center for Internet Economy Research at Central University of Finance and Economics (“CUFE”), 
has over a decade of research and corporate experience in digital economy, digital finance, data 
elements and digital commerce, and has been instrumental in initiating strategic digital upgrade 
and advising on innovation for consumer finance businesses for institutions such as Qishang 
Bank and Guangxi Rural Commercial United Bank. Mr. Ouyang also serves as the vice chairman 
of the Chinese Association of Market Development, director of the Internet Economy and Finance 
Research Center at the National Engineering Laboratory for E-commerce Technologies of Tsinghua 
University, and deputy director of the Capital Research Base for Internet Economy Development. 
Previously, he served as the vice dean of the China Development and Reform Research Institute 
at CUFE from 2006 to 2013. Mr. Ouyang obtained a Ph.D. in National Economics from the Chinese 
Academy of Social Sciences in 2005. He is also a member of the Audit Committee.

Senior Management

Mr. Liu Yingqi (劉穎麒), aged 48, is our chief executive officer. See the paragraph headed “Executive 
Directors” for his biography.

Mr. Yao Zhijian (姚志堅), aged 44, is our chief financial officer. See the paragraph headed “Executive 
Directors” for his biography.

Mr. Luo Xiaohui (羅小輝), aged 42, is our chief architect (首席架構師). See the paragraph headed 
“Executive Directors” for his biography.

Mr. Wu Gang (吳剛), aged 43, was appointed as our deputy general manager and general manager 
of policy development department in April 2016 and is primarily responsible for overseeing the 
management of the policy development department and general corporate governance and 
compliance matters.

Mr. Wu joined our Group as vice president of Leshua Technology in April 2016 and was promoted 
to general manager in April 2018. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wu worked in Tencent Technology 
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (騰訊科技(北京)有限公司) for 11 years. He first served in the bank strategy group 
and business development group in Tencent Technology Co., Ltd. (騰訊科技有限公司), from August 
2006 to June 2007. From June 2007 to March 2016, he served in financial cooperation centre, Beijing 
cooperation center, policy finance group and Beijing regulatory group, and was then promoted and 
held the senior consultant position for payment platform and financial application from April 2016 
to November 2018 in Tencent Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (騰訊科技(北京)有限公司).
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Change in Directors’ Biographical Details under Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Mr. Akio Tanaka (田中章雄) and Mr. Yang Tao (楊濤) have 
resigned from their respective positions as non-executive Director and independent non-executive 
Director with effect from December 11, 2024 to focus on other work commitments. Mr. Yang has 
also ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee. Both Mr. Tanaka and Mr. Yang have confirmed 
that they have no disagreement with the Board and that there is no other matter relating to their 
resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders or the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, Ms. Liang Shengtian has been appointed as an executive 
Director with effect from June 5, 2024 and Mr. Ouyang Rihui has been appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from December 11, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Directors’ biographical details which is required 
to be disclosed pursuant to rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules for the year ended 
December 31, 2024.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, for the year ended December 31, 2024.

General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on September 8, 2011 as an exempted 
company with limited liability under the Companies Act. The Shares were listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange on June 1, 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally engaged in providing 
payment services and business services to merchants and consumers in the PRC. Details of the 
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Business Review

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 
is set out in the chapter headed “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 6 to 8 and “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 9 to 32 of this annual report.

Key Relationships

Relationship with Suppliers and Business Partners

Our suppliers and business partners include (i) payment terminal manufacturers, which supply us 
with payment terminals and accessories, (ii) UnionPay and NetsUnion, which primarily provide 
us with clearing and switch services and access to payment gateways, as well as (iii) financial 
institutions which primarily provide us with access to their payment gateways and collaborate 
with us to provide fintech services. Our largest supplier accounted for 14.2% and our five largest 
suppliers together accounted for 47.6% of our total cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 
2024.

As of the date of this annual report, none of our Directors, their associates or any of our 
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of 
issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares)) had any interest in any of our five 
largest suppliers.
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Relationship with Customers

Leveraging our technology platform, we connect merchants and consumers in a diverse set of 
industries including retail, wholesale, and food and beverage industry. We consider both merchants 
and consumers essential components of our customer base. Typically, customers for our payment 
services comprise merchants; customers for our merchant solutions comprise merchants, consumers, 
financial institutions and merchant service providers. We primarily serve small and medium 
merchants from a wide range of industries across China. Our five largest customers together 
accounted for 2.5% of our total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2024.

As of the date of this annual report, none of our Directors, their associates or any of our 
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the number of issued 
Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares)) had any interest in any of our five largest 
customers.

Relationship with Employees

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. We 
primarily recruit our employees through campus recruitment, recruitment agencies, and online 
channels. As part of our recruiting and retention strategy, we offer employees competitive salaries, 
performance-based bonuses and certain other incentives. We have adopted a robust training 
program, pursuant to which employees regularly receive trainings on areas including technology, 
regulation and management from internal or external speakers. We offer ongoing in-house training 
for different levels of employees, tailored to their roles and skill levels. We believe our training 
culture has contributed to our ability to recruit and retain qualified employees. We have established 
a dual-track career path that separately assesses managerial and technical talents, enhancing 
opportunities for personal development and career advancement. We engage external human 
resources business partners to enhance communication with, and provide counselling to new 
recruits and key employees. As required under PRC regulations, we participate in various employee 
social security plans that are organized by applicable local municipal and provincial governments, 
including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury and unemployment benefit plans. We 
also purchase commercial health and accidental insurance for our employees. We believe that we 
maintain a good working relationship with our employees and we did not experience any labor 
strikes or other material labor disputes that affected our operations for the year ended December 
31, 2024.
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We have also adopted the RSU Scheme and the Share Option Scheme to incentivize qualified 
directors, senior management and employees to attract, motivate and retain skilled and 
experienced personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of our Group, details of 
which are set out in the section headed “Restricted Share Unit Scheme and Share Option Scheme” 
in this directors’ report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to fulfilling social responsibility, promoting employee benefits and 
development, protecting the environment and giving back to community and achieving sustainable 
growth. Details of such will be set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be 
published on the same date as this annual report.

Licences, Regulatory Approvals and Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no material breaches or violations of relevant 
laws and regulations in China, where the Group has business entities and operations, and the Group 
obtained all requisite licenses, approvals and permits from relevant authorities that are material to 
the Group’s operations in China. Details of our compliance with relevant laws and regulations will be 
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operation of the Group, and principal risks 
and uncertainties that the Group faces and key mitigations that the Group adopts are summarized 
as follows:

Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties Description Key Mitigations

Uncertainty to developing 
products and services which 
c a n  a d d r e s s  t h e  r a p i d l y 
evo lv ing market for one-
stop payment services and 
technology-enabled business 
services

We expect that new products, 
se rv ices and techno log ies 
applicable to the industries in 
which we operate will continue 
to emerge and evolve. Rapid 
and significant technological 
changes continue to shape 
such i ndus t r i es ,  i nc lud ing 
developments in e-commerce, 
m o b i l e  c o m m e r c e ,  a n d 
proximity payment devices. 
O t h e r  p o t e n t i a l  c h a n g e s , 
such as developments in big 
data analytics and artificial 
intelligence, are on the horizon 
as well. Similarly, there is rapid 
innovation in the products 
and se rv i ces  to  fac i l i ta te 
business operations, including 
technology-enabled business 
services. These new products, 
se rv ices and techno log ies 
may be superior to, impair, or 
render obsolete the products 
and serv ices we cur rent ly 
offer, or the technologies we 
currently use to provide them.

W e  c o n t i n u e  t o  i n v e s t  i n 
r e s e a r c h  a n d d e v e l o p m e n t 
in areas inc luding art i f ic ia l 
i n t e l l i g e n c e  a n d  b i g  d a t a 
analytics in order to ensure 
the compet i t iveness of our 
products and services and to 
develop innovative and high-
tech products. Leveraging our 
nationwide merchant network, 
we are able to gain insights into 
merchants’ needs in a timely 
and efficient manner enabling 
our research and development 
team to develop and optimize 
products and services which 
cater for the needs of merchants 
and adapt to market changes.
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Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties Description Key Mitigations

Risks related to significant 
disruption in service on our 
platform, malfunctions of our 
technology systems, errors and 
quality issues in our software, 
hardware, and systems, or 
human errors in operating 
these systems

Our business is dependent on 
the ability of our information 
technology systems to stably 
and timely process a large 
amount of information and 
transactions. Our operations 
depend on the ability of the 
host of our system hardware 
to protect its and our systems 
i n  i t s  f a c i l i t i e s  a g a i n s t 
damage or interruption from 
natural disasters, power or 
telecommunications failures, air 
quality, temperature, humidity 
a n d  o t h e r  e n v i r o n m e n t a l 
concerns, computer viruses or 
criminal acts. Our software, 
hardware, and systems may 
contain undetected errors , 
that could have a material 
adverse impact on our business, 
particularly where such errors 
are not timely detected and 
remedied. Any errors, defects, 
disruptions in services, or other 
performance problems with 
our services could hurt our 
reputation and damage our 
customers’ businesses.

We have set up security systems 
and measures including firewall, 
intrusion prevention system, 
bastion host and vulnerability 
scanning which monitor and 
control incoming and outgoing 
traffic, identify weaknesses in our 
information technology systems 
and withstand attacks to our 
information technology systems. 
We also regularly conduct security 
scanning, penetration tests and 
bug fixing on our systems to 
prevent information security 
threats.

For the operations of our core 
servers and databases, we adopt 
“double – review” (雙人覆核 ) 
approach in order to prevent 
mal ic ious operat ions by an 
employee. Our employees are 
only authorized to access servers 
and systems to the extent which 
is necessary for performing their 
job duties.
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Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties Description Key Mitigations

Risks related to reliance on 
business partners

Our payment and business 
services rely on technologies, 
services and infrastructure 
offered by third parties that 
we do not control, such as 
payment networks, commercial 
b a n k s ,  t r u s t  c o m p a n i e s , 
i n s u r a n c e  c o m p a n i e s  a n d 
telecommunication operators. 
We rely on them for a variety of 
services, including transmitting 
transaction data, processing 
chargebacks and re funds , 
f a c i l i t a t i n g  s a m e - d a y  o r 
settlement service and providing 
value-added services. Our IT 
systems and various interfaces 
also utilize or are connected to 
the platforms, infrastructures 
and technologies of these third 
parties. If they fail to provide 
services adequately, including 
as a result of system errors, 
human errors or events beyond 
their control, or they refuse to 
provide these services on terms 
acceptable to us or at all, and 
we are not able to find suitable 
alternatives, our business may 
be materially and adversely 
affected.

We receive real- t ime a lerts 
for any malfunctions in and 
interruptions to our operations 
and have developed contingency 
plans for situations in which 
malfunctions in or interruptions 
to our operations are caused 
by failure in the technologies, 
services or infrastructure provided 
by our business partners. For 
instance ,  w e  m a i n t a i n  t w o 
server rooms with one being 
t h e  b a c k u p .  A s  t h e  s e r v e r 
rooms adopt  th ree rout ing 
connections provided by two 
d i f fe rent  operators ,  i n  the 
event that any of the routing 
connect ions i s  in te r rupted , 
the servers can sti l l connect 
properly without compromising 
our services. In addition, for 
servers  we rent  f rom th i rd 
parties, as we have a master 
database server together with 
three associated counterparts, 
where the master database 
server experiences malfunctions 
or interruptions, one of the 
three associated counterparts 
will take over automatically as 
the master database server, 
thereby effectively minimizing 
the negative impact arising from 
failure of the master database 
server on our business.

We maintain close contact with 
our business partners and will 
communicate with them in a 
t imely manner in s i tuat ions 
w h e r e  m a l f u n c t i o n s  i n  o r 
interruptions to our operations 
are caused by them so as to 
devise a risk response plan to 
minimize disruption.
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Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties Description Key Mitigations

Risks relating to fraudulent 
and fictitious transactions, 
and misconducts committed 
by our employees, customers, 
d istr ibut ion channels and 
other third parties

Offering payment services to a 
large number of customers, we 
may be subject to liability for 
fraudulent payment transactions 
by customers, in particular, 
fraudulent chargeback and use 
of counterfeit cards. Fraud or 
other misconducts committed 
by our employees, customers, 
distribution channels or other 
third parties may be difficult 
to detect or prevent and could 
subject us to financial losses 
and regulatory sanctions as 
well as seriously damage our 
reputation. Fraudulent activities 
have become increas ing ly 
s o p h i s t i c a t e d .  F a i l u r e  t o 
effectively identify and address 
these risks could lead to losses, 
regulatory penalties or even 
regulatory restrictions to our 
business operations, which will 
adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, and results 
of operations.

We maintain an anti-fraud system 
which automatically monitors 
merchants through mult ip le 
dimensions to evaluate fraud risks 
and minimize fraud exposure.

We also adopt a professional 
anti-money laundering system 
which continuously monitors 
and identifies merchants with 
respect to customer ratings, 
suspicious transactions, large-
sum transactions, and the like.

We prov ide our  employees 
with regular trainings on anti-
money laundering, fraudulent 
and f i c t i t ious  t ransact ions 
and misconduct in order to 
enhance their understanding and 
awareness on these issues.
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Subsequent Events

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated January 6, 2025 and January 13, 
2025 (the “Placing Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms used in this 
section shall have the same meanings as those set out in the Placing Announcements. On January 
6, 2025, the Company, the Top-up Vendor and the Placing Agent entered into the Placing and 
Subscription Agreement, pursuant to which, (i) the Top-up Vendor agreed to sell, and the Placing 
Agent agreed, as agent of the Top-up Vendor, to procure, on a best effort basis to purchase up 
to 19,150,000 Placing Shares held by the Top-up Vendor at a price of HK$10.10 per Placing Share; 
and (ii) the Top-up Vendor conditionally agreed to subscribe as principal for, and the Company 
conditionally agreed to issue, 19,150,000 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price, which is 
equivalent to the Placing Price. The Vendor Placing and the Subscription were completed on January 
9, 2025 and January 13, 2025 respectively. A total of 19,150,000 Subscription Shares (equal to the 
number of the Placing Shares successfully placed under the Vendor Placing) were subscribed by 
the Top-up Vendor at the Subscription Price of HK$10.10 per Subscription Share. The Subscription 
Shares represent approximately 4.14% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged 
by the Subscription. The net proceeds from the Subscription are estimated to be approximately 
HK$189.2 million, net of all applicable costs and expenses including commissions, professional fees 
and out-of-pocket expenses.

Save as disclosed above, there were no material events subsequent to December 31, 2024 which 
could have a material impact on our operating and financial performance as of the date of this 
annual report.

Financial Statements

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the state of the Group’s 
financial position as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements from pages 
111 to 249 of this annual report.

Final Dividend

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended December 31, 
2024 (2023: Nil).
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Reserves

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained earnings and any other reserves 
provided that immediately following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a 
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had distr ibutable reserves of approximately 
RMB1,221,531,000 (2023: RMB1,380,485,000).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year ended 
December 31, 2024 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual 
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended December 31, 
2024 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Bank Borrowings and other Loans

Details of bank borrowings and other loans of the Group as at December 31, 2024 are set out in 
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, we pledged account receivables of about RMB15.0 million to one bank.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five 
financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the 
audited consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the Reporting Period, the RSU Trustees have utilized an aggregate of approximately HKD52.1 
million (including commissions and transaction costs) to purchase 4,224,400 Shares from the open 
market at a consideration ranging from HKD9.01 to HKD14.76 per Share. The Shares purchased 
during such period represent 0.95% of the issued Shares as of December 31, 2024. The purchased 
Shares will be used as share awards to incentivize key personnel of our Group and/or its related 
entities.
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During the Reporting Period, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Convertible 
Bonds, the Company repurchased the Convertible Bonds with a principal amount of US$35 million 
representing 50.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Bonds originally issued. 
The aggregate consideration for the repurchases of the Convertible Bonds was approximately 
US$34.5 million. Details of the repurchases are set out below.

In April 2024, the Company repurchased the Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount 
of US$15 million with the right to convert into 5,046,806 Shares, representing approximately 21.4% 
of the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Bonds originally issued. For details, please 
refer to the Company’s announcement dated April 30, 2024.

In May 2024, the Company repurchased the Convertible Bonds with an aggregate principal amount 
of US$20 million with the right to convert into 6,729,073 Shares, representing approximately 28.6% 
of the aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Bonds originally issued. For details, please 
refer to the Company’s announcement dated June 3, 2024.

On July 13, 2024, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Convertible Bonds, the bondholders 
holding an aggregate principal amount of US$35 million representing 50.0% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the Convertible Bonds originally issued, exercised their option to require 
the Company to redeem all Convertible Bonds held by them at the principal amount, together 
with interest accrued but unpaid up to but excluding such date (the “Redemption”). On July 15, 
2024, the Company completed such Redemption in full. For details, please refer to the Company’s 
announcements dated June 14, 2024 and July 15, 2024. As of the date of this annual report, there 
are no outstanding Convertible Bonds in issue. The Convertible Bonds were delisted from the Stock 
Exchange on July 23, 2024.

Save as disclosed above and in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements, neither the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of 
the Company (including any sale of treasury shares) for the year ended December 31, 2024. As at 
December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Restricted Share Unit Scheme and Share Option Scheme

Restricted Share Unit Scheme

On August 1, 2019, the RSU Scheme was approved and adopted by the Board (and amended 
by the Board in December 2022 and December 2024). As part of the Reorganization and for the 
convenience of the governance of the Company, the Company adopted the RSU Scheme to replace 
the Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Scheme such that all the options granted under the Pre-IPO Stock 
Incentive Scheme are converted to RSUs. The Pre-IPO Stock Incentive Scheme has been terminated. 
Further details of the Reorganization and the conversion of share options to RSUs are set out in the 
Prospectus. The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivize Directors (excluding independent non-
executive Directors), senior management of our Group and holding companies, fellow subsidiaries 
or associated companies of the Company, and other selected personnel for their contribution to 
the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future 
development and expansion of the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity 
interests in the Company.
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The RSU Scheme was adopted before the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (effective on 
January 1, 2023) came into effect. Starting from June 5, 2024, being the date of the second annual 
general meeting after January 1, 2023, the Company would not grant any new Shares under the 
RSU Scheme and the RSU Scheme shall be entirely funded by existing Shares received from any 
Shareholder or purchased (either on-market or off-market) by the trustee of the RSU Scheme in 
accordance with the rules of the RSU Scheme.

A RSU gives the RSU Participant a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain either Shares or 
an equivalent value in cash with reference to the market value of the Shares on or about the date of 
exercise of the RSUs, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable, as determined by the 
Board in its absolute discretion. Each RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so 
specified by the Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash income, dividends or distributions 
and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares.

The Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme at its discretion. 
The RSU Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten (10) years, commencing from 
the date of the first grant of the RSUs, being August 1, 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier in 
accordance with its terms), after which no further RSUs shall be granted or accepted, but the 
provisions of the RSU Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in order to give effect to the 
vesting of RSUs granted and accepted prior to the expiration of the period of the RSU Scheme. 
As of December 31, 2024, the remaining life of the RSU Scheme is approximately 4 years and five 
months. The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the RSU Scheme in aggregate 
(excluding RSUs that have lapsed or been cancelled in accordance with the RSU Scheme) shall be 
such number of Shares held or to be held by the trustee for the purpose of the RSU Scheme from 
time to time. As of January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, the total number of Shares held by the 
trustee for the purpose of RSU Scheme were 76,396,682 and 77,598,548, respectively, representing 
17.1% and 17.5% of the shares of the Company in issue as of the relevant dates, respectively. The 
trustee holding unvested shares of the RSU Scheme, whether directly or indirectly, shall abstain 
from voting on matters that require shareholders’ approval under the Listing Rules, unless otherwise 
required by law to vote in accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction and such a direction 
is given. The Company may direct and procure the trustee to receive existing shares from any 
Shareholder or purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the RSUs upon 
exercise. The Company shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the trustee by whatever 
means as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable the trustee to satisfy 
its obligations in connection with the administration of the RSU Scheme. There is no maximum 
entitlement for each RSU Eligible Person under the rules of the RSU Scheme.
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An Eligible Person selected by the Board to be granted RSUs under the RSU Scheme may accept 
the RSUs in such manner (including any amount payable on acceptance of the RSUs as determined 
by the Board in its absolute discretion and the period within which payments may be made, if any) 
set out in the grant letter. The Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the time 
schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions and time schedule shall be stated 
in the grant letter. RSUs held by a RSU Participant that are vested as evidenced by the vesting 
notice may be exercised (in whole or in part) by the RSU Participant serving an exercise notice in 
writing on the RSU Trustees and copied to the Company. Any exercise of RSUs must be in respect 
of a board lot of 400 Shares each or an integral multiple thereof (except where the number of 
RSUs which remains unexercised is less than one board lot). Upon receipt of an exercise notice, 
the Board shall direct and procure the RSU Trustees to, within a reasonable time, transfer the 
Shares underlying the RSUs exercised (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends or 
distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those 
Shares) to the RSU Participant which the Company has allotted and issued to the RSU Trustees as 
fully paid up Shares or which the RSU Trustees have either acquired by purchasing existing Shares 
or by receiving existing Shares from any Shareholder, subject to the RSU Participant paying the 
exercise price (as determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, if any) and all tax, stamp duty, 
levies and charges applicable to such transfer to the RSU Trustees or as the RSU Trustees directs.

A RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares underlying the RSUs unless 
and until such Shares are actually transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant 
may not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise 
and, unless otherwise specified by the Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter to 
the RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or 
distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares 
underlying the RSUs.

The Company has appointed TMF Trust (HK) Limited and Futu Trustee Limited as the RSU Trustees 
to assist with the administration and vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme. As 
of December 31, 2024, RSUs in respect of 7,745,914 underlying Shares were granted under the 
RSU Scheme for the benefit of Eligible Persons pursuant to the RSU Scheme, and RSUs in respect 
of an aggregate of 10,680,130 underlying Shares, representing approximately 2.4% of the total 
number of issued Shares as of the same date, were granted but have not been vested, or granted 
but have been lapsed or cancelled, and remain to be held by the RSU Trustees or their nominees. 
The grantees of the RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme as referred to in the table below are not 
required to pay for the grant of any RSU under the RSU Scheme.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT50

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Th

e 
ta

bl
e 

be
lo

w
 s

et
s 

ou
t 

th
e 

m
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 t
he

 R
SU

s 
du

ri
ng

 t
he

 y
ea

r 
fr

om
 J

an
ua

ry
 1

, 2
02

4 
to

 D
ec

em
be

r 
31

, 2
02

4 
gr

an
te

d 
un

de
r 

th
e 

R
SU

 S
ch

em
e:

Nu
mb

er
 of

 Sh
ar

es
 

Na
me

 of
 R

SU
 gr

an
tee

Da
te 

of 
gr

an
t

Gr
an

ted
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar
(1)

Clo
sin

g p
ric

e 
im

me
dia

tel
y 

be
for

e t
he

 
da

te 
of 

gr
an

t 
du

rin
g t

he
 

ye
ar

 (H
KD

)

Fa
ir 

va
lue

 
of 

RS
Us

 
at

 th
e d

at
e 

of 
gr

an
t 

du
rin

g t
he

 
ye

ar
 (H

KD
)

Ve
sti

ng
 pe

rio
d

As
 at

 
Ja

nu
ar

y 1
, 

20
24

Ve
ste

d 
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar

Ca
nc

ell
ed

 
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar

La
ps

ed
 

du
rin

g 
the

 ye
ar

As
 at

 
De

ce
mb

er
 

31
, 2

02
4

Ex
er

cis
e 

pr
ice

 of
 

RS
Us

 ve
ste

d 
or

 ca
nc

ell
ed

 
du

rin
g t

he
 

ye
ar

 (H
KD

)

Clo
sin

g 
pr

ice
 

im
me

dia
tel

y 
be

for
e t

he
 

ve
sti

ng
 

da
te 

(H
KD

)
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Di
re

cto
r o

f t
he

 C
om

pa
ny

Lu
o X

iao
hu

i
Ja

nu
ary

 21
, 2

02
2

–
–

–
Ja

nu
ary

 24
, 2

02
3 –

60
,00

0
20

,00
0

–
–

40
,00

0
0.0

1
13.

58

 J
an

ua
ry 

24
, 2

02
6

Ma
rch

 28
, 2

02
3

–
–

–
Ma

rch
 28

, 2
02

4 –
 

 M
arc

h 2
8, 

20
27

(3)

10
0,0

00
25

,00
0

–
–

75
,00

0
0.0

1
12.

18

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

24
20

0,0
00

10
.38

10.
29

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

25
 – 

 J
un

e 5
, 2

02
8(3)

–
–

–
–

20
0,0

00
0.0

1
–

Ya
o Z

hij
ian

Ja
nu

ary
 21

, 2
02

2
–

– 
–

Ja
nu

ary
 24

, 2
02

3 –
 

90
,00

0
30

,00
0

–
–

60
,00

0
0.0

1
13.

58

 J
an

ua
ry 

24
, 2

02
6

Ma
rch

 28
, 2

02
3

–
–

–
Ma

rch
 28

, 2
02

4 –
 

 M
arc

h 2
8, 

20
27

(3)

20
0,0

00
50

,00
0

–
–

15
0,0

00
0.0

1
12.

18

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

24
20

0,0
00

10
.38

10
.29

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

25
 – 

 J
un

e 5
, 2

02
8(3)

–
–

–
–

20
0,0

00
0.0

1
–

Lia
ng

 Sh
en

gti
an

(4)
Ma

rch
 28

, 2
02

3
–

–
–

Ma
rch

 28
, 2

02
4 –

 M
arc

h 2
8, 

20
27

(3)

38
,00

0
9,5

00
–

–
28

,50
0

0.0
1

12.
18

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

24
95

,00
0

10
.38

10
.29

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

25
 –

 J
un

e 5
, 2

02
8(3)

–
–

–
–

95
,00

0
0.0

1
–

Ot
he

r e
mp

loy
ee

 of
 th

e G
ro

up

6 o
the

r e
mp

loy
ee

s o
f t

he
 G

rou
p

Ja
nu

ary
 7,

 20
21

–
–

–
Ju

ly 
7, 

20
22

 – 
 J

uly
 7,

 20
25

70
,00

0
–

–
–

70
,00

0
16.

64
–



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 51

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Nu

mb
er

 of
 Sh

ar
es

 

Na
me

 of
 R

SU
 gr

an
tee

Da
te 

of 
gr

an
t

Gr
an

ted
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar
(1)

Clo
sin

g p
ric

e 
im

me
dia

tel
y 

be
for

e t
he

 
da

te 
of 

gr
an

t 
du

rin
g t

he
 

ye
ar

 (H
KD

)

Fa
ir 

va
lue

 
of 

RS
Us

 
at

 th
e d

at
e 

of 
gr

an
t 

du
rin

g t
he

 
ye

ar
 (H

KD
)

Ve
sti

ng
 pe

rio
d

As
 at

 
Ja

nu
ar

y 1
, 

20
24

Ve
ste

d 
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar

Ca
nc

ell
ed

 
du

rin
g 

the
 ye

ar

La
ps

ed
 

du
rin

g 
the

 ye
ar

As
 at

 
De

ce
mb

er
 

31
, 2

02
4

Ex
er

cis
e 

pr
ice

 of
 

RS
Us

 ve
ste

d 
or

 ca
nc

ell
ed

 
du

rin
g t

he
 

ye
ar

 (H
KD

)

Clo
sin

g 
pr

ice
 

im
me

dia
tel

y 
be

for
e t

he
 

ve
sti

ng
 

da
te 

(H
KD

)
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

63
 ot

he
r e

mp
loy

ee
s o

f t
he

 G
rou

p 
Ja

nu
ary

 21
, 2

02
2

–
–

–
Ja

nu
ary

 24
, 2

02
3 –

 J
an

ua
ry 

24
, 2

02
6

612
,84

0
20

4,2
80

–
3,4

00
40

5,1
60

0.0
1

13.
68

161
 ot

he
r e

mp
loy

ee
s o

f t
he

 G
rou

p
Ma

rch
 28

, 2
02

3
–

–
– 

Ma
y 8

, 2
02

3 –
 M

arc
h 2

8, 
20

27
(3)

6,2
83

,93
3

1,9
33,

145
–

46
,50

0
4,3

04
,28

8
0.0

1
12.

18

24
1 o

the
r e

mp
loy

ee
s 

 o
f t

he
 G

rou
p

Ju
ne

 5,
 20

24
7,2

50
,91

4
10

.38
10.

29
Ju

ne
 5,

 20
24

 – 
 J

un
e 5

, 2
02

8(3)

–
1,7

93,
49

2
–

40
5,2

40
5,0

52
,18

2
0.0

1
–

 

To
ta

l
7,7

45
,91

4
7,4

54
,77

3
4,0

65
,41

7
–

45
5,1

40
10

,68
0,1

30
 

(1
) 

Fu
rt

he
r 

de
ta

ils
 o

f 
th

e 
gr

an
ts

 w
er

e 
se

t 
ou

t 
in

 t
he

 C
om

pa
ny

’ s
 a

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t 

da
te

d 
Ju

ne
 5

, 
20

24
. 

Th
e 

R
SU

 T
ru

st
ee

s 
w

ill
 t

ra
ns

fe
r 

th
e 

ex
is

ti
ng

 S
ha

re
s 

pu
rc

ha
se

d 
by

 t
he

 R
SU

 T
ru

st
ee

s 
di

re
ct

ly
 t

o 
th

e 
R

SU
 g

ra
nt

ee
s 

an
d 

no
 n

ew
 S

ha
re

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
is

su
ed

 a
s 

a 
re

su
lt 

of
 t

he
 g

ra
nt

 o
f 

R
SU

s.

(2
) 

Th
e 

ex
er

ci
se

 p
er

io
d 

of
 t

he
 R

SU
s 

is
 1

5 
ye

ar
s 

fr
om

 t
he

ir
 r

es
pe

ct
iv

e 
da

te
s 

of
 g

ra
nt

.

(3
) 

Pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
s 

of
 t

he
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 t

ar
ge

ts
: u

po
n 

ea
ch

 v
es

ti
ng

 d
at

e,
 t

he
 p

or
ti

on
 o

f 
th

e 
R

SU
s 

th
at

 v
es

ts
 s

ha
ll 

de
pe

nd
 o

n 
th

e 
R

SU
 g

ra
nt

ee
 m

ee
ti

ng
 a

 s
pe

ci
fi

ed
 

th
re

sh
ol

d 
in

 t
he

ir
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 e

va
lu

at
io

ns
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
on

e-
ye

ar
 p

er
io

d 
pr

io
r 

to
 e

ac
h 

ve
st

in
g 

da
te

. W
it

h 
re

sp
ec

t 
to

 e
ac

h 
R

SU
 g

ra
nt

ee
, u

po
n 

ea
ch

 v
es

ti
ng

 
da

te
, t

he
 p

or
ti

on
 o

f 
th

e 
R

SU
s 

th
at

 v
es

ts
 s

ha
ll 

de
pe

nd
 o

n 
th

e 
R

SU
 g

ra
nt

ee
 m

ee
ti

ng
 a

 s
pe

ci
fi

ed
 t

hr
es

ho
ld

 in
 t

he
ir

 r
eg

ul
ar

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 e
va

lu
at

io
ns

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

on
e-

ye
ar

 p
er

io
d 

pr
io

r 
to

 e
ac

h 
ve

st
in

g 
da

te
. T

he
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 e

va
lu

at
io

ns
 a

re
 b

as
ed

 o
n 

a 
m

at
ri

x 
of

 i
nd

ic
at

or
s 

th
at

 v
ar

y 
ac

co
rd

in
g 

to
 t

he
 r

ol
es

 a
nd

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
of

 t
he

 R
SU

 g
ra

nt
ee

. T
he

 in
di

ca
to

rs
 in

cl
ud

e,
 b

ut
 a

re
 n

ot
 li

m
it

ed
 t

o,
 w

or
k 

qu
al

it
y,

 e
ff

ic
ie

nc
y,

 c
ol

la
bo

ra
ti

on
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
sk

ill
s.

(4
) 

M
s.

 L
ia

ng
 S

he
ng

ti
an

 w
as

 a
pp

oi
nt

ed
 a

s 
an

 e
xe

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
ec

to
r 

w
it

h 
ef

fe
ct

 f
ro

m
 J

un
e 

5,
 2

02
4.

(5
) 

O
n 

A
ug

us
t 

27
, 2

02
4,

 t
he

 C
om

pa
ny

 g
ra

nt
ed

 a
 b

on
us

 a
w

ar
d 

to
 c

er
ta

in
 e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
th

at
 e

nt
it

le
s 

th
em

 t
o 

re
ce

iv
e 

a 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 s
ha

re
s 

to
 b

e 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
B

oa
rd

, 
su

bj
ec

t 
to

 a
 2

7 
m

on
th

s 
ve

st
in

g 
pe

ri
od

 a
nd

 t
he

 f
ul

fi
lm

en
t 

of
 c

er
ta

in
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 t

ar
ge

t. 
N

on
e 

of
 t

he
 a

w
ar

d 
is

 v
es

te
d/

ca
nc

el
le

d/
la

ps
ed

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ye
ar

. F
or

 d
et

ai
ls

, p
le

as
e 

re
fe

r 
to

 n
ot

e 
35

(b
) 

to
 t

he
 c

on
so

lid
at

ed
 f

in
an

ci
al

 s
ta

te
m

en
ts

.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT52

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Details of movements in the RSUs and the fair value of the RSUs at the date of grant are also set 
out in note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements. The RSU Participants shall serve the 
exercise notice within three (3) months after receiving the vesting notice.

On June 5, 2024, the Company granted a total of 7,745,914 RSUs pursuant to the RSU Scheme 
to a total of 244 RSU grantees. The RSUs granted represent 7,745,914 underlying Shares and 
approximately 1.7% of the issued share capital of the Company as at December 31, 2024 Upon 
each vesting date, the portion of the RSUs that vests shall depend on the RSU grantee meeting 
a specified threshold in their performance evaluations during the one-year period prior to each 
vesting date. The trustee of the RSU Scheme will transfer the Shares directly to the grantees and 
no new Shares will be issued as a result of the grant of RSUs. For further details, please refer to the 
Company’s announcement dated June 5, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual 
report, no further RSUs have been or would be granted by the Company pursuant to the RSU 
Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, no RSUs were granted to other Directors, chief executive, substantial 
Shareholders, related entity participants or service providers of the Company, or their respective 
associates. None of the participant of the RSU Scheme was granted or to be granted in excess of 
the 1% individual limit.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme was adopted at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held 
on October 13, 2020. The Share Option Scheme was adopted before the new Chapter 17 of the 
Listing Rules coming into effect (effective from January 1, 2023). The Company will comply with the 
new Chapter 17 in accordance with the transitional arrangements for existing share schemes.

A summary of the share option scheme is as follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate talented employees 
to strive towards long term performance targets set by the Group and to provide them with an 
incentive to work better for the interest of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will link the value of 
the Company with the interests of the participants, enabling the participants and the Company to 
develop together and promote the Company’s corporate culture.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time within the 
period of ten years after October 13, 2020 to grant options to any participants as the Board may 
in its absolute discretion select. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option 
Scheme was approximately five years and nine and a half months. No offer shall be made and no 
option shall be granted to any participants in circumstances prohibited by the Listing Rules at a 
time when the participants would or might be prohibited from dealing in the Shares by the Listing 
Rules or by any applicable rules, regulations or law. In particular, no options may be granted during 
the period commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of: (i) the date of the Board 
meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules) 
for the approval of the Company’s results for any year, half-year, quarterly or other interim period; 
and (ii) the deadline for the Company to publish its interim or annual results announcement under 
the Listing Rules, and ending on the date of actual publication of such results announcement.
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The participants of the Share Option Scheme include any Director or employee or officers of any 
member of the Group, who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will 
contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share options to be 
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the 
Company shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on October 13, 2020 (the 
“Scheme Mandate Limit”), i.e. 42,620,507 Shares, unless Shareholders’ approval has been obtained. 
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and (as the case may be) 
such other share option schemes of the Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating 
the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time subject 
to prior Shareholders’ approval but in any event, the total number of Shares which may be issued 
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share 
option schemes of the Company under the limit as refreshed must not exceed 10% of the Shares in 
issue as at the date of approval of the renewal of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted 
and to be granted to each participant (including both exercised, cancelled and outstanding share 
options) under the Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the 
Company in any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares in issue, unless otherwise separately 
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his close associates (or his 
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer. Upon 
acceptance of the share options, a nominal consideration of HKD1.00 is payable for the grant of 
options and such payment shall not be refundable. Subject to such terms and conditions as the 
Board may determine, there is no minimum period for which a share option must be held before it 
can be exercised and no performance target need to be achieved by a grantee before the share 
options can be exercised.

Subject to the terms of grant of any option, an option may be exercised by the grantee of the 
option at any time during the option period and in accordance with the vesting schedule and other 
terms specified in the offer. No option may be vested more than ten years after the date of the 
offer made. Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the Board, the 
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on October 
13, 2020.

The exercise price shall be at a price determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and shall 
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets 
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares 
as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of offer.

Further details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in circular of the 
Company dated September 24, 2020.
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Note:

(1) Being the highest of (i) HKD44.20 per Share, the closing price of the Shares on the date of grant as stated in the 
daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange, (ii) HKD39.45 per Share, the average closing price of the 
Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the options were granted, and (iii) 
US$0.000025 per Share, the nominal value. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which 
the options were granted was HKD43.55.

(2) Being the highest of (i) HKD52.75 per Share, the closing price of the Shares on the date of grant as stated in the 
daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange, (ii) HKD58.60 per Share, the closing price of the Shares for 
the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the options were granted, and (iii) US$0.000025 
per Share, the nominal value. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the options 
were granted was HKD53.60.

(3) Being the highest of (i) HKD24.70 per Share, the closing price of the Shares on the date of grant as stated in the 
daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange; (ii) HKD25.56 per Share, the average closing price of the 
Shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date on which the options were granted; and (iii) the 
nominal value of US$0.000025 per Share. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which 
the options were granted was HKD25.10.

(4) Further details of the grants were set out in the Company’s announcements dated January 7, 2021, May 12, 2021 
and January 24, 2022.

(5) Ms. Liang Shengtian was appointed as an executive Director with effect from June 5, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, the number of Shares in respect of which options had been granted and 
but not yet exercised under the Share Option was 5,257,250, representing 1.2% of the Shares in issue 
as of that date. As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, the total number of Shares available 
for issue in respect of the options that can be further granted under the Share Option Scheme was 
37,323,257 and 37,363,257, respectively, representing 8.4% and 8.4% of the total number of Shares 
in issue as of the relevant dates, respectively. The total number of Shares available for issue under 
the Share Option Scheme was 42,620,507 Shares, representing 9.2% of the total number of issued 
Shares (excluding treasury Shares) as of the date of this annual report.

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, no further options 
have been or would be granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.

Details of movements in the share options are set out in note 35(a) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Save as disclosed above, no RSUs and/or options were granted to the Directors, chief executive, 
substantial Shareholders, related entity participants or service providers of the Company, or their 
respective associates. None of the participants of the RSU Scheme and/or the Share Option 
Scheme was granted or to be granted in excess of the 1% individual limit.

Disclosure under Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules

As all awards granted will be satisfied by existing Shares and no options were granted during the 
year ended December 31, 2024, no Shares may be issued in respect of options and awards granted 
under all schemes of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Directors

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this annual report 
were:

Name Position/Title
  

Liu Yingqi (劉穎麒) Executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman 
of the Board

Yao Zhijian (姚志堅) Executive Director and chief financial officer

Luo Xiaohui (羅小輝) Executive Director and chief architect

Liang Shengtian (梁勝甜)(1) Executive Director and deputy general manager

Akio Tanaka (田中章雄)(2) Non-executive Director

Tam Bing Chung Benson (譚秉忠) Independent non-executive Director 

Yao Wei (姚衛) Independent non-executive Director

Yang Tao (楊濤)(2) Independent non-executive Director

Ouyang Rihui (歐陽日輝)(1) Independent non-executive Director

Notes:

(1) Ms. Liang Shengtian was appointed as an executive Director with effect from June 5, 2024 as disclosed in the 
Company’s announcement dated June 5, 2024. In addition, Mr. Ouyang Rihui was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee with effect from December 11, 2024 as disclosed in 
the Company’s announcement dated December 11, 2024.

(2) Mr. Akio Tanaka and Mr. Yang Tao have resigned from their respective positions as non-executive Director and 
independent non-executive Director with effect from December 11, 2024 to focus on other work commitments.

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting of the 
Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple 
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director required to stand for re-election 
pursuant to Article 16.2 shall not be taken into account in determining the number of Directors and 
which Directors are to retire by rotation. Accordingly, Mr. Luo Xiaohui, Ms. Liang Shengtian, Mr. Yao 
Wei and Mr. Ouyang Rihui will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for 
re–election.

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company as at the date 
of this annual report are set out in the chapter headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this 
annual report.
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Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment

Apart from Mr. Luo Xiaohui who entered into a service contract with our Company with effect from 
August 28, 2023, and Ms. Liang Shengtian who entered into a service contract with our Company 
with effect from June 5, 2024, each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract 
with our Company with effect from April 30, 2023. Save for Mr. Ouyang Rihui to whom we issued 
letter of appointment with effect from December 11, 2024, we have issued letters of appointment 
to each of our independent non-executive Directors with effect from April 30, 2023. The service 
contracts with each of our executive Directors and the letters of appointment with each of our 
independent non-executive Directors are for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from 
the date of the respective service contracts or letters of appointment. The service contracts and the 
letters of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

The service contracts may be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the 
applicable Listing Rules. None of our Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service 
contract with members of our Group that is not determinable by our Group within one year without 
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Confirmation of Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors (being Mr. Tam Bing Chung 
Benson, Mr. Yao Wei and Mr. Ouyang Rihui), and the Company considers such Directors to be 
independent for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or 
Contracts of Significance

Save for the Contractual Arrangements, there was no transactions, arrangements or contracts of 
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director 
and/or any of its connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, and there 
was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance between the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling shareholders or any of its subsidiaries, subsisted at the 
end of, or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying 
Shares and Debentures

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of Directors and the chief executive of 
the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated 
corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which they have taken or are deemed to have taken under such 
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded 
in the register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Name of Director/
chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 
Shares(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding

(%)(3)
    

Mr. Liu Yingqi(2) Founder of a discretionary trust 160,248,364 36.17

Mr. Yao Zhijian Beneficial owner 3,114,579 0.70

Mr. Luo Xiaohui Beneficial owner 2,265,478 0.51

Ms. Liang Shengtian Beneficial owner 223,000 0.05

Notes:

1. All interests stated are long positions including interests in underlying Shares.

2. Creative Brocade International is owned as to (i) 99.9% by Brocade Creation Investment Limited, which is 
wholly–owned by Brocade Creation Limited, the holding vehicle used by Cantrust (Far East) Limited (the trustee 
of the Brocade Creation Trust); and (ii) 0.1% by Creative Brocade, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Yingqi. The 
Brocade Creation Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Liu Yingqi (as the settlor) and the discretionary 
beneficiary is Mr. Liu Yingqi. Therefore, each of Mr. Liu Yingqi, Cantrust (Far East) Limited, Brocade Creation 
Limited and Brocade Creation Investment Limited is deemed under the SFO to be interested in the 160,248,364 
Shares held by Creative Brocade International.

3. The percentage represents the number of shares interested divided by the total number of ordinary shares of the 
Company in issue as at December 31, 2024, i.e. 443,012,442.
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Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the Underlying Shares

Name of Director/
chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest

Number of 
Shares(1)

Approximate 
percentage of 
shareholding 

(%)(2)
    

Mr. Yao Zhijian Beneficial owner 300,000 0.07

Mr. Luo Xiaohui Beneficial owner 100,000 0.02

Ms. Liang Shengtian Beneficial owner 50,000 0.01

Notes:

1. All interests stated are long positions.

2. The percentage represents the number of shares interested divided by the total number of ordinary shares of the 
Company in issue as at December 31, 2024, i.e. 443,012,442.

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the Company’s Associated Corporations

Name of Director/
chief executive

Name of associated 
corporation

Capacity/Nature 
of interest

Registered 
Capital (RMB)

Approximate 
percentage of
shareholding 

(%)
     

Mr. Liu Yingqi Shenzhen Yeahka Beneficial owner 198,545,266 99.27

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, no Directors or chief executives of the Company 
had or was deemed to have an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or 
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the 
SFO, which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they have 
taken or are deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which were required, 
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in the 
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons, other than 
Directors and chief executives of the Company, had interests or short positions in the shares or 
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the 
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 
336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein:
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Interests of Substantial Shareholders in the Shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest
Number 

of Shares(1)

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding

(%)(5)
    

Creative Brocade International Beneficial owner 160,248,364 (L) 36.17

 Limited(2)

Brocade Creation Investment Interest in controlled corporation 160,248,364 (L) 36.17

 Limited(2)

Brocade Creation Limited(2) Interest in controlled corporation 160,248,364 (L) 36.17

Cantrust (Far East) Limited(2) Trustee of a trust 160,248,364 (L) 36.17

Ms. Luo Haiying(3) Interest of Spouse 160,248,364 (L) 36.17

Recruit Holdings Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 30,051,196 (L) 6.78

TMF Trust (HK) Limited(4) Trustee of a trust 79,478,065 (L) 17.94

Notes:

1. (L) denotes long position; (S) denotes short positions; (P) denotes lending pool.

2. Creative Brocade International is owned as to (i) 99.9% by Brocade Creation Investment Limited, which is 
wholly–owned by Brocade Creation Limited, the holding vehicle used by Cantrust (Far East) Limited (the trustee 
of the Brocade Creation Trust); and (ii) 0.1% by Creative Brocade, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Liu Yingqi. The 
Brocade Creation Trust is a discretionary trust established by Mr. Liu Yingqi (as the settlor) and the discretionary 
beneficiary is Mr. Liu Yingqi. Therefore, each of Mr. Liu Yingqi, Cantrust (Far East) Limited, Brocade Creation 
Limited and Brocade Creation Investment Limited is deemed under the SFO to be interested in the 160,248,364 
Shares or underlying Shares held by Creative Brocade International.

3. Ms. Luo Haiying, the spouse of Mr. Liu Yingqi, is deemed under the SFO to be interested in the 160,248,364 Shares 
or underlying Shares in which Mr. Liu Yingqi is deemed to be interested.

4. TMF Trust (HK) Limited directly holds the entire issued share capital of each of RSU Nominee 1 and RSU 
Nominee 2. RSU Nominee 1 and RSU Nominee 2 hold 51,227,171 and 28,250,894 underlying Shares in respect of 
the RSUs granted and to be granted under the RSU Scheme for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to 
the RSU Scheme. Therefore, TMF Trust (HK) Limited is deemed under the SFO to be interest in the 51,227,171 and 
28,250,894 Shares held by RSU Nominee 1 and RSU Nominee 2, respectively.

5. The percentage represents the number of shares interested divided by the total number of ordinary shares of the 
Company in issue as at December 31, 2024, i.e. 443,012,442.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, no other 
persons (not being Directors or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions 
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed to the 
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required, 
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part 
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 
2024.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association, although there are 
no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the Cayman Islands which would oblige the 
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the Shareholders by reason 
of their holding of the Company’s securities.

Emolument Policy

Our Directors believe that the ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient number of qualified 
employees is of significant importance to the long-term successful development of our Group. 
We participate in various employee social security plans that are organized by applicable local 
municipal and provincial governments, including housing, pension, medical, work-related injury 
and unemployment benefit plans. We purchase commercial health and accidental insurance for 
our employees. We have also adopted the RSU Scheme and Share Option Scheme, details of both 
schemes are set out under the section headed “Restricted Share Unit Scheme and Share Option 
Scheme” in this directors’ report. Our Group has established a remuneration committee to review 
the policy and structure of the remuneration for our Directors and senior management and make 
recommendations on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management. In general, our Group determines the emolument payable to our Directors based on 
each Director’s time commitment and responsibilities, salaries paid by comparable companies as 
well as the employment conditions elsewhere in our Group.
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Employee Benefits

Particulars of the employee benefits of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration (excluding 
equity-settled share expenses) of the senior management (including members of senior 
management who are also executive Directors) by band for the year ended December 31, 2024 is 
set out below:

Band Remuneration Number of senior management
   

1 RMB0 to RMB1,000,000 3（1）

2 RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 2（2）

3 RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 0

4 RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000 0

5 RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 0

Notes:

(1) Band 1 includes 2 executive Directors.

(2) Band 2 includes 2 executive Directors.

Public Float

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information that is publicly available to the 
Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained minimum public float 
of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

Rights to Acquire the Company’s Securities and Equity-Linked Agreements

Redemption of US$70 Million 6.25% Convertible Bonds Due 2027

On July 4, 2022, the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities plc and Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited 
as the joint global coordinators, joint bookrunners and joint lead managers (the “Managers”) 
entered into a subscription agreement, pursuant to which and subject to certain conditions 
contained therein, the Company has agreed to issue, and the Managers have agreed to severally 
and not jointly subscribe and pay for, or to procure subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the 
Convertible Bonds.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has redeemed, in advance, all of its Convertible Bonds. 
As of the date of this annual report, all the Convertible Bonds have been redeemed and canceled. 
The Convertible Bonds were delisted from the Stock Exchange on July 23, 2024. The Board believes 
that the early redemption of the Convertible Bonds will significantly reduce the Company’s interest 
expenses and optimize its capital structure.
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Save as disclosed in this section and under the section headed “Restricted Share Unit Scheme and 
Share Option Scheme” in this directors’ report, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2024 
was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors 
or chief executive of the Company or their respective associates to subscribe for securities of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by 
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 
Save as disclosed in this section, the Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors have any interest in a business, 
apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, 
with the business of the Group, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Every Director, auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of 
the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director, 
auditor or other officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, 
in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Subject to the Companies 
Act, if any Director or other person shall become personally liable for the payment of any sum 
primarily due from the Company, the Board may execute or cause to be executed any mortgage, 
charge, or security over or affecting the whole or any part of the assets of the Company by way of 
indemnity to secure the Director or person so becoming liable as aforesaid from any loss in respect 
of such liability. Such provisions were in force throughout the year ended December 31, 2024 and 
are currently in force. The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ 
liabilities in respect of legal actions that may be brought against the Directors.

Use of Proceeds from Convertible Bonds

In July 2022, the Company issued US$70 million 6.25% convertible bonds due 2027. The Group 
successfully raised total net proceeds (after deducting all applicable costs and expenses including 
commissions, professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses) of approximately USD68.1 million 
(equivalent to HKD533.3 million) through the issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The Convertible 
Bonds were subsequently fully redeemed and cancelled on July 15, 2024. Details of the Group’s 
use of proceeds from the issuance of Convertible Bonds as at December 31, 2024 are set out in the 
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Use of Proceeds from Convertible Bonds” 
in this annual report.

Connected Transactions

Continuing Connected Transactions

We set out below a summary of the continuing connected transactions of the Group, which are 
subject to the reporting, annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Contractual Arrangements

Our Group, through our primary PRC operating entities, Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries, 
is primarily engaged in providing payment services and business services to merchants and 
consumers. In order for our Company, as a foreign investor under the current regulatory regime, 
to maintain its business operations while complying with the PRC laws and regulations, our Group 
conducts a substantial portion of the business through its PRC Consolidated Entities. Yeahka WFOE, 
Shenzhen Yeahka and the Registered Shareholders entered into the Contractual Arrangements 
on October 29, 2019. Our Group do not hold any equity interest in the PRC Consolidated Entities. 
Rather, through the Contractual Arrangements, we effectively control these PRC Consolidated 
Entities and are able to derive substantially all of their economic benefits, and expect to continue to 
do so.

Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements

As advised by our PRC Legal Advisors, the value-added telecommunication services, payment 
services business and micro – credit business of our Group (the “Relevant Businesses”) are 
subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC. Accordingly, our Company could not hold a 
shareholding interest in the PRC Consolidated Entities, which hold the licenses and approval required 
for the Relevant Businesses. In order for our Company, as a foreign investor, to maintain its 
business operations while complying with the PRC laws and regulations, we, through Yeahka WFOE, 
have entered into a set of contractual arrangements (the “Previous Contractual Arrangements”) 
with Shenzhen Yeahka and the then registered shareholders in 2012 and 2013. The Previous 
Contractual Arrangements allowed our Company to exercise control over the business operation 
of Shenzhen Yeahka and enjoy all the economic interests derived therefrom. In preparation for the 
Listing and upon the completion of the Reorganization, Yeahka WFOE, Shenzhen Yeahka and the 
Registered Shareholders entered into the Contractual Arrangements on October 29, 2019, which 
superseded the Previous Contractual Arrangements.

For further details of the limitations on foreign ownership in PRC companies conducting the Relevant 
Businesses under PRC laws and regulations, please refer to pages 240 to 244 of the Prospectus and 
the sections headed “Regulatory Overview — Regulations on Payment Services of Non-financial 
Institutions”, “Regulatory Overview — Regulations on Micro-credit Business” and “Regulatory 
Overview — Regulations on Value-added Telecommunication Services” of the Prospectus.

Our Directors (including our independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the 
Contractual Arrangements and the transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to 
our Group’s legal structure and business operations; and the Contractual Arrangements and the 
transactions thereunder have been and will be entered into in our ordinary and usual course of 
business, are on normal commercial terms or better and the terms are fair and reasonable and in 
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.
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Our Directors also believe that our structure, whereby the financial results of Shenzhen Yeahka 
and its subsidiaries are consolidated into our financial statements as if they were our Company’s 
wholly-owned subsidiaries, and all the economic benefits of their business flow to our Group, 
places our Group in a special position in relation to the connected transactions rules. Accordingly, 
notwithstanding that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements technically 
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors 
consider that it would be burdensome and impracticable, and would add unnecessary administrative 
costs to our Company, for all the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements to 
be subject to strict compliance with the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, 
including, among other things, the announcement and approval of independent Shareholders.

In addition, given the Contractual Arrangements were entered into prior to the Listing and are 
disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, and potential investors of our Company will 
deal in our Shares on the basis of such disclosure, our Directors consider that compliance with the 
announcement and the independent Shareholders’ approval requirements in respect thereof would 
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company.

Summary of Major Terms of the Contractual Arrangements

The Contractual Arrangements which were in place during the year ended December 31, 2024 and a 
brief description of the major terms of the structured contracts under the Contractual Arrangements 
are as follows:

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated October 29, 2019 between 
Shenzhen Yeahka and Yeahka WFOE (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement”), Yeahka 
WFOE agreed to be engaged as the exclusive provider to the PRC Consolidated Entities of technical 
support, consultation and other services for a monthly service fee.

Under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the service fee shall be of reasonable 
prices in accordance with the nature of the services, shall be further stipulated in separate service 
agreements, and shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit of the PRC Consolidated 
Entities, after deduction of any accumulated deficit of the PRC Consolidated Entities in the 
preceding financial year(s), working capital, expenses, taxes and other statutory contributions. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Yeahka WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of service fees 
according to PRC tax law and tax practices, and Shenzhen Yeahka will accept such adjustments. 
Yeahka WFOE shall calculate the service fees on a monthly basis and issue a corresponding 
value-added tax invoice to Shenzhen Yeahka at the tax rate stipulated by current PRC laws and 
regulations regarding value-added tax. Notwithstanding the payment agreements in the Exclusive 
Business Cooperation Agreement, Yeahka WFOE may adjust the payment time and payment 
method, and Shenzhen Yeahka will accept any such adjustment.
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In addition, absent the prior written consent of Yeahka WFOE, during the term of the Exclusive 
Business Cooperation Agreement, with respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Business 
Cooperation Agreement and other matters, the PRC Consolidated Entities shall not directly or 
indirectly accept the same or any similar services to be provided by any third party and shall not 
establish cooperation relationship similar to that formed by the Exclusive Business Cooperation 
Agreement with any third party. Yeahka WFOE may appoint other parties, who may enter into 
certain agreements with the PRC Consolidated Entities, to provide the PRC Consolidated Entities 
with the services under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement also provided that Yeahka WFOE has the exclusive 
proprietary rights to and interests in any and all intellectual property rights developed or created 
by the PRC Consolidated Entities during the performance of the Exclusive Business Cooperation 
Agreement.

The validity period of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement commenced from October 29, 
2019, and it shall remain effective unless terminated (a) in accordance with the provisions of the 
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement; (b) in writing by Yeahka WFOE; (c) when all the equity 
interests and assets of Shenzhen Yeahka have been legally transferred to Yeahka WFOE; or (d) if 
renewal of the expired business period of either Yeahka WFOE or Shenzhen Yeahka is denied by 
relevant government authorities, at which time the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement will 
terminate upon expiration of that business period.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Pursuant to the exclusive option agreement dated October 29, 2019 among Shenzhen Yeahka, 
Yeahka WFOE and the Registered Shareholders (the “Exclusive Option Agreement”), the 
Registered Shareholders irrevocably agreed to grant Yeahka WFOE an exclusive right to acquire, or 
designate one or more persons to acquire, from the Registered Shareholders any or all their equity 
interests then held in Shenzhen Yeahka, in whole or in part at any time, for a total consideration 
of RMB200,000,000, which equals to the registered capital of Shenzhen Yeahka. If Yeahka 
WFOE exercises its option right to acquire part of equity interests held by certain Registered 
Shareholder(s) in Shenzhen Yeahka, the purchase price shall be calculated in proportion to the 
equity interests being transferred. Furthermore, where the above purchase prices are higher than 
the lowest price permitted by the then PRC laws and regulations at the time of exercising options, 
the lowest price permitted by PRC laws and regulations shall be applied. Each of Shenzhen Yeahka 
and the Registered Shareholders has given certain covenants under the Exclusive Option Agreement.

The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the relevant laws and 
regulations, they will return to Yeahka WFOE any consideration they receive in the event that 
Yeahka WFOE exercise the options under the Exclusive Option Agreement to acquire the equity 
interests in the PRC Consolidated Entities. The validity period of the Exclusive Option Agreement 
commenced from October 29, 2019 and it shall remain effective unless terminated (a) in accordance 
with the provisions of the Exclusive Option Agreement; (b) in writing by Yeahka WFOE; or (c) when 
the entire equity interests held by the Registered Shareholders or their successors or the transferees 
in Shenzhen Yeahka have been transferred to Yeahka WFOE or their appointee(s).
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Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the equity pledge agreement dated October 29, 2019 entered into between Yeahka 
WFOE, Shenzhen Yeahka and each of the Registered Shareholders (collectively, the “Equity Pledge 
Agreements”), the Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in 
Shenzhen Yeahka that they own, including any interest or dividend paid for the shares, to Yeahka 
WFOE as a security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations and the 
payment of outstanding debts.

The pledge in respect of Shenzhen Yeahka took effect upon the completion of the change of 
registration on February 18, 2020 with the relevant administration for industry and commerce and 
shall remain valid until after all the contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders and 
Shenzhen Yeahka under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed and all 
the outstanding debts of the Registered Shareholders and Shenzhen Yeahka under the relevant 
Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of default (as defined in the 
Equity Pledge Agreement), unless such default is cured within 20 days following the Registered 
Shareholders or Shenzhen Yeahka’s receipt of the written notice which requests the cure of such 
default, Yeahka WFOE shall have the right to exercise all such rights as a secured party under any 
applicable PRC laws and regulations and the Equity Pledge Agreements, including without limitation, 
being paid in priority with the equity interests based on the monetary valuation that such equity 
interests are converted into or from the proceeds from auction or sale of the equity interests upon 
written notice to the Registered Shareholders.

Powers of Attorney

Each of the Registered Shareholders has executed a power of attorney dated October 29, 2019 
(collectively, the “Powers of Attorney”) pursuant to which each of the Registered Shareholders 
irrevocably appointed Yeahka WFOE and its designated persons (including but not limited to the 
Directors and their successors and liquidators replacing the Directors but excluding those who 
are non-independent or who may give rise to conflict of interests) as his or its attorney-in-fact to 
exercise on his or its behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise, any and all right that he or 
it has in respect of his or its equity interests in Shenzhen Yeahka.

Each of the Registered Shareholders has undertaken that he will not directly or indirectly participate 
in, engage in, involve in, own or be interested in any business which potentially competes with 
Yeahka WFOE or its affiliates without Yeahka WFOE’s prior written consent.

Each of the individual Registered Shareholders has undertaken that in the event that he becomes a 
natural person without civil capacity or a natural person with limited capacity for civil activity due 
to any reasons, his representatives or successors shall continue to perform his obligations and enjoy 
the benefits under the Contractual Arrangements subject to the terms of the Powers of Attorney.
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Each of the non-individual Registered Shareholders has undertaken that in the event that it becomes 
a legal person without civil capacity or a legal person with limited capacity for civil activity due to 
its liquidation or other reasons, its administrator shall continue to perform its obligations and enjoy 
the benefits under the Contractual Arrangements subject to the terms of the Powers of Attorney.

Further, the Registered Shareholders have been in compliance with the Powers of Attorney since 
October 29, 2019, and the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for so long as he or it holds an 
equity interest in Shenzhen Yeahka.

Loan Agreement

Yeahka WFOE, Mr. Liu and Mr. Qin Baoan (“Mr. Qin”) entered into a loan agreement on October 
29, 2019 (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which Yeahka WFOE provided an RMB198,813,172 
interest-free loan to Mr. Liu and an RMB1,186,828 interest-free loan to Mr. Qin for their investment in 
Shenzhen Yeahka.

The term of the Loan Agreement commenced on the date of entering into the Loan Agreement 
and shall be terminated when Yeahka WFOE exercises its exclusive option to acquire, or designate 
one or more persons to acquire, from the individual Registered Shareholders any or all their equity 
interests then held in Shenzhen Yeahka, as stipulated in the Exclusive Option Agreement. The loan 
will become due and payable under the following circumstances: (i) 30 days after receiving a written 
notice from Yeahka WFOE requesting repayment of the loan; (ii) the death or loss of civil capacity 
of the individual Registered Shareholders; (iii) the individual Registered Shareholders being engaged 
or involved in criminal activities; and (iv) Yeahka WFOE exercising its exclusive option to acquire, 
or designate one or more persons to acquire, from the individual Registered Shareholders any or 
all their equity interests then held in Shenzhen Yeahka pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 
and the PRC foreign ownership restrictions applicable to the Group’s business have been lifted. 
Mr. Liu’s and Mr. Qin’s contribution to the share capital of Shenzhen Yeahka is RMB198,813,172 and 
RMB1,186,828, respectively.

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholders, where applicable, has signed a letter 
of agreement on October 29, 2019 to the effect, among others, that:

(i) each spouse confirmed and agreed that the respective individual Registered Shareholder’s 
existing and future equity interests in Shenzhen Yeahka (together with any other interests 
therein) are separate properties of the individual Registered Shareholder and do not fall 
within the scope of communal properties of such individual Registered Shareholder and his 
spouse; the respective individual Registered Shareholder is entitled to deal with his own equity 
interests and any interests therein in Shenzhen Yeahka in accordance with the Contractual 
Arrangements. The spouse of each of the individual Registered Shareholder confirmed that she 
will fully assist with the performance of the Contractual Arrangements at any time;
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(ii) each spouse unconditionally and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity 
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and confirms that she will not have any 
claim on such equity interests and assets; and she has not and does not intend to participate 
in the operation and management or other voting matters of Shenzhen Yeahka;

(iii) each spouse confirmed that the respective individual Registered Shareholder may further 
amend or terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other alternative documents 
without the need for authorization or consent by the spouse; and

(iv) each spouse will enter into all necessary documents and take all necessary actions to ensure 
the due performance of Contractual Arrangements as amended from time to time.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from Shenzhen Yeahka to 
our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements.

Shenzhen Yeahka

Yeahka WFOE

Provide management
and consultation
services

Pay management and
consultation services fees

Shenzhen Yeahka

Registered 
Shareholders

100%

Yeahka HK

100%

(1) Powers of attorney to exercise all shareholders’ rights in
Shenzhen Yeahka

(2) Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity
interests in and/or assets of Shenzhen Yeahka

(3) First priority security interest over the entire equity
interests in Shenzhen Yeahka

(4) A loan provided by Yeahka WFOE to the individual
Registered Shareholders for their investment in

Our Company

100%

Save as disclosed above, there are no other new contractual arrangements entered into, renewed 
and/or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Consolidated Entities during the year ended 
December 31, 2024. There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the 
circumstances under which they were adopted for the year ended December 31, 2024.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Contractual Arrangements has been unwound 
as none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual 
Arrangements has been removed.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had not encountered interference or encumbrance from any 
PRC governing bodies in operating its businesses through the PRC Consolidated Entities under the 
Contractual Arrangements.
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We have been advised by our PRC Legal Advisors that the Contractual Arrangements do not violate 
the relevant PRC regulations.

The aggregate revenue of Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries amounted to RMB2,932 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2024. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the revenue of Shenzhen 
Yeahka and its subsidiaries accounted for approximately 94.98% of the revenue for the year of the 
Group.

The aggregate asset of Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries amounted to approximately RMB6,112 
million for the year ended December 31, 2024 which accounted for approximately 79.33% of the 
total asset for the year of the Group.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual Arrangements. Further details of 
these risks are set out on pages 63 to 68 of the Prospectus.

• If the PRC Government finds that the Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable 
PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations change in the future, 
we could be subject to severe consequences, including the nullification of the Contractual 
Arrangements and the relinquishment of our interest in our PRC Consolidated Entities.

• Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and implementation of the 
Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact the viability of our current corporate structure, 
corporate governance and business operations.

• Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing operational control as 
direct ownership. Our PRC Consolidated Entities may fail to perform their obligations under our 
Contractual Arrangements.

• We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our PRC Consolidated Entities that 
are material to our business operations if our PRC Consolidated Entities declare bankruptcy or 
become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

• The Registered Shareholders of Shenzhen Yeahka may have conflicts of interest with us, which 
may materially and adversely affect our business.

• Our Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a 
finding that we owe additional taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net income 
and the value of your investment.

• If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of our PRC Consolidated 
Entities, the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to substantial costs.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 71

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Mitigation Actions Taken by the Company

Our management works closely with our executive Directors, our external legal advisers and other 
professional advisors to monitor the regulatory environment and developments in PRC laws and 
regulations to mitigate the risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements.

Besides, our Company has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective operation of 
our Group with the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the 
Contractual Arrangements:

• major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance with the Contractual 
Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government authorities will be submitted to our 
Board, if necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

• our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual 
Arrangements at least once a year;

• our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance with the Contractual 
Arrangements in its annual reports; and

• our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional advisers, if necessary, 
to assist the Board with reviewing the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements, and 
review the legal compliance of Yeahka WFOE and the PRC Consolidated Entities to deal with 
specific issues or matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements.

The Extent to Which the Contractual Arrangements Relate to Requirements Other Than the 
Foreign Ownership Restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as set out on pages 240 to 245 
of the Prospectus.

Listing Rule Implications

For the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the definition of “connected 
person”, the PRC Consolidated Entities are treated as our Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
and their directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders and their respective associates are 
treated as our Company’s “connected persons.” Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under 
the Contractual Arrangements constitute connected transactions of our Company under the Listing 
Rules. The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements are continuing connected 
transactions of our Company. The highest applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits ratio) 
under the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions associated with the Contractual Arrangements 
are expected to be more than 5%. As such, the transactions will be subject to the reporting, annual 
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange

The Stock Exchange has granted our Company a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the 
announcement, circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 
pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the 
transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) 
the requirement of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less under 
Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange subject 
however to the following conditions:

(a) no change without independent non-executive Directors’ approval;

(b) no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

(c) the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable our Group to receive the economic 
benefits derived by the PRC Consolidated Entities;

(d) the Contractual Arrangements may be renewed and/or reproduced upon expiry of the 
existing arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or 
operating company (including branch company) engaging in the same business as that of our 
Group which our Group might wish to establish when justified by business expediency, without 
obtaining Shareholders’ approval, on substantially the same terms and conditions as the 
Contractual Arrangements; and

(e) we will disclose details of the Contractual Arrangements on an ongoing basis.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual Arrangements and 
confirmed that: (a) the transactions carried out during the year ended December 31, 2024 had been 
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (b) no 
dividends or other distributions had been made by the PRC Consolidated Entities to the holders of 
its equity interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; 
(c) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and 
the PRC Consolidated Entities during the year ended December 31, 2024; and (d) the Contractual 
Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, are 
on normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Group and the 
Shareholders as a whole.
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Confirmation from the Auditor

The auditor conducted an engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical 
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on 
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The 
auditor has planned and performed their work to obtain limited assurance for giving conclusion 
below:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing 
connected transactions have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors.

b. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not 
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing 
such transactions.

c. with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions with between Yeahka WFOE 
and the PRC Consolidated Entities under the contractual arrangements, nothing has come to 
their attention that causes them to believe that dividends or other distributions have been 
made by the PRC Consolidated Entities to the holders of the equity interests of the PRC 
Consolidated Entities which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the 
Group.

Other Connected Transactions

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as defined under applicable 
accounting standards during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 which were disclosed in 
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements. No related parties transactions disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements (a) constitutes a connected transaction as defined under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules or (b) not being fully exempt from the connected transaction requirements 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held on Thursday, June 5, 2025. A notice convening the AGM and all other relevant 
documents will be published and despatched to the Shareholders in the manner required by the 
Listing Rules in due course.
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Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of ascertaining the members’ eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM, the 
Company’s register of members will be closed from Monday, June 2, 2025 to Thursday, June 5, 
2025, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of share will be registered. In order to be 
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of Shares shall ensure that all transfer 
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s 
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712 – 
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not 
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, May 30, 2025.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report from pages 75 to 99 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and 
discussed the Group’s auditing, risk management, internal controls and financial reporting matters 
with the management. The Audit Committee, together with the the Auditor, has also reviewed the 
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Auditor

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer 
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company.

Save as otherwise stated, all references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual 
report form part of this directors’ report.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yingqi
Chairman

March 27, 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report for the purpose of inclusion in the 
Company’s annual report for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Corporate Purpose, Value, Strategy and Culture

The Company is a leading payment-based technology platform, which continuously creates value 
for merchants and consumers since its establishment.

Innovation

We believe that only continuous innovation and breakthroughs in technology, products, and services 
with forward-thinking can create more value for merchants and make life more convenient.

Integrity

We insist on integrity and trustworthiness, which is the standard of establishing long-term and 
mutually beneficial relations with colleagues internally and users, business partners, investors and 
other parties externally.

Enterprise

We have the ambition to strive for progress and improvement, driving us to perfect technology and 
enhance services continuously to achieve sustainable development, exceed expectations and meet 
demands.

Responsibility

We have the courage to shoulder responsibility and focus on the big picture instead of personal or 
short-term interests. When facing difficulties and challenges, we will embrace them, stay positive, 
strive for the best results and excel ourselves.

Compliance with the CG Code

The Company is committed to maintaining and implementing strict corporate governance. The 
principles of the Company’s corporate governance are to promote effective internal control 
measures, uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects 
of its business, to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations in its business and 
operations, and to enhance transparency and the accountability of the Board to all Shareholders. 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Code is based on the principles and code provisions 
prescribed in the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view 
that for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has complied with the majority of the 
code provisions as set out in the CG Code, with the exception of deviations from code provision C.2.1 
of Part 2 as explained in this Corporate Governance report.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in 
code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, including at least the following:

• To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

• To review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and 
senior management;

• To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements;

• To formulate, review and monitor the Company’s code of conduct and compliance manual (if 
any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

• To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure made in this Corporate 
Governance Report.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Group’s code of conduct for Directors in 
securities transactions. After making specific inquiries of all Directors of the Company, all Directors 
have confirmed that they have strictly complied with the Model Code for the year ended December 
31, 2024.

The Board has also adopted written guidelines (the “Employees’ Written Guidelines”) no less 
exacting than the Model Code to regulate all securities dealings by relevant employees who are 
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company or its securities because of his/her 
office or employment in the Group as referred to in code provision C.1.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code. 
For the year ended December 31, 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, no incidents of non-
compliance with the Employees’ Written Guidelines have been found by relevant employees of the 
Company after reasonable inquiries.
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The Board

Responsibility

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the Company and overseeing the Group’s 
business, strategy making and performance, and is collectively responsible for facilitating the 
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides direction to the 
management by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the 
Group’s operational and financial performance, and ensures that internal control is sound and 
risk management systems are in place. The Board has delegated responsibilities to the Board 
committees, which have been set out in their respective terms of reference.

Delegation of Management Functions

The major powers and functions of the Board include, but not limited to, convening general 
meetings, reporting its work at general meetings, implementing resolutions adopted at general 
meetings, considering and approving operating and investment plans of the Company, formulating 
the Company’s strategic development plans, formulating annual financial budgets and final 
accounts, formulating profit distribution plans and plans on making up losses, and exercising other 
powers and functions as conferred by the Memorandum and the Articles of Association.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to perform his/her 
responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing 
them.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company and advice from 
the company secretary and the senior management of the Company, and may, where appropriate, 
request to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses for discharging their 
duties to the Company.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on strategic plans, major investment decisions 
and other significant operational issues of the Company, while responsibilities for implementing 
decisions of the Board, day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company 
are delegated to the senior management. The Board will review the delegated functions and tasks 
regularly. The management has to obtain the Board approval prior to entering into any significant 
transaction.
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Structure of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of seven Directors, including four executive 
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The list of the Board members and their 
positions are set out below.

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Yingqi (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Yao Zhijian (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Luo Xiaohui (Chief Architect)
Ms. Liang Shengtian (appointed with effect from June 5, 2024)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Akio Tanaka (resigned with effect from December 11, 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson
Mr. Yao Wei
Mr. Yang Tao (resigned with effect from December 11, 2024)
Mr. Ouyang Rihui (appointed with effect from December 11, 2024)

Biographical details of each Director are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior 
Management”.

All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and 
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. All Directors have carried out 
duties in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and have always acted 
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) 
between the Board members of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and 
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The 
roles of chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and chief executive officer of the Company are 
held by Mr. Liu Yingqi. In view of Mr. Liu’s experience, personal profile and his roles in the Company, 
and the fact that Mr. Liu has assumed the role of chief executive officer of the Company since 2011, 
the Board considers it beneficial to the management and business development of our Group and 
will provide an outstanding and consistent leadership to our Group that Mr. Liu acts as the chairman 
of the Board and continues to act as the chief executive officer of the Company.
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While this will constitute a deviation from code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the Board 
believes this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board 
and the management of the Company, given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires 
approval by at least a majority of our Directors; (ii) Mr. Liu and the other Directors are aware of 
and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other things, that 
he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions for the 
Company accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of 
the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss 
issues affecting operations of the Company.

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board by ensuring the Board works effectively and 
discharges its responsibilities in time, and all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in 
a timely manner. The Chairman himself, or a Director or a company secretary delegated by him, 
is responsible for determining and approving the agenda for each Board meeting. The Chairman 
ensures that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established. The Chairman 
encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and take the 
lead to ensure that it acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman ensures that Directors 
receive, in a timely manner, adequate information which must be accurate, clear, complete and 
reliable. The Chairman ensures appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with 
Shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board as a whole.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Board has been complying with the requirements of Rules 3.10 (1) and 3.10 (2) of the Listing 
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at 
least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or 
accounting or related financial management expertise. In addition, under Rule 3.10A of the Listing 
Rules, independent non-executive Directors shall represent at least one-third of the Board. The 
Company has three independent non-executive Directors during the Year, accounting for over one-
third of the Board members; therefore, the Company has complied with the relevant regulations.

Independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence in the Year to the 
Company in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the confirmation of 
independent non-executive Directors, the Company considers that they are independent during the 
Year.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Code provision B.2.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code states that every director, including those appointed 
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The 
procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are contained in the 
Memorandum and the Articles of Association.

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Liu Yingqi, Mr. Yao Zhijian, Mr. Luo Xiaohui and Ms. Liang 
Shengtian, have signed service contracts with the Company. The term for Mr. Liu Yingqi and Mr. 
Yao Zhijian is three years from April 30, 2023, while the term for Mr. Luo Xiaohui is three years from 
August 28, 2023. The term for Ms. Liang Shengtian is three years with effect from June 5, 2024. The 
service contract may be terminated in accordance with its terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors have signed the letters of appointment with the 
Company. The terms and conditions of respective letters of appointment are similar in all material 
aspects. Each of the independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of three 
years from April 30, 2023 except Mr. Ouyang Rihui whose term is three years from December 11, 
2024. The letter of appointment may be terminated in accordance with its terms.

According to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall have power from time to time 
and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition 
to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of 
the Company after such appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

According to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting of the 
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple 
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation 
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any Director required to stand for re-election 
pursuant to Article 16.2 shall be not considered in determining the number of Directors and which 
Directors are to retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting 
at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. At any annual general meeting at 
which any Director retires, the Company may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of 
persons to be Directors.
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Board Meeting and General Meeting

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held four Board meetings. At the Board 
meetings, the Board discussed a broad range of matters, including the Group’s overall strategy, 
business prospect, financial and operating performance, review of the Group’s annual and interim 
results announcements and reports, regulatory compliance, corporate governance, and other 
significant matters. The Company will fully comply with the requirement under code provision C.5.1 
of Part 2 of the CG Code to convene Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately 
quarterly intervals, and the relevant meetings will have a majority of Directors attending in person 
or actively participating by electronic communication.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company held one annual general meeting.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and 
the annual general meeting is set out below:

Director name

Number of 
Board meetings 

attended in 
person/Number

 of Board 
meetings

Number of 
Board meetings 

attended by 
entrusting other 

Directors/
Number of 

Board meetings

Attendance 
rate in person 

for Board 
meetings

Number of 
annual general 

meeting attended 
in person/

Number of annual 
general meeting

Attendance 
rate in person 

for annual 
general 
meeting

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yingqi 4/4 0/4 100% 1/1 100%

Mr. Yao Zhijian 4/4 0/4 100% 1/1 100%

Mr. Luo Xiaohui 4/4 0/4 100% 1/1 100%

Ms. Liang Shengtian  
(appointed on June 5, 2024) 2/2 0/2 100% N/A N/A

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Akio Tanaka  
(resigned on December 11, 2024) 4/4 0/4 100% 0/1 0%

Independent  
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 4/4 0/4 100% 0/1 0%

Mr. Yao Wei 4/4 0/4 100% 1/1 100%

Mr. Yang Tao  
(resigned on December 11, 2024) 4/4 0/4 100% 0/1 0%

Mr. Ouyang Rihui  
(appointed on December 11, 2024) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
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In addition to the regular Board meetings, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Chairman 
also held a meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the attendance of other 
Directors.

The Company adopts the practice of holding regular Board meetings at least four times a year at 
approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than 14 days are given for all regular Board 
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend the meetings and discuss matters 
included in the agenda.

For other meetings of the Board and the Board committees, reasonable notices are generally 
given. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to Directors or members of the 
Board committees at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time 
to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. Where Directors or members 
of the Board committees are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to 
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the 
meeting. All Directors shall obtain information related to the Board resolutions in a comprehensive 
and timely manner.

The senior management normally will attend regular Board meetings and where necessary, other 
Board and committee meetings, to advise on business development, financial and accounting 
matters, statutory and regulatory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the 
Company. The Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to the senior 
management where necessary.

Minutes of meetings of the Board and the Board committees are recorded in full detail about the 
matters considered by the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including 
concerns raised or objections expressed by Directors. Draft minutes of each meeting of the Board 
and the Board committees are sent to Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the 
date of the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company with 
copies circulated to all Directors for information and records. Any Director can seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense after making reasonable request to the Board.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter to be 
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the relevant Directors shall 
abstain from voting and a Board meeting attended by independent non-executive Directors who 
have no material interest in the matter shall be held to discuss and vote on the same.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director will be provided with necessary introduction and information to 
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s operation and business as well as 
his/her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. Ms. Liang Shengtian and 
Mr. Ouyang Rihui, both of them are newly appointed during the Year, have obtained legal advice 
relating to (i) the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to them as a Director 
of the Company and (ii) the possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving false 
information to the Stock Exchange on June 4, 2024 and December 6, 2024, respectively, from a 
law firm qualified to advise on Hong Kong law pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, and 
had confirmed that they understood their obligations as a Director of the Company. The Company 
also arranges regular seminars to provide Directors with updates on latest development and 
changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to 
time. Directors are also provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge his/her duties. Directors 
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company has from time to time updated and 
provided written training materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of Directors.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company has provided Directors with the training 
seminars and relevant materials, including key disclosure obligations set out in the Listing Rules, 
responsibilities and obligations set out in the Listing Rules — corporate governance functions and 
codes, personal interests of directors, compliance requirements under share option or incentive 
schemes, recent disciplinary actions by the Stock Exchange and disciplinary actions by the 
Securities and Futures Commission.

The personal training records received by the Directors during the Year are summarized as follows:

Director name

Attending or participating in 
relevant seminars/

Reading relevant materials

Executive Directors:
Mr. Liu Yingqi ✓

Mr. Yao Zhijian ✓

Mr. Luo Xiaohui ✓

Ms. Liang Shengtian (appointed on June 5, 2024) ✓

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Akio Tanaka (resigned on December 11, 2024) ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson ✓

Mr. Yao Wei ✓

Mr. Yang Tao (resigned on December 11, 2024) ✓

Mr. Ouyang Rihui (appointed on December 11, 2024) ✓
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Board Secretary

Mr. Lai Chun Tat Derek is our Board secretary. Mr. Lai joined Yeahka as Finance Director 
in 2019. Prior to joining Yeahka, he has served more than 10 years in the audit division of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Lai received a bachelor degree in business administration from 
University of Wisconsin-Madison and a master degree in accounting from Curtin University of 
Technology. Mr. Lai is also a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and a member of Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Board has established four Board committees, namely, 
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the ESG 
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The Board committees have 
sufficient resources to execute their requisite duties. All the Board committees should report to the 
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in compliance 
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) review and supervise the financial reporting 
process and internal control system of the Group; (ii) oversee the audit process; (iii) review 
and oversee the existing and potential risks of the Group; and (iv) perform other duties and 
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yao Wei 
(Chairman), Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson and Mr. Ouyang Rihui (appointed on December 11, 2024) 
(with Mr. Yao Wei possessing the appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and 
related financial management expertise). None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former 
partner of the Company’s current external auditor.

According to the written terms of reference for the Audit Committee, the committee shall hold at 
least two meetings in each financial year.
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During the Year, the Company held two meetings of the Audit Committee to do the following 
work: (i) review and discuss the report to the Audit Committee prepared by the auditor, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, and the matters the Audit Committee should pay attention to as 
recommended by the auditor, including any material concerns raised to the management in relation 
to accounting records, financial statements or internal control systems and the management’s 
responses; (ii) review and discuss the Report of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems 
and review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group and, if appropriate, 
make recommendations to the Board on the following matters: (a) to review and discuss the Report 
of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems of the Group; (b) review the effectiveness 
of financial controls, risk management and internal control systems of the Group; and (c) review 
the adequacy of resources of the accounting and financial reporting function of the Group, 
staff qualifications and experience, and review staff training programs and relevant budget; (iii) 
review and discuss the draft of audited consolidated financial statements, of the annual results 
announcement and of the annual report of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2023 and, 
if appropriate, make recommendations to the Board; (iv) review and discuss the draft of letter 
of representation prepared by the auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers and make recommendations 
to the Board; (v) consider and make recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s independent external auditor for a term until the 
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; (vi) review and discuss the draft 
of unaudited interim consolidated financial statements, of the interim results announcement and 
of the interim report of the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and, if appropriate, 
make recommendations to the Board; and (vii) review and discuss the Pre-licensing Policy for Non-
authentication Services drafted by the management and make recommendations to the Board.

Name of committee member
Number of attendance/

Number of meetings

Mr. Yao Wei 2/2

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 2/2

Mr. Yang Tao (resigned on December 11, 2024) 1/1

Mr. Ouyang Rihui (appointed on December 11, 2024) N/A

The Audit Committee held a meeting on March 27, 2025, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the 
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control, 
risk management and financial reporting matters, including the review of the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Audit Committee 
is of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial statements has complied with the 
applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the re-
appointment of the external auditor.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference in accordance 
with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on 
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include (i) making recommendations to the Board 
on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all Directors and senior management 
of the Company and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policies; (ii) formulating policies for the remuneration of executive Directors, 
evaluating the performance of executive Directors and approving the terms of service contracts of 
executive Directors; (iii) reviewing and approving the remuneration proposals of management in 
light of the corporate goals and objectives set by the Board; (iv) recommending to the Board the 
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior management (i.e. adopting 
the model set out in code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of Part 2 of the CG Code); and (v) reviewing and/or 
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (see Rule 17.07A 
of the Listing Rules).

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two independent non-executive 
Directors and one executive Director, namely Mr. Yao Wei, Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson and Mr. Liu 
Yingqi. Mr. Yao Wei is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting and its main tasks included: (i) 
reviewing the remuneration policy and structure of the Board and senior management of the 
Company; (ii) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 
of each of the executive Directors and senior management for the year 2024 and recommendations 
to the Board; (iii) reviewing and approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 
of the Listing Rules, including any share options or share awards granted to Directors or senior 
management, and the relevant disclosure and explanation as to whether the approval of such 
significant matters, if any, is appropriate in the corporate governance report; and (iv) reviewing and 
approving the grant of RSUs to the Directors and senior management (including the vesting period, 
performance target and the clawback mechanism) for the year 2024.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out in the table below:

Name of committee member Number of attendance/Number of meetings

Mr. Yao Wei 3/3

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 3/3

Mr. Liu Yingqi 3/3
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up a Nomination Committee with written terms of reference in accordance 
with the CG Code. The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available 
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The main duties of the Nomination 
Committee include (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge 
and experience) of the Board at least once a year and making recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) establishing policies 
for the selection and nomination of Directors and procedures for identifying suitably qualified 
Directors for consideration by the Board and implementing the relevant approved plans and 
procedures; (iii) identifying and advising the Board on the selection and nomination of individuals 
suitably qualified to become Directors; (iv) ensuring that the Board and Shareholders are provided 
with sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates to enable them to make a decision 
on the selection of Board members; (v) assessing the independence of independent non-executive 
Directors; (vi) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of 
Directors and succession planning for Directors (in particular the chairman and chief executive); and 
(vii) developing a whistleblowing policy and system whereby employees and persons dealing with 
the Company can raise concerns in confidence about possible improprieties in any matter relating 
to the Company.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one executive Director and two 
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yingqi, Mr. Yao Wei and Mr. Tam Bing Chung 
Benson. Mr. Liu Yingqi currently serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and its main tasks included: (i) 
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the independence of the 
independent non-executive Directors; (iii) considering the retirement and re-election of Directors 
at the AGM, and (iv) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, measurable objectives and progress on 
achieving the objectives, and making recommendations to the Board.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee meetings are set out in the table below:

Name of committee member Number of attendance/Number of meetings

Mr. Liu Yingqi 3/3

Mr. Yao Wei 3/3

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 3/3
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Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

The Company established ESG Committee on March 31, 2022 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the ESG Committee are available on the 
website of the Company.

The ESG Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing and formulating the environmental, 
social and governance vision, objectives, strategies and structure of the Group, and providing 
recommendations to the Board to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (ii) 
supervising, evaluating and reporting to the Board on the development and implementation of the 
Group’s ESG vision, objectives, strategies and structure; (iii) reviewing key trends in ESG as well as 
related risks and opportunities, and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s ESG 
structure; (iv) monitoring internal and external opinions on the Group’s ESG practices to ensure that 
policies are in place to effectively promote the relationship between the Group and its stakeholders 
and protect the Group’s reputation; (v) reviewing the Group’s ESG report and other related ESG 
disclosures, and making relevant recommendations to the Board; and (vi) performing other duties 
and functions assigned to the ESG Committee by the Board from time to time.

ESG Committee comprises three members, including two executive Directors and one independent 
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Liu Yingqi, Mr. Yao Zhijian, and Mr. Yao Wei. Mr. Liu Yingqi is the 
chairman of the ESG committee.

During the Year, the ESG Committee held two meetings and its main tasks included (i) reviewing and 
discussing the ESG report for 2023, and making recommendations to the Board; (ii) reviewing and 
formulating the environmental, social and governance vision, objectives, strategies and structure 
of the Group, and providing recommendations to the Board to ensure compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements; (iii) supervising, evaluating and reporting to the Board on the development 
of the Group’s ESG vision, objectives, strategies and structure; (iv) reviewing key trends in ESG as 
well as related risks and opportunities, and assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
ESG structure; and (v) monitoring internal and external opinions on the Group’s ESG practices to 
ensure that policies are in place to effectively promote the relationship between the Group and its 
stakeholders and protect the Group’s reputation.

The attendance records of the ESG Committee meetings are set out in the table below:

Name of committee member Number of attendance/Number of meetings
  

Mr. Liu Yingqi 2/2

Mr. Yao Zhijian 2/2

Mr. Yao Wei 2/2
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Director Nomination Policy

According to the Company’s Director nomination policy, the Nomination Committee shall 
recommend to the Board candidates for election as Directors (including independent non-executive 
Directors) in accordance with the following nomination procedures: (i) the Nomination Committee 
and/or the Board may solicit candidates for directorship through various means, including but not 
limited to internal promotion, transfer, recommendation by other members of management and by 
external recruitment agents; (ii) the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon receipt 
of a proposal for the appointment of a new Director and the candidate’s personal information (or 
relevant details), evaluate the candidate to determine the suitability of the candidate to serve as a 
Director in accordance with the following criteria; (iii) the Nomination Committee shall then make 
appropriate recommendations to the Board for the appointment of a suitable person to the position 
of Director; and (iv) in respect of any person nominated by a Shareholder for election as a Director 
at a general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate 
such candidate in accordance with the following criteria to determine whether such candidate is 
suitable to become a Director. If appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall 
make a recommendation to the Shareholders regarding the proposal for the election of Directors at 
a general meeting of the Company.

In evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship, the Nomination Committee shall consider 
the following criteria: (i) character including integrity, honesty and impartiality; (ii) background 
and qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience relevant 
to the Company’s business operations and corporate strategy; (iii) commitment to understanding 
the Company and its industry, willingness to devote sufficient time to the duties of Board members 
and ability to assist the Board in performing its duties; (iv) requirement for the Board to have 
sufficient independent non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and assessment 
of the independence of candidates; (v) the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives 
adopted by the Nomination Committee for the purpose of diversifying the Board. Diversity of Board 
members shall be considered from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, 
skills, age, cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical and professional 
experience and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of service and time to be devoted as a Director; 
and (vi) other factors relevant to the Company’s business model and specific needs from time to 
time, and the contribution that the selected candidates shall bring to the Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objectives and methods for 
achieving and maintaining Board diversity to enhance Board effectiveness. The Board Diversity 
Policy requires the Company to make every effort to ensure that Board members have the balance 
of skills, experience and diversity required to execute its business strategies. In accordance with 
the Board Diversity Policy, we achieve board diversity by taking into account a number of factors, 
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity and length of service. The Board has delegated to the Nomination 
Committee the responsibility for compliance with the codes governing board diversity in the CG 
Code. The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its 
continued effectiveness and we shall disclose the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy in 
our Corporate Governance Report on an annual basis.

The Board and the Nomination Committee of the Company have reviewed the Board Diversity 
Policy, measurable objectives, including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and length of service, and the progress 
on achieving the objectives on March 27, 2025. The Board considers that the Board Diversity Policy 
is effective and is satisfied with the measurable objectives and the progress on achieving the 
objectives.

As at December 31, 2024, the Board comprised seven members, including four executive Directors 
and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors have balanced experience in overall 
management and strategic development, business and risk management as well as finance and 
accounting. The Board members are of all ages, ranging from 42 to 61. The Board members are 
of diverse cultural and educational backgrounds, as well as ethnicity. After due consideration, the 
Board believes that the Company’s Board, which is comprised of Directors with elite management 
skills, has met its measurable objectives and is consistent with the Board Diversity Policy.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at December 31, 2024:

 
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

42-50

Position Gender Age Race

Male

Executive
Directors

Female

Independent
non-executive

Directors

Chinese

51-61

As at December 31, 2024, male employees accounted for 72% and female employees accounted 
for 28% of all employees (including senior management) of the Group. To achieve gender diversity, 
we are committed to creating favorable conditions in our working environment to attract more 
women to join the Group, and thus increase the proportion of female employees (including senior 
management) year by year, making us a gender-balanced company. The gender balance scheme 
includes hiring and promoting more women to hold senior management positions based on the 
qualifications, experience and skills required for those positions. In addition, we may face the 
issue of whether the supply of female personnel in the human resources market matches the 
academic qualifications, experience and skills required for positions within the Group. Despite these 
challenges, we are still moving towards gender balance.

Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent Views and Opinions

The Board has adopted the “Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent Views and Opinions”, 
which clarifies the procedures and channels for Directors to seek advice from external professional 
consultants and obtain information, as well as the qualifications, number and time contributed by 
independent non-executive Directors to ensure independent views and opinions available to the 
Board. The Board will also review the implementation and effectiveness of this mechanism on a 
yearly basis.

On March 27, 2025, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanism. 
The Board considers that the “Mechanism for the Board to Obtain Independent Views and Opinions” 
is effective.
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Joint Company Secretaries

Mr. Lai Chun Tat Derek, our board secretary, has been appointed as our joint company secretary by 
the Company with effect from August 27, 2024. For more details, please refer to "Board Secretary" 
part at page 84.

Ms. Tang King Yin has been appointed as our joint company secretary by the Company with effect 
from August 27, 2024. Ms. Tang is a senior manager of Corporate Services of Tricor Services 
Limited, a global professional services provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and 
investor services. She has over 10 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field. She is a 
Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance Professional and an associate member of both The 
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute in the 
United Kingdom.

During Ms. Tang's term of office, Mr. Lai Chun Tat Derek, the joint company secretary, shall be the 
principal liaison between the Company and Ms. Tang.

Dividend Policy

In accordance with code provision F.1.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, the Company has adopted a 
dividend policy for the purpose of setting out the principles and guidelines to be applied by the 
Company in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of dividends of Shareholders on the 
net profit of the Company.

The policy adopted by the Board is that the Company shall maintain sufficient cash reserves 
to meet its working capital requirements, future growth and the value of its Shareholders when 
proposing or declaring dividends. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout 
ratio. Subject to the Articles of Association and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors 
set out below, the Board may, at its discretion, declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders 
of the Company.

In considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall also take into account the 
following factors in relation to the Group, including financial results, cash flow, business conditions 
and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, 
interests of Shareholders, any restrictions on the payment of dividends and any other factors that 
the Board may deem as relevant.

Depending on the financial position of the Company and the Group and the above conditions 
and factors, the Board may recommend and/or declare the following dividends for a particular 
financial year or period, including interim dividends, final dividends, special dividends, and any 
distribution of net profits as the Board may consider appropriate. Any final dividend in respect of 
a fiscal year shall be subject to approval by the Shareholders. Dividends may be declared and paid 
by the Company in cash, scrip dividends or in such other manner as the Board of Directors may 
consider appropriate. Any unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in 
accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association. The Board shall review the dividend 
policy from time to time as appropriate.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Liability Insurance

The Company has purchased insurance coverage for all Directors and members of senior 
management to minimize the risks they may incur in the normal course of performing their duties. 
The Board reviews the relevant insurance coverage annually.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements of 
the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The management has provided the Board with such explanations and information necessary to 
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements presented 
for the Board’s approval. The management provides monthly updates to all Board members on the 
Company’s performance, condition and prospects.

A statement by the Company’s independent auditor regarding its reporting responsibilities on the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 is included in 
the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

External Auditor and Auditor Remuneration

The total fees paid/payable for audit and non-audit services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
the Company’s external auditor, excluding disbursements in lieu of expenses, for the year ended 31 
December 2024 are set out in the table below:

Services provided Fees paid/payable (RMB’000)
  

Audit service 5,100

Non-audit service Note (1) 270

Note (1): Non-audit service mainly includes consulting service.

PricewaterhouseCoopers shall be invited to attend the AGM to answer questions about the audit, 
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, accounting policies and auditor independence.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT94

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems 
are an important safeguard for the achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives, and 
confirms its responsibility for the review of the Company’s risk management and internal control 
systems and their effectiveness. The management shall be responsible for implementing the Board’s 
risk management and internal control policies and procedures, designing, implementing and 
monitoring the risk management and internal control systems, and confirming the effectiveness of 
such systems to the Board.

Good risk management and internal control systems are designed to manage, not eliminate, 
risks that may prevent the Company from achieving its business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. To this end, 
appropriate policies and procedures have been established and implemented to ensure that key 
risks that could affect the Company’s performance are properly identified and managed, that the 
Company’s assets are not used or disposed of without permission, that financial and accounting 
information is accurately recorded and maintained in accordance with relevant accounting 
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and that all operations comply with relevant rules 
and regulations.

Risk Management and Internal Control Systems and Their Characteristics

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include a clear structure with specified 
license and responsibilities. As the owner of risk prevention and control, business units are 
responsible for implementing daily risk management and internal control, identifying and assessing 
internal and external risk information. The management is responsible for setting appropriate 
principles and values, performing risk assessments, designing, implementing and maintaining 
the internal controls, as well as giving confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal controls. The Board and the Audit Committee oversee the actions of the 
management and monitor the overall effectiveness of the control systems.

To the extent authorized by the Board and the Audit Committee, the Company has established 
a Risk Management Committee and set up three lines of defense for the risk management and 
internal control systems to specifically perform the daily duties related to risk management and 
internal control:
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Risk Management Committee

• It consists of the management of the Company and reports directly to the Board of Directors 
and the Audit Committee.

• It is responsible for organizing, planning, formulating and adjusting the Company’s risk 
management strategy and its implementation mechanism, clarifying the division of labor and 
coordination mechanism for risk management in each department, and regularly reporting 
work related to risk management to the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee to 
supervise daily risk management activities and conduct regular review and disclosure of risk 
assessment and internal controls.

Three Lines of Defense for Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

• The first line of defense consists of the core business departments of the Company. As the first 
responsible organization for risk management, it is responsible for designing and implementing 
standards for daily business operation to manage various risks in the business processes.

• The second line of defense consists of risk control, policy development, finance and other 
supporting functions. It is responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring risk control, 
legal affairs, compliance and finance, and other management regulations, and assisting the 
first line of defense in risk management and control, timely discovery, capture, early warning 
and tracking of abnormal risk information from daily supervision.

• The third line of defense consists of the Internal Audit and Control Department, which is 
responsible for providing analysis and evaluation independent from the first and second lines 
of defense for the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal monitoring 
systems, and supervising their improvement and enhancement; as well as receiving reports and 
monitoring the handling of reported cases.

The Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
at least once annually. The review covers all material controls, including significant risks and the 
Company’s ability to address them, the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring 
of risks and of internal control systems, internal audit function and the existence and impact of 
significant control failure or weaknesses. During the above review process, the management is 
responsible for providing the Board with timely information to assist the Board in its assessment of 
the effectiveness of the Group’s controls and risk management.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board received a confirmation from management 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and completed a 
review of them and considered the Group’s risk management and internal control systems effective 
and adequate. The Board has also completed a review of the adequacy of the resources, staff 
qualifications and experience, training programs and relevant budget of the Group’s accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions, and was satisfied with the results.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Company has formulated and implemented an Information Disclosure System which provides 
general guidelines to the Directors, senior management and staff of the Company on the handling 
of confidential information, monitoring data disclosure and responding to enquiries, and has put 
in place control procedures to ensure that unauthorized access to and use of inside information is 
strictly prohibited.

Investor Relations

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is essential for enhancing 
investor relations and investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. 
The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate 
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company has adopted the Shareholders’ Communication Policy on March 31, 2022, which 
sets out the Company’s use of a number of mechanisms to provide effective and efficient 
communication to Shareholders, among which, (i) the Company publishes updated information and 
news on its business operations and development, financial information, corporate governance 
practices and other information for public access through the website of the Stock Exchange 
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.yeahka.com) to facilitate effective 
communication, timely and objective provision of clear and complete information to Shareholders 
and investors; (ii) the Company is also committed to continuously strengthening the communication 
with the Shareholders’ investment market, designating senior management of the Company to 
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts, organizing various activities 
including briefings for investors/analysts, local and international tours, media interviews and 
investor promotion activities, as well as organizing/participating in industry thematic forums, so as 
to facilitate communication between the Company and its Shareholders and investors; and (iii) the 
Chairman of the general meeting will explain to the Shareholders the detailed procedures for voting 
by poll and answer any questions from the Shareholders in connection with voting by poll at the 
annual general meeting and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, the Chairman of 
the Board, the Chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination 
Committee, or, in their absence, other members of each committee will also answer questions from 
Shareholders.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Board has reviewed the implementation and 
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy. The Board believes that the diversified 
shareholders’ communication channels provide Shareholders and investors with effective access 
to information about the Group, and that Shareholders can contact the Board directly and express 
their opinions on their own initiative through the following procedures of making inquiries to the 
Board. The Board, therefore, endorses the effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
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Procedures for Making Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to make any enquiries to the Board of the Company may do so by writing 
to the Company. The Company does not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original duly signed written 
requisition, notice, statement or enquiry (as the case may be) to the following address and provide 
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ 
information may be disclosed as required by law.

Postal address: 19/F A4 Building, Kexing Science Park,
15 Keyuan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, China
(For the attention of Investor Relations Team)

E-mail address: ir@yeahka.com

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Services Limited, the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong. The contact details 
of Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited are set out below:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Address: 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone number: +852 2862 8555

Facsimile number: +852 2865 0990

Website: www.computershare.com/hk/contact

Investors may also write to the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong or China 
for any enquiries.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting and 
Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with Article 12.1 of the Articles of Association, the Company shall hold a general 
meeting as its annual general meeting within six months after the end of each financial year. 
Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, 
convene an extraordinary general meeting. General meetings shall also be convened on the 
written requisition of any one or more members holding together, as at the date of deposit of the 
requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company 
which carry the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition shall 
be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company 
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company, specifying the objects 
of the meeting and signed by the requestor(s). If the Board does not, within 21 days from the date 
of deposit of the requisition, proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 
days, the requestor(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total 
voting rights held by all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly 
as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting 
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the 
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requestor(s) as a result of the failure of the 
Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 13.5 of the Articles of Association, at any general meeting, a resolution put to 
the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll save that the Chairman may, in good faith, allow 
a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter as prescribed under the 
Listing Rules to be voted on by a show of hands. The poll results will be posted on the websites of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company immediately after the relevant general meetings.

As one of the measures to safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are 
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings for each substantially separate issue, including the election of 
individual Directors, for Shareholders’ consideration and voting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions under the Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Companies 
Law of the Cayman Islands regarding approval of Shareholders’ proposal of new resolutions at the 
general meeting. The Shareholders who intend to propose a resolution may require the Company 
to convene an extraordinary general meeting pursuant to the procedures as stated in the above 
paragraph — “Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting and 
Shareholders’ Rights”.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose Persons for Election as Directors

According to Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, if any Shareholder of the Company proposes 
any person other than a retiring Director for election as a Director at any general meeting, the 
Shareholder shall submit a written notice of his/her intention to propose such person for election 
as a Director of the Company and also a written notice signed by such person to be proposed for 
election as a Director of the Company of his/her willingness to be elected to 19/F, A4 Building, 
Kexing Science Park, 15 Keyuan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, China or to Room 1912, 19/F, Lee 
Garden One, 33 Hysan Avenue, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The period for submitting the notices 
required by this Article shall start no earlier than the day after the notice of the general meeting 
designated for the election is sent, and end no later than seven days before the date of the general 
meeting, and the minimum length of the period, during which such written notices are given, shall 
be at least seven days. To facilitate the Company informing that proposal to the Shareholders, 
according to the requirements of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, the written notices must contain 
the personal information of the person proposed for election as a Director, and shall be signed by 
relevant Shareholder(s) and the proposed Director, indicating his/her willingness to be elected as 
a Director and his/her consent to disclose his/her personal information. In order to ensure that 
other Shareholders would have sufficient time to receive and consider the information of the person 
proposed for election as a Director, Shareholders are urged to lodge their written notice of their 
intention to propose a person for election as a Director as early as practicable in advance of the 
relevant general meeting and, in any case, not less than 12 business days (as defined in the Listing 
Rules, i.e. day(s) on which the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities) before 
the date scheduled for holding the relevant general meeting, so that the Company can complete 
the verification with the share registrar, and publish announcement(s) and/or the dispatch of a 
supplementary circular to Shareholders in compliance with the relevant requirements under the 
Listing Rules. In the event that such written notices are received by the Company later than the 12th 
business day before the date of holding the relevant general meeting, the Company shall consider 
whether to adjourn the relevant meeting so as to give Shareholders a notice of at least 10 business 
days of the proposal in accordance with the Listing Rules. “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose 
Persons for Election as Directors” are available on the website of the Company.

Amendments to Constitutional Document

There have been no changes in the constitutional document of the Company during the Year. The 
Articles of Association are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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To the Shareholders of Yeahka Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Yeahka Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which are set out on pages 111 to 249, comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Revenue recognition of one-stop payment services

• Goodwill impairment assessment

• Fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Revenue recognition of one-stop payment 
services

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the 
Group recognized revenue of approximately 
RMB2,685,898,000 from provis ion of one-
stop payment services to merchants for their 
acceptance of  non-cash payments  f rom 
consumers through connecting the merchants 
with the payment networks.

The one-stop payment services revenue is 
recognized at a point in time upon completion of 
the payment services for each transaction at an 
amount which is calculated based on the total 
payment value made by the consumers and the 
respective applicable service fee rates, net of 
interchange fees levied by various third party 
payment networks. The service fee rates are 
determined based on the agreements entered 
into between the Group and the merchants.

We have per fo rmed the fo l low ing aud i t 
procedures to address the revenue recognition 
of one-stop payment services:

– Examined, on a sample basis, the key terms 
and conditions of sales agreements entered 
into between the Group and the merchants, 
mainly including the service fee rates and 
the Group’s performance obl igations, 
and assessed the appropriateness of 
the Group’s revenue recognition policies 
with reference to the requirements of the 
applicable accounting standards;

– Understood, evaluated, and tested the 
key controls in relation to the revenue 
recognition of one-stop payment services, 
inc luding the information technology 
general controls and automated application 
controls of the business systems used in 
capturing and processing the payment 
service revenue transactions, and other 
relevant key manual controls;

– Performed reconciliations of the payment 
service transaction records in the Group’s 
business systems and that in the payment 
transaction reports obtained from the 
payment networks ,  and the payment 
service revenues recorded in the Group’s 
business systems and that in the Group’s 
financial systems;
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

We focused on this area due to the large volume 
of the one-stop payment services revenue 
transactions to which significant audit resources 
are required to be allocated.

– Tested, on a sample basis, the payment 
service revenue transactions by checking 
the  payment  t ransac t ion  va lue  a nd 
interchange fees levied to the payment 
transaction reports obtained from the 
payment networks, the service fee rates 
to the agreements entered into between 
the Group and the merchants, and the 
mathematical accuracy of the calculation 
of the Group’s payment services revenue 
recognized;

– Performed data analytics over payment 
transaction volume from the dimensions 
of distribution channels and merchants 
newly acquired during the year in order to 
identify unusual fluctuations or payment 
transactions.

Based on the above procedures, we found that 
the recognition of one-stop payment services 
revenue was supported by the evidence we 
obtained.
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

Refer to Notes 4(g) and 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 
goodwill with an aggregate carrying amount of 
approximately RMB456,932,000.

The Group engaged an external valuer to assist 
them in carrying out the goodwill impairment 
assessment. Goodwill impairment is assessed 
by comparing the recoverable amount of the 
respective cash generating unit (“CGU”) or 
a group of CGUs against the corresponding 
carrying amount of the CGU or a group of 
CGUs. Management determined the recoverable 
amount of the CGU or a group of CGUs based 
on the value-in-use (“VIU”), which is calculated 
using discounted cash flows based on five-
year financial projections plus a terminal value 
related to cash flows beyond the projection 
period extrapolated at an estimated termination 
growth rate.

We have per fo rmed the fo l low ing aud i t 
procedures to address the goodwill impairment 
assessment:

– U n d e r s t o o d ,  e v a l u a t e d ,  a n d  t e s t e d 
management’s key controls in relation to 
the goodwill impairment assessment, and 
assessed the inherent risks of material 
misstatement by considering the degree 
of estimation uncertainty and the level 
of other inherent risk factors such as 
complexity, subjectivity, changes and 
susceptibility to management bias and 
other fraud risk factors;

– E v a l u a t e d  t h e  a p p r o p r i a t e n e s s  o f 
management’s identification of CGUs or a 
group of CGUs by reference to the Group’s 
accounting policies and our understanding 
of the Group’s businesses;

– Assessed the competency, capabilities and 
objectivity of the external valuer engaged 
by the Group;

– O b t a i n e d  t h e  v a l u a t i o n  r e p o r t  o f 
g o o d w i l l  i m p a i r m e n t  a n d  a s s e s s e d 
the appropriateness of the valuation 
method adopted by management with 
the involvement of our internal valuation 
experts;

– P e r f o r m e d  r e t r o s p e c t i v e  r e v i e w  b y 
comparing the prior year’s cash f low 
forecasts with the current year’s actual 
resu l t s  to  cons ider  whether  the key 
assumptions applied in the forecasts had 
been subject to management bias and to 
assess the effectiveness of management’s 
estimation process;
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

The goodwill impairment assessment involves 
significant judgments and estimates which 
include the adoption of appropriate valuation 
method and the use of key assumptions, 
including revenue growth rates and gross profit 
margins during the forecast period, terminal 
growth rates and pre-tax discount rates, 
which are subject to high degree of estimation 
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the 
goodwill impairment assessment is considered 
significant due to uncertainty of significant 
assumptions used.

Based on the results of the goodwill impairment 
assessment conducted, management considered 
no impairment charge needed to be provided for 
the year ended 31 December 2024.

We focused on this area due to that the goodwill 
impairment assessment involves significant 
judgments and estimates.

– C h a l l e n g e d  a n d  a s s e s s e d  t h e 
reasonableness of the key assumptions 
adopted in the cash f low forecasts , 
taking into consideration the historical 
performance, the budgets and p lans 
approved by management, and the industry 
forecasts and market developments;

– Evaluated the reasonableness of discount 
rates applied in the calculation of VIU with 
the involvement of our internal valuation 
experts by comparing them against the 
industry or market data to assess whether 
the discount rates applied were within the 
range of those adopted by comparable 
companies in the same industry;

– Eva luated management ’ s  sens i t i v i t y 
a n a l y s i s  p e r f o r m e d  o v e r  t h e  k e y 
assumptions adopted in the impairment 
assessment  to  assess  the  po ten t ia l 
implications of changes in assumptions 
within a reasonable range on the results of 
the impairment assessment; and

– A s s e s s e d  t h e  a p p r o p r i a t e n e s s  a n d 
adequacy of  the d isc losures re lated 
to goodwil l impairment assessment in 
accordance with the applicable accounting 
standards.

Based on the above procedures, we found the 
significant judgments and estimates applied in 
management’s goodwill impairment assessment 
were supported by the evidence we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

Fair value measurement of financial assets 
at FVPL

Refer to Notes 3.3 and 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s financial 
assets at FVPL amounted to approximately 
RMB918,256,000. The net fair value gains on 
the financial assets at FVPL for the year ended 
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately 
RMB81,445,000.

Management determined the fair values of 
the financial assets at FVPL at the end of the 
reporting period as follows:

– F o r  i n v e s t m e n t s  i n  l i s t e d  e n t i t i e s , 
management determined the fair values of 
these investments based on quoted market 
prices;

– For investments in unlisted entities, the 
Group engaged external valuers to assist 
them to determine the fair values of these 
financial assets, which involved significant 
j udgments  and es t imates ,  i nc lud ing 
the adoption of appropriate valuation 
techniques (income approach or market 
approach) and the use of key assumptions 
under income approach (including revenue 
growth rates and gross profit margins 
during the forecast period, terminal growth 
rates and discount rates) and significant 
unobservable valuation input under market 
approach (including enterprise value to 
sales multiple, price to sales multiple and 
discounts for lack of marketability), which 
are subject to high degree of estimation 
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation 
to the fair value measurement of financial 
assets at FVPL is considered significant due 
to uncertainty of significant assumptions 
and unobservable input used.

We have per fo rmed the fo l low ing aud i t 
p r o c e d u r e s  t o  a d d r e s s  t h e  f a i r  v a l u e 
measurement of f inancial assets at FVPL 
included:

– U n d e r s t o o d ,  e v a l u a t e d ,  a n d  t e s t e d 
management’s key controls in relation to 
the fair value measurement of financial 
a s s e t s  a t  F V P L  a n d  a s s e s s e d  t h e 
inherent risks of material misstatement 
by considering the degree of estimation 
uncertainty and the level of other inherent 
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, 
changes and susceptibility to management 
bias and other fraud risk factors;

– Assessed the competency, capabilities and 
objectivity of the external valuers engaged 
by the Group;

– O b t a i n e d  t h e  v a l u a t i o n  r e p o r t s  o f 
these f inanc ia l  assets and assessed 
the appropriateness of the valuation 
methods adopted by management with 
the involvement of our internal valuation 
experts;

– For investments in listed entities, checked 
the fair values determined by management 
against the quoted market prices;

– For investments in unlisted entities with 
fair value determined using the income 
approach:

• P e r f o r m e d  r e t r o s p e c t i v e  r e v i e w  b y 
comparing the prior year’s cash f low 
forecasts with the current year’s actual 
resu l t s  to  cons ider  whether  the key 
assumptions applied in the forecasts had 
been subject to management bias and to 
assess the effectiveness of management’s 
estimation process;
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Key Audit Matter
How our audit addressed the
Key Audit Matter

We focused on this area due to the significance 
of the net fair value gains recognized for 
the year and the significant judgments and 
estimates involved in the fair value measurement 
of the financial assets at FVPL.

• C h a l l e n g e d  a n d  a s s e s s e d  t h e 
reasonableness of the key assumptions 
adopted in the cash f low forecasts , 
taking into consideration the historical 
performance, the approved budgets and 
plans, and the industry forecasts and 
market developments; and

• Evaluated the reasonableness of discount 
rates applied in the calculation with the 
involvement of our internal valuation 
experts by comparing them against the 
industry or market data to assess whether 
the discount rates applied were within the 
range of those adopted by comparable 
companies in the same industry.

– For investments in unlisted entities with 
fa i r  va lue  dete rmined us ing market 
approach, evaluated the reasonableness 
of the significant unobservable input with 
the involvement of our internal valuation 
experts by comparing them against the 
industry or market data.

– A s s e s s e d  t h e  a p p r o p r i a t e n e s s  a n d 
adequacy of the disclosures related to the 
fair value measurement of financial assets 
at FVPL in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards.

Based on the above procedures, we found the 
significant judgments and estimates involved in 
the fair value measurement of financial assets 
at FVPL were supported by the evidence we 
obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wilson W.Y. 
Chow.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 
Revenue 6 3,086,742 3,950,585

Including: interest revenue 6 168,940 130,805

Cost of revenue 9 (2,357,978) (3,212,421)
 

Gross profit 728,764 738,164
 

Selling expenses 9 (111,208) (124,971)

Administrative expenses 9 (302,131) (338,833)

Research and development expenses 9 (237,570) (265,572)

Net impairment losses on financial assets 3.1(b) (88,183) (57,843)

Other income 7 25,191 56,256

Fair value changes of financial assets and financial 
 liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – net 20, 32 81,051 144,563

Other gains/(losses) - net 8 19,587 (26,750)

Operating profit 115,501 125,014

Finance costs 11 (61,584) (89,937)

Share of profits of investments accounted for 
 using the equity method 14 29,530 357

Profit before income tax 83,447 35,434

Income tax expense 12 (10,433) (25,321)

Profit for the year 73,014 10,113

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 82,452 11,627

Non-controlling interests (9,438) (1,514)

73,014 10,113
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Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to 
 profit or loss:

Currency translation differences 22,302 9,590

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit 
 or loss:

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of 
 investments accounted for using the equity method 555 (40)

Currency translation differences (29,492) (6,298)

(28,937) (6,338)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, 
 net of tax (6,635) 3,252

Total comprehensive income for the year 66,379 13,365

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 75,817 14,879

Non-controlling interests (9,438) (1,514)

66,379 13,365

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders 
 of the Company (expressed in RMB per share)

– Basic 13 0.22 0.03

– Diluted 13 0.22 0.03
    

The notes on pages 119 to 249 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 47,155 66,539

Intangible assets 17 479,506 478,865

Investments accounted for using the equity method 14 167,953 134,721

Prepayments and other receivables 23(a) 45,876 42,362

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 913,734 827,342

Long-term bank deposits 21 – 80,996

Deferred tax assets 33(c) 57,123 57,853

Other non-current assets 18 102,132 185,199

1,813,479 1,873,877

Current assets

Inventories 1,551 2,433

Loan receivables 24 658,127 882,332

Trade receivables 22 380,966 355,059

Prepayments and other receivables 23(b) 2,524,369 2,292,171

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 4,522 13,594

Restricted cash 25 1,714,296 2,097,246

Cash and cash equivalents 25 595,719 887,909

Other current assets 12,447 15,740

5,891,997 6,546,484

Total assets 7,705,476 8,420,361

EQUITY

Share capital and share premium 26 3,106,814 3,094,193

Reserves 27 (1,446,245) (1,310,601)

Retained earnings 1,004,669 924,284

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 2,665,238 2,707,876

Non-controlling interests (75,735) (90,475)

Total equity 2,589,503 2,617,401
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As at 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 16(a) 16,767 28,896

Deferred tax liabilities 33(c) 83,249 78,264

Convertible bonds 34 – 405,539

Bank and other borrowings 31 3,000 –

103,016 512,699

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 30 3,922,776 4,321,666

Contract liabilities 29 23,393 26,073

Current tax liabilities 118,630 115,059

Lease liabilities 16(a) 19,165 22,521

Bank and other borrowings 31 928,993 780,062

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 32 – 24,880

5,012,957 5,290,261

Total liabilities 5,115,973 5,802,960

Total equity and liabilities 7,705,476 8,420,361
    

The notes on pages 119 to 249 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 111 to 249 were approved and authorized for issue 
by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf.

Liu Yingqi Yao Zhijian

Director Director
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CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders of the Company 
Reserves 

Share 
capital 

and share 
premium

Treasury 
shares

Conversion 
option 

reserve
Other 

reserves Sub-total
Retained 
earnings Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  
Balance at 1 January 2024 3,094,193 (1,282,364) 97,861 (126,098) (1,310,601) 924,284 2,707,876 (90,475) 2,617,401

Profit for the year – – – – – 82,452 82,452 (9,438) 73,014

Other comprehensive loss – – – (6,635) (6,635) – (6,635) – (6,635)

Total comprehensive income – – – (6,635) (6,635) 82,452 75,817 (9,438) 66,379

Transact ions wi th equi ty 
holders

Buy-back of shares for the 
purpose of cancellation 26, 27 (41,285) 41,285 – – 41,285 – – – –

Buy-back of shares for the 
p u r p o s e  o f  s h a r e  a w a r d 
schemes 26, 27 – (47,343) – – (47,343) – (47,343) – (47,343)

Acquisition of additional equity 
interests in non-wholly owned 
subsidiaries 36 – – – (69,798) (69,798) – (69,798) 40,431 (29,367)

Repurchase and redemption of 
convertible bonds 34 – – (97,861) – (97,861) – (97,861) – (97,861)

Share award schemes:

– value of employee services 35(b) – – – 102,759 102,759 – 102,759 – 102,759

– transfer shares to awardees 
upon vesting 26, 27 53,906 1 – (64,519) (64,518) – (10,612) – (10,612)

Share option schemes:

– value of employee services 35(a) – – – 4,400 4,400 – 4,400 – 4,400

Profit appropriations to 
statutory reserves 27 – – – 2,337 2,337 (2,337) – – –

Profit appropriations to risk 
reserves 27 – – – (270) (270) 270 – – –

Dividends paid to non-
controlling interests – – – – – – – (16,253) (16,253)

12,621 (6,057) (97,861) (25,091) (129,009) (2,067) (118,455) 24,178 (94,277)

Balance at 31 December 2024 3,106,814 (1,288,421) – (157,824) (1,446,245) 1,004,669 2,665,238 (75,735) 2,589,503
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company 
Reserves 

Share 
capital 

and share 
premium

Treasury 
shares

Conversion 
option 

reserve
Other 

reserves Sub-total
Retained 
earnings Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     
Balance at 1 January 2023 3,069,939 (1,147,025) 97,861 (167,246) (1,216,410) 916,806 2,770,335 (89,068) 2,681,267

Profit for the year – – – – – 11,627 11,627 (1,514) 10,113

Other comprehensive income – – – 3,252 3,252 – 3,252 – 3,252

Total comprehensive income – – – 3,252 3,252 11,627 14,879 (1,514) 13,365

Transact ions wi th equi ty 
holders

Buy-back of shares for the 
purpose of cancellation 26, 27 (10,143) (31,535) – – (31,535) – (41,678) – (41,678)

Buy-back of shares for the 
p u r p o s e  o f  s h a r e  a w a r d 
schemes 27 – (103,804) – – (103,804) – (103,804) – (103,804)

Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – – – – 107 107

Share award schemes:

– value of employee services 35(b) – – – 77,653 77,653 – 77,653 – 77,653

– transfer shares to awardees 
upon vesting 26, 27 34,397 – – (46,182) (46,182) – (11,785) – (11,785)

Share option schemes:

– value of employee services 35(a) – – – 2,276 2,276 – 2,276 – 2,276

Profit appropriations to 
statutory reserves 27 – – – 4,091 4,091 (4,091) – – –

Profit appropriations to risk 
reserves – – – 58 58 (58) – – –

24,254 (135,339) – 37,896 (97,443) (4,149) (77,338) 107 (77,231)

Balance at 31 December 2023 3,094,193 (1,282,364) 97,861 (126,098) (1,310,601) 924,284 2,707,876 (90,475) 2,617,401
    

The notes on pages 119 to 249 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 
2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000  
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated/(used in) from operations 38(a) 165,229 (283,381)

Interest received 20,174 37,541

Interest paid 11,34 (63,931) (67,176)

Income tax paid (2,559) (4,189)

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating 
activities 118,913 (317,205)

Cash flows from investing activities

Prepayment for construction of office building (4,836) (20,886)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
 intangible assets (3,345) (7,987)

Payments for other non-current assets (33,230) (119,769)

Payments for investments in associate 14 (2,221) (1,834)

Payments for purchase of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss – (45,864)

Proceeds from/payment for long-term bank deposits 21 80,996 (80,996)

Advance to an associate 39(a)(vii) (11,074) (38,000)

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss 1,019 18,614

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 24 –

Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries 37 730 885

Consideration paid for acquisition of Beijing 
Chuangxinzhong Technology Co., Ltd. 32 (21,855) (25,624)

Net cash generated from/(used in)  
investing activities 6,208 (321,461)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 
2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000  
Cash flows from financing activities

Payments for buy-back of ordinary shares 26, 27 (47,343) (145,482)

Proceeds from bank borrowings 31 1,066,201 1,100,862

Transactions with non-controlling interests 36 (5,040) –

Repayments of bank borrowings 31 (914,270) (1,001,190)

Repurchase of convertible bonds 34 (494,994) –

Payments for the principal elements of lease liabilities 
(including interest paid) 16(c) (24,344) (26,659)

Net cash used in financing activities (419,790) (72,469)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (294,669) (711,135)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 887,909 1,591,508

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents 2,479 7,536

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 595,719 887,909
    

The notes on pages 119 to 249 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information

1.1 General information

Yeahka Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 
September 2011, as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law 
(Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address 
of the Company’s registered office is Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 31119, Grand 
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, ky1-1205, Cayman Islands. 
The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited since 1 June 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries, 
including structured entities set out in Note 1.2 (collectively, the “Group”), are principally 
engaged in the provision of one-stop payment services, merchant solution services and 
in-store e-commerce services to retail merchants and consumers in the People’s Republic 
of China (the “PRC”).

Mr. Liu Yingqi (“Mr. Liu”), is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are presented 
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except 
when otherwise indicated. These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024 have been approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) of 
the Company on 27 March 2025.
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1 General information (Continued)

1.2 Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (including structured entities) of the Group as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below:

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and kind of 
legal entity

Principal 
activities 
and place 
of operation

Issued and 
paid-in capital/

registered 
capital

Ownership/
beneficial interest 
held by the Group
as at 31 December

Ownership/
beneficial

interest held by non-
controlling interests 

as at 
31 December Notes

2024 2023 2024 2023
Direct interest
Yeahka Technology Limited Hong Kong/limited 

 liability company
Investment holding/
 Hong Kong

HKD100/HKD100 100% 100% – –

Clear Joyous Global Limited 
 (“Clear Joyous”)

British Virgin Islands
 /limited liability 
 company

Investment holding
 /British Virgin 
 Islands

USD2/USD50,000 100% 100% – –

IVP Growth I Limited 
 (“IVP Growth”)

Cayman Islands/
 limited liability 
 company

Investment holding
 /British Virgin 
 Islands

USD176/USD176 90% 90% 10% 10%

Indirect interest
Yeahka Technology (Shenzhen) 
 Co., Ltd. (“Yeahka WFOE”) *
 宜卡科技(深圳)有限公司

PRC/wholly foreign 
 owned enterprise

Investment holding/
 PRC

USD52,069,736/
USD56,637,207

100% 100% – –

Shenzhen Yeahka Technology 
 Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Yeahka”) *
 深圳市移卡科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Payment terminal 
 and mobile 
 payment services/
 PRC

RMB200,000,000/
RMB200,000,000

100% 100% – – (a)(b)

Leshua Payment Technology 
 Co., Ltd. (“Leshua”) * 
 樂刷支付科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Payment terminal 
 and mobile 
 payment services/
 PRC

RMB101,000,000/
RMB200,000,000

100% 100% – – (a)(b)

Shenzhen Qianhai Saosao 
 Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Qianhai Saosao”) *
 深圳市前海掃掃科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Marketing services/
 PRC

RMB380,000,000/
RMB380,000,000

100% 100% – –

Shenzhen Leshou Cloud Technology 
 Co., Ltd.* (“Leshou”)
 深圳市樂售雲科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Software as a service 
 (“SaaS”) services/
 PRC

RMB18,237,000/
RMB300,000,000

100% 100% – –
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and kind of 
legal entity

Principal 
activities 
and place 
of operation

Issued and 
paid-in capital/

registered 
capital

Ownership/
beneficial interest 
held by the Group
as at 31 December

Ownership/
beneficial

interest held by non-
controlling interests 

as at 
31 December Notes

2024 2023 2024 2023
Shenzhen Feiquan Cloud Data 
 Service Co., Ltd.* 
 (“Feiquan Cloud”) 
 深圳市飛泉雲數據服務有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Fintech services/PRC RMB300,000,000/
RMB300,000,000

100% 100% – –

Shenzhen Qianhai Feiquan 
 Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.*
 深圳前海飛泉商業保理有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
company

Fintech services/PRC RMB60,000,000/
RMB60,000,000

100% 100% – –

Expanded Treasure Technology 
 Limited (“Expanded Treasure”)

Hong Kong/limited 
 liability company

Investment holding/
 Hong Kong

HKD-/HKD1 100% 100% – –

Guangzhou Feiquan small loan 
 Co., Ltd.* 
 廣州飛泉小額貸款有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Fintech services/PRC RMB400,000,000/
RMB400,000,000

100% 100% – – (a)(b)

Shenzhen Letuobao Technology 
 Co., Ltd. (“Letuobao”) * 
 深圳樂拓寶科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Marketing services/
 PRC

USD-/USD2,000,000 100% 100% – –

Beijing Chuangxinzhong 
 Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Chuangxinzhong”) * 
 北京創信眾科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Marketing services/
 PRC

RMB2,869,286/
RMB11,869,286

100% 85% – 15%

Tianjin Chuangxinzhong 
 Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Tianjin Chuangxinzhong”)*
 天津創信眾科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Marketing services/
 PRC

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

100% 85% – 15%

Shenzhen Leshua Shangquan 
 Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Leshua Shangquan”) *
 深圳市樂刷商圈科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Platform services/
 PRC

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

65% 65% 35% 35%

1 General information (Continued)

1.2 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (including structured entities) of the Group as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: (Continued)
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and kind of 
legal entity

Principal 
activities 
and place 
of operation

Issued and 
paid-in capital/

registered 
capital

Ownership/
beneficial interest 
held by the Group
as at 31 December

Ownership/
beneficial

interest held by non-
controlling interests 

as at 
31 December Notes

2024 2023 2024 2023
Shenzhen Lejuquan Technology 
 Co., Ltd. (“Lejuquan”) *
 深圳樂聚圈科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Marketing services/
 PRC

RMB10,000,000/
RMB10,000,000

100% 100% – –

Guangzhou Feiquan Financing 
 Guarantee Co., Ltd.*
 廣州飛泉融資擔保有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Investment in debts/
 PRC

RMB220,000,000/
RMB220,000,000

100% 100% – – (a)(b)

Dingding Cultural Tourism 
 (Chengdu) Co., Ltd.* 
 (“Dingding Cultural”) *
 鼎鼎文化旅遊成都有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Platform services/
 PRC

RMB2,500,000/
RMB2,500,000

60% 60% 40% 40%

Chengdu Qianqian Culture tourism 
 Development Co. Ltd*
 成都千千文化旅遊發展有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Platform services/
 PRC

RMB-/
RMB1,000,000

100% 60% – 40%

Zhejiang Shanxi Network 
 Technology Co., Ltd. 
 (“Zhejiang Shanxi”)* 
 浙江剡璽網絡科技有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Platform services/
 PRC

RMB2,000,000/
RMB17,930,584

44% 44% 56% 56% (c)

Leshua Culture Media 
 (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd.*
 樂刷文化傳媒（揚州）有限公司

PRC/limited liability 
 company

Platform services/
 PRC

RMB-/
RMB500,000

100% 100% – –

Aile technology Limited (“Aile”)*
 愛樂科技有限公司

Hong Kong/limited 
 liability company

Platform services/
 Hong Kong

HKD-/HKD500,000 100% – N/A N/A

Yeahpay Singapore PTE. LTD. 
 (“Yeahpay Singapore”)

Singapore/limited 
 liability company

Platform services/
 Singapore

SGD-/SGD500,000 100% – N/A N/A

Yeah United Holding Limited 
 (“Yeah United”)

British Virgin 
 Islands/limited 
 liability company

Employee Trust/
 British Virgin 
 Islands

USD-/USD1 100% 100% – – (b)

Yeah Talent Holding Limited 
 (“Yeah Talent”)

British Virgin 
 Islands/limited 
 liability company

Employee Trust/
 British Virgin 
 Islands

USD-/USD1 100% 100% – – (b)

         

1 General information (Continued)

1.2 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (including structured entities) of the Group as at 
31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below: (Continued)
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1 General information (Continued)

1.2 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) The regulations in the PRC restrict foreign investments in companies that provide 
value-added telecommunication services, payment services and micro-credit 
businesses, which include certain activities and services operated by the Group 
through Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries, which are companies incorporated in 
the PRC and controlled by Mr Liu. In order to enable certain foreign companies to 
make investments into these businesses of the Group, Yeahka WFOE was established 
in May 2012 in the PRC, and entered into contractual arrangements with Shenzhen 
Yeahka and its then registered owners in order to gain management control over, 
and enjoys all economic benefits of Shenzhen Yeahka through a series of contractual 
arrangements. The details of those contractual arrangements are set out in Note 
42.1.1(a). Through these contractual arrangements, the Company is able to effectively 
control, recognize and receive substantially all the economic benefits and operations 
of the Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, these PRC entities are 
treated as structured entities controlled by the Company and the financial positions 
and results of operations of these PRC entities have been consolidated since the 
respective dates when the Company first obtained control over them.

(b) All these entities are structured entities of the Group.

(c) The Group has entered into a consensus action agreement with several shareholders 
of Zhejiang Shanxi. Such shareholders agree to act as a connected person in 
accordance with the Group’s intention and unconditionally and irrevocably exercise 
voting rights in accordance with the Group’s. Accordingly, Zhejiang Shanxi is 
controlled by the Company and its financial position and results of operation have 
been consolidated since the respective date when the Company first obtained control 
over it.

* The English names of companies established in the PRC are translations of 
their Chinese names at the best effort of the directors of the Company (the 
“Directors”) as they do not have official English names.
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2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS Accounting Standards and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements 
comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVPL”), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting 
Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 4 below.

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time for their annual 
reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

• Amendments to IAS 1 –Non-current liabilities with covenants

• Amendments to IFRS 16 – Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback

• Amendment to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognized in 
prior periods and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted

Standards and amendments that have been issued but not yet effective at 1 January 
2024 and not been early adopted by the Group during the year are as follows:

Effective for
annual periods
beginning
on or after

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

Amendments to IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 7

Classification and Measurement of 
Financial Instruments

1 January 2026

Annual improvements to IFRS Volume 11 1 January 2026

Amendments to IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2027

Amendment to IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements

1 January 2027

Amendments to IFRS 10 and 
IAS 28

Sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its 
associate or joint venture

To be determined

The Group will adopt the above new or revised standards and amendments to existing 
standards as and when they become effective. Management has performed preliminary 
assessment and does not anticipate any significant impact on the Group’s financial 
position and results of operations upon adopting these standards and amendments to the 
existing IFRSs.
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3 Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
foreign exchange risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk 
management is carried out by the senior management of the Group.

(a) Market risk

(1) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognized assets and liabilities in 
currency other than the Group entities’ respective functional currency and net 
investments in foreign operations.

The Group operates mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in 
RMB, management considers that the business is not exposed to any significant 
foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial assets or liabilities 
of the Group that are denominated in the currencies other than the respective 
functional currencies of the Group’s entities. The Group did not enter into any 
forward contract to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(2) Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. Borrowings obtained 
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group 
currently has not entered into any interest rate swap contract and will only 
consider for hedging of significant interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of the Group which were bearing 
at f loating rates amounted to approximately RMB125,990,000 (2023: 
RMB171,000,000). As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates on borrowings at 
floating rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower with all other variables 
held constant, interest charges for the year ended 31 December 2024 would 
increase/decrease by approximately RMB1,259,900 (2023: RMB1,710,000).
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and cash equivalents, 
restricted cash, trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables. The Group 
also provided guarantees in offering loan facilitation services for loans granted 
by certain of the Group’s loan facilitation partners. Pursuant to the terms of the 
guarantees, upon default in repayments by the debtors, the Group will be responsible 
to repay the outstanding loan principals together with accrued interest and penalty 
owed by the debtors to certain of the Group’s loan facilitation partners.

(1) Risk management

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, 
the Group places deposits in state-owned financial institutions in the PRC or 
reputable banks, financial institutions having high-credit-quality in the PRC and 
Cayman Islands.

To manage risk arising from trade receivables and other receivables, the Group 
has policies in place to ensure that sale of services is made to customers with 
an appropriate credit history. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure 
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group 
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual receivable to 
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

To manage risk arising from loan receivables, standardised credit management 
procedures are performed. The Group conducts holistic assessment on 
credit worthiness of loan applicants, which consist of automatic preliminary 
assessment, screening, and manual assessment. The management makes 
periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the 
recoverability of loan receivables based on historical settlement records and 
past experiences incorporating forward-looking information.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade 
receivables, loan receivables and other receivables represent the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024, the maximum exposure arising from the provision 
of financial guarantee to certain loan facilitation parties amounted to 
approximately RMB888,487,000 (31 December 2023: RMB551,723,000), being 
the principals and interests of the underlying loans which were granted by the 
Group’s loan facilitation partners with terms ranging from 3 to 12 months.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets

The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure subject to 
impairment. The amount of financial assets below also represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets at 
 amortised cost 
 (IFRS 9)

Cash and cash 
 equivalents (i) 595,719 – 595,719 887,909 – 887,909

Restricted cash (i) 1,714,296 – 1,714,296 2,097,246 – 2,097,246

Trade receivables (ii) 400,421 (19,455) 380,966 376,012 (20,953) 355,059

Loan receivables (iii)

– Stage 1 663,896 (6,575) 657,321 899,129 (22,065) 877,064

– Stage 2 3,961 (3,401) 560 13,754 (9,790) 3,964

– Stage 3 10,078 (9,832) 246 13,216 (11,912) 1,304

Other receivables (iii)

– Stage 1 2,529,797 (7,804) 2,521,993 2,290,060 (7,965) 2,282,095

– Stage 3 29,595 (29,595) – 35,754 (35,754) –
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash

While the Group’s cash and cash equivalent and restricted cash are subject 
to the impairment requirement of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss 
was immaterial.

(ii) Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit 
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected 
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit 
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on the share credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rate are based on the overdue aging profiles of trade 
receivables and the corresponding historical credit losses expected. The 
historical loss are then adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on macro-economic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables.

The following table contains an analysis of allowance for trade receivables 
based on overdue aging:

31 December 2024 Current

Less than 
90 days 

past due

More than 
270 days 
past due Total

Expected loss 
 rate 0.77% 14.36% 100.00% 4.86%

Gross carrying 
 amount 
 (RMB’000) 383,070 968 16,383 400,421

Loss allowance 
 (RMB’000) 2,933 139 16,383 19,455
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Trade receivables (Continued)

31 December 2023 Current

Less than 
90 days 

past due

90-180 
days 

past due

180-270 
days 

past due

More than 
270 days 
past due Total

Expected loss rate 0.68% 9.32% 19.51% 27.87% 100.00% 5.57%

Gross carrying amount 
 (RMB’000) 348,177 9,684 492 122 17,537 376,012

Loss allowance 
 (RMB’000) 2,383 903 96 34 17,537 20,953
       

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 reconcile 
to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
At the beginning of the year 20,953 29,531

Reversal for expected credit loss (1,498) (8,578)
 

At the end of the year 19,455 20,953
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables and loan receivables

Other receivables mainly comprise balances resulted from the Group’s 
principal activities with various business partners. Loan receivables 
comprise the principle and interest arising from micro-credit business. 
Impairment on these financial assets are measured as either 12-month 
estimated credit losses (“ECL”) or lifetime expected credit loss, depending 
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has 
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime 
ECL. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the 
Group compares risk of a default occurring on the assets at the reporting 
date with the risk of default as the data of initial recognition. Especially 
the following indicators are incorporated:

• external credit rating, if applicable;

• actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial 
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 
change to the customer’s ability to meet its obligations; and

• significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of 
the borrowers, including changes in payment status of borrowers in 
the group and changes in the operating results of the borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor for loan 
receivables is past due. Under such a case, loan receivables are classified 
as stage 2 and subject to lifetime expected losses provision. When loan 
receivables become past due for more than 90 days, they are treated as 
credit-impaired and therefore classified as stage 3.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables and loan receivables (Continued)

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial recognition are 
classified in stage 1 and the expected credit losses are measured as 
12-month expected credit losses. If a significant increase in credit risk of 
other receivable has occurred since initial recognition, the financial asset 
is moved to ‘stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. The 
expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit loss. If 
any financial asset is credit-impaired, it is then moved to ‘stage 3’ and the 
expected credit loss is measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

Other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery and loan receivables are written off when interest and/or 
principal repayments are 180 days past due or there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Where these financial assets have been 
written off, the Group continues to engage in follow-up actions such as 
enforcement activities to attempt recover the receivables due. Where 
recoveries are made, these are recognized in profit or loss.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables and loan receivables (Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Company’s expected 
credit loss model for other receivables and loan receivables is as follows:

Category

Group definition of category Basis for recognition 
of ECL provisionLoan receivables Other receivables  

Stage 1-Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a strong 
 capacity to meet contractual cash flows

12-month ECL, where the 
expected lifetime of 
an asset is less than 
12 months, expected 
losses are measured 
at its expected lifetime

Stage 2-Under-
 performing

Loans for which there is a 
significant increase in 
credit risk; as significant 
increase in credit risk 
is presumed if interest 
and/or principal 
repayments are past 
due

Other receivables for 
which a significant 
increase in credit risk 
has occurred compared 
to original expectations; 
a significant increase in 
credit risk is presumed 
or adverse changes 
in solvency and 
operational capabilities

Lifetime ECL

Stage 3-Non-
 performing

Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 90 days 
past due or it becomes 
probable a customer 
lose solvency

It becomes probable a 
customer will enter 
bankruptcy

Lifetime ECL

Write-off Interest and/or principal 
repayments are 180 
days past due or 
there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery

There is no reasonable 
 expectation of recovery

Assets are written off
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Other receivables and loan receivables (Continued)

Movement on the provision for expected credit loss allowance of loan 
receivables are set out as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
At the beginning of the year 43,767 14,836

Provision for expected credit loss 89,144 61,056

Write-off (113,103) (32,125)

At the end of the year 19,808 43,767
   

Movement on the provision for expected credit loss allowance of other 
receivables are set out as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
At the beginning of the year 43,719 38,349

Provision for expected credit loss 537 5,365

Write off of bad debts (6,865) –

Currency translation difference 8 5

At the end of the year 37,399 43,719
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic 
nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by 
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
grouping, based on the remaining period at each balance sheet date as compared to 
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2

years

Between 
2 and 5

years
Above 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2024

Trade payables 251,302 – – – 251,302

Other payables and accruals (excluding 
accrual for payroll and welfare 
allowances, dividends payable, interest 
payable and other taxes payable) 3,579,070 – – – 3,579,070

Lease liabilities 21,314 13,661 3,184 – 38,159

Bank and other borrowings (including 
interest payment) 946,780 3,020 – – 949,800

Financial guarantee (Note 3.1(b)(1)) 888,487 – – – 888,487
     

5,686,953 16,681 3,184 – 5,706,818
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2

years

Between 
2 and 5

years
Above 

5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2023

Trade payables 274,711 – – – 274,711

Other payables and accruals (excluding accrual 
for payroll and welfare allowances, interest 
payable and other taxes payable) 3,942,052 – – – 3,942,052

Lease liabilities 22,107 16,097 17,363 – 55,567

Bank and other borrowings (including interest 
payment) 794,842 – – – 794,842

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss 24,880 – – – 24,880

Convertible bonds (including interest payment) 
assuming no conversion 30,987 30,987 557,763 – 619,737

Financial guarantee (Note 3.1(b)(1)) 551,723 – – – 551,723      
5,641,302 47,084 575,126 – 6,263,512

      

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and support the sustainable growth of the Group in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to enhance equity holders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 
assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as 
net debt divided by total equity.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Capital management (Continued)

The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net debt (Note 38(c)) 372,206 349,109

Total equity 2,589,503 2,617,401

Gearing ratio 14% 13%
   

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023 by level of inputs adopted in the valuation techniques used 
for measuring fair value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value 
hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) (level 2); and

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that 
is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value as at 31 December 2024.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    
Assets

Financial assets at FVPL 4,522 – 913,734 918,256
    

Liabilities

Contingent consideration and 
others – – – –
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value as at 31 December 2023.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets

Financial assets at FVPL 13,594 – 827,342 840,936     
Liabilities

Contingent consideration and 
others – – 24,880 24,880

     

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is determined based on 
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active 
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is 
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use 
of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity 
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required for evaluating the fair value of a 
financial instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

• Dealer quotes for similar instruments;

• The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves; and

• Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair 
value for financial instruments.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no transfer between level 
1 and 2 for recurring fair value measurements. The significant methods used to determine 
the fair value and the fair value changes in level 3 financial instruments are presented in 
Note 20 and 32.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Level 3)

A team in the finance department of the Group performs the valuations of financial 
instruments required for financial reporting purposes, including the Level 3 fair values. 
This team reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”). Discussions of valuation 
processes and results are held between the CFO and the valuation team at least twice a 
year.

At each financial year end the finance department:

• verifies all major inputs to the valuation report;

• assesses valuation movements when compared to the prior year valuation report; 
and

• holds discussions with the independent valuer.

Changes in Level 3 fair values are analysed at each reporting date during the bi-annual 
valuation discussions between the CFO and the valuation team. As part of this discussion, 
the team presents a report that explains the reasons for the fair value movements.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities including cash and 
cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables, loan receivables, trade 
and other payables and borrowings approximate to their fair values due to their short 
maturities.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Level 3) (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 item for the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023.

Unlisted equity 
securities

RMB’000

Opening balance 1 January 2023 634,171

Acquisitions 10,000

Disposals (2,205)

Changes in fair value 185,144

Currency translation differences 232

Closing balances 31 December 2023 827,342

Opening balance 1 January 2024 827,342

Acquisitions 7,254

Disposals (10,579)

Changes in fair value 89,603

Currency translation differences 114

Closing balances 31 December 2024 913,734
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Valuation processes of the Group (Level 3) (Continued)

The following table summarizes the quantitative information about the significant 
unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements.

Description Fair value
Significant 
unobservable input Range of input

Relationship between 
unobservable input and 
fair values  

As at 31 December As at 31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Non-current financial 
 assets at FVPL

913,734 827,342 Discounts for lack 
 of marketability 
 (“DLOM”)

25.00%-
35.00%

25.00%-
30.00%

the higher the DLOM, the 
lower the fair value

Enterprise value to 
 sales (“EV/Sales”)
 multiple

2.09-2.40 1.90-6.80 the higher the EV/Sales 
multiple, the higher the fair 
value

Price to sales 
 (“P/S”) multiple

8.00 14.40 the higher the P/S multiple, 
the higher the fair value

Revenue growth 
 rate

4.0%-52.6% 8.0%-
66.9%

the higher the revenue 
growth rate, the higher the 
fair value

Growth profit 
 margin

9.1%-93.8% 24.8%-
60.0%

the higher the growth profit 
margin, the higher the fair 
value

Terminal growth 
 rate

2.0%-2.5% 2.5% the higher the terminal 
growth rate, the higher the 
fair value

Pre-tax discount 
 rate

17.0%-
20.0%

19.5%-
20.4%

the higher the discount rate, 
the lower the fair value
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on 
the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Management of the Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below:

(a) Revenue recognition-gross or net basis presentation

The determination of revenues should be reported on a gross or net basis is based 
on an assessment of whether the Group is acting as the principal or an agent in the 
transactions. In determining whether the Group acts as the principal or an agent, the 
Group follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations in IFRS 15. 
Details are set out in Note 6.

(b) Current income taxes (“CIT”) and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the PRC and other jurisdictions. Judgment is 
required in determining the provision for income taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There 
are transactions and calculations during the ordinary course of business for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination 
is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are 
recognized when management considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilized. When 
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the 
recognition of deferred income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which 
such estimate is changed.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(c) Expected credit loss for trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables

The impairment provisions for trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables 
are made based on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment 
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, which 
is based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking 
estimates made at the end of each reporting period. For details of the key assumptions 
and inputs used, see Note 3.1(b). Changes in these assumptions and estimates could 
materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make additional 
impairment charge to the profit or loss.

(d) Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

The fair value of options is determined by the binomial option-pricing model at grant date 
and is expected to be expensed over the respective vesting period. Significant estimate 
on assumptions, including risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and dividend yield are 
made by the Directors with the assistance of an independent valuer.

(e) Contractual arrangement for structured entities

As disclosed in Note 42.1.1, the Group conducts certain part of its business through 
Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries. Due to the regulatory restrictions on the foreign 
ownership in the PRC, the Group does not have any equity interest in Shenzhen Yeahka. 
The Directors assessed, with reference to the opinion of the Company’s PRC legal 
advisors, whether or not the Group has control over Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries 
by assessing whether it has the rights to variable returns from its involvement with 
Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries. Based on the above assessment, 
the Directors concluded that the Group has control over Shenzhen Yeahka and its 
subsidiaries as a result of the contractual arrangements. Accordingly, the financial 
position and the operating results of Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries are included in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements since the respective dates of incorporation. 
Nevertheless, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct legal 
ownership in providing the Group with direct control over Shenzhen Yeahka and its 
subsidiaries and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the 
Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of Shenzhen Yeahka and 
its subsidiaries. The Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the 
contractual arrangements among Yeahka WFOE, Shenzhen Yeahka and its equity holders 
are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and 
enforceable.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss

The fair value assessment of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss that are measured at level 3 fair value hierarchy requires significant estimates, which 
include estimating the future cash flows, determining appropriate discount rates and 
other assumptions disclosed in Notes 3.3, 20 and 32.

(g) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill suffered any impairment in accordance with 
the accounting policy states in Note 17(a). Determining whether goodwill is impaired 
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of cash generating units (“CGU”) or a 
group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. The recoverable amount of a CGU 
or a group of CGUs is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the 
use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management.

Details of impairment charge, key assumptions which are made by the management and 
third-party valuer and impact of possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed in 
Note 17.
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5 Segment information

The Group’s business activities are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the chief operating 
decision – maker (“CODM”). The CODM has been identified as the chief executive officer 
(“CEO”) of the Company, who reviews consolidated results when making decisions about 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group. As a result of this evaluation, the 
CEO considers that the Group’s operations are operated and managed as a whole; accordingly, 
no segment information is presented. The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while 
the Group’s non-current assets and revenues are substantially located in and derived from the 
PRC. Therefore, no geographical segment information is presented.

6 Revenue

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
One-stop payment services 2,685,898 3,484,960

Merchant solutions services 339,646 362,951

In-store e-commerce services 61,198 102,674

3,086,742 3,950,585
   

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, interest revenue from entrusted loans and 
small-sized retail loans amounting to approximately RMB168,940,000 and RMB130,805,000, 
respectively, are included in revenue derived from merchant solutions services.

Except for interest income which is recognized over time, revenues of the Group are recognized 
at a point in time according to the related provisions prescribed under IFRS 15.

During the year, the Group paid approximately RMB86 million in aggregate in relation to 
interchange fee rate adjustments to a suspense account of the payment networks as requested 
by the payment networks. Such payments were netted off from the Group’s one-stop payment 
services revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policies of revenue recognition and based on the Group’s communications with the 
payment networks.
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(a) The Group has a large number of customers, none of whom contributed 10% or more of 
the Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured when or as the control of the goods or services is transferred to a 
customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, 
control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. 
Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

• provides all the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer; or

• creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the 
period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of 
that performance obligation. The Group recognizes revenue at a point in time when the 
customer obtains control of the goods and services under IFRS 15.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such 
arrangements, the Group allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on 
its relative standalone selling price. The Group generally determines standalone selling 
prices based on the prices charged to customers. If the standalone selling price is 
not directly observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin or adjusted 
market assessment approach, depending on the availability of observable information. 
Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling price of 
each distinct performance obligation, and changes in judgements on these assumptions 
and estimates may impact the revenue recognition.

The Group principally derives revenue from (i) one-stop payment services, (ii) merchant 
solutions services and (iii) in-store e-commerce services. The accounting policies for each 
of the Group’s revenue streams are set out below:
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) One-stop payment services

The Group provides one-stop payment services to merchants for their acceptance 
of non-cash payments from consumers, through connecting the merchants with the 
payment networks.

The Group adopts various sales channels to promote their business, including the use 
of distribution channels and direct marketing. The payment terminals delivered to 
the merchants or distribution channels are not considered as a distinct performance 
obligation as the payment services are required to continually interact with the 
payment terminals provided to the merchants in order for the Group to provide its 
payment services to the merchants.

The Group assessed that payment services rendered to the merchants is recognized 
at a point in time, upon completion of the payment services for each transaction.

Service revenue is recognized for each payment transaction handled by the Group at 
an amount calculated based on the total payment value made by the consumers and 
the respective applicable service fee rates, net of interchange fees levied by various 
third-party payment networks. The third-party payment networks have unilateral 
rights to adjust the interchange fee rates. Such adjustments, if any, are accounted 
for as an adjustment to the Group’s service revenue and recorded in the period when 
they are made by these third-party networks.

The service fee rates are determined based on the agreements entered into between 
the Group and the merchants.

The Group considered that it acts as a principal in offering payment services to 
the merchants as the Group (1) is the primary obligor in the arrangement; (2) has 
latitude in establishing the selling price, i.e. service fee rate; (3) has involvement in 
the determination of services specifications; and (4) has discretion in the selection 
of distribution channels to assist its payment services and to maintain relationships 
with its merchants and to handle their enquiries about the services. The Group 
shares its service revenue with distribution channels in accordance with the service 
agreements entered into with them and the related commissions payable to the 
distribution channels are recognized as its cost of revenue of the payment services.

In addition to the provision of services to merchants mentioned above, the Group 
also provides separate system support services to some distribution channels. 
System support services are customized by a right that allow distribution channels 
to use the systems that meet the specific needs of various types of merchants. The 
distribution channels can use the systems as they are available at a point in time. 
The Group recognizes revenue for such system support services at a point in time 
when the distribution channels have the access to the systems and has control over 
the systems and the Group has a present right to payment.
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Merchant solutions services

Leveraging on the established customer base acquired from provision of the one-
stop payment services, the Group also provides a series of value-added merchant 
solutions services, including (1) provision of various SaaS products with scenario-
specific functionalities integrated with the payment services, data analysis services 
or SaaS terminals with operating system can be customized by customers as needed; 
(2) provision of agency services to customers; (3) provision of online marketing 
services to customers; (4) provision of technology services to insurance companies 
through the Group’s technology platform; and (5) provision of small-sized loans to 
customers; (6) Loan facilitation service fees and gains from guarantee.

Except for revenue from provision of small-sized loans to customers, revenues from 
merchant solutions services are recognized at a point in time when products or 
services are delivered; while interest income on the small-sized loans provided to 
customers are recognized using an approach similar to the effective interest method 
over the respective loan periods.

Gross or net basis presentation

The determination of whether revenues from provision of online marketing 
services should be reported on a gross or net basis is based on an assessment 
of whether the Group is acting as the principal or an agent in the transactions. 
In determining whether the Group acts as the principal or an agent, the Group 
follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations in IFRS 15. Such 
determination involves judgment and is based on an evaluation of the terms of each 
arrangement as follows:
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Merchant solutions services (Continued)

Gross or net basis presentation (Continued)

– Gross model

Under this arrangement, the Group generates revenue from providing 
comprehensive advertisement placement services to the advertisers. The Group 
charges the advertisers based on Cost per click (“CPC”) or specified action such 
as download, installation, registration of the mobile device users or merchants, 
transaction completed (cost per action or CPA).

The Group is considered as the principal in offering advertising services because 
the Group (1) obtains control of the right to the advertising service and directs 
that service to be provided on the Group’s behalf. The Group has the discretion 
to decide which media publishers or advertising agents to use, what types of the 
advertisements and how to be placed; (2) is primarily responsible for producing 
the advertisements and bears the inventory risk like taking certain risk of loss 
to the extent that non-refundable prepayments acquiring traffic from media 
publishers. If the advertisements do not perform well or breach the advertising 
regulation, the Group has to undertake the additional cost of reproduction 
and compensate the advertisers for all their losses; (3) has the discretion in 
determining how much to pay the media publishers or advertising agents based 
on service fee rate agreed with the media publishers or advertising agents; (4) 
In some instances, is subject to certain risk of loss to the extent that the cost 
paid to the media publishers or advertising agents cannot be compensated by 
the total consideration obtained from the advertisers according to acquisition 
of specific action or sales transaction. This is like inventory risk. Therefore, the 
Group reports revenue earned from the advertisers and costs paid to the media 
publishers or advertising agents related to these transactions on a gross basis.
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Merchant solutions services (Continued)

Gross or net basis presentation (Continued)

– Net model

Under this arrangement, the Group charges the advertisers based on the cost 
charged by media publishers or advertising agents.

The Group is considered as an agent in this arrangement because the Group 
(1) does not control a specified service before that service is delivered to an 
advertiser; (2) does not have the latitude to select media publisher which is 
designated in the contract with the advertiser; (3) does not own the media 
advertisement space, and does not have any commitments to purchase the 
advertising space, and therefore does not have inventory risk, and (4) the Group 
charges the advertisers based on amount charged by the media publishers 
and advertising agents, which is the same pricing mechanism that the media 
publishers or advertising agents charge the Group. Therefore, the Group reports 
the amount received from the advertisers and the amounts paid to the media 
publishers or advertising agents related to these transactions on a net basis.

In some loan arrangements where the Group is not the lender or borrower by 
contract terms, the Group generates non-interest service fees by facilitating 
transactions between borrowers and financial institutions as the lenders. The 
Group determines that it is not the legal lender and legal borrower in the loan 
origination and repayment process. Therefore, the Group does not record loans 
receivable and payable arising from the loans. The Group’s services consist of:
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii) Merchant solutions services (Continued)

Gross or net basis presentation (Continued)

– Net model (Continued)

(1) Upfront loan facilitation service: matching potential qualified borrowers 
to institutional investors and facilitating the execution of loan agreements 
between the parties;

(2) Post loan facilitation service: providing repayment processing services for 
the institutional investors over the loan term, including following up on late 
repayments;

(3) Guarantee service provided to financial institutions, if applicable.

The Group receives payments from borrowers over the term of the loan. The 
total service fees are first allocated to other payables at fair value which meets 
the definition of a financial guarantee contract under IFRS 9. The remaining 
amount is then allocated to upfront loan facilitation service and post loan 
facilitation service using best estimated selling price, as neither vendor specific 
objective evidence or third party evidence of selling price is available.

Upfront loan facilitation service fees are recognised at loan inception. 
When the cash received is not equal to the fee allocated to the upfront loan 
facilitation service, a “Contract Asset” or “Contract Liability” is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position. Post loan facilitation service 
fees are recognised over the term of the loan, which approximates the pattern 
of when the underlying services are performed. Income from guarantee is 
recognised over the term of the guarantee. Since the average term of the loans 
recommended by the Group was less than one year, as a practical expedient, 
the Group recognised the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an 
expense when incurred.
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii) In-store e-commerce services

Leveraging on the established customer base with merchants acquired from 
providing the one-stop payment services, the Group also provides in-store 
e-commerce services like provision of display in-store, hotel & travel services, or 
various goods of merchants in the Group’s platform and third parties’ platform, 
transaction users can purchase the goods, vouchers or make reservations offered by 
merchants via the Group’s platform or third parties’ platform.

The Group charges commission fees based on the agreed percentage of goods 
or services paid by transaction users. The Group is considered as an agent in this 
arrangement because (1) the Group does not control specified goods or services 
before that goods or services are delivered to transaction users; (2) does not have 
the latitude to select goods or services which is designated in the contract with 
the transaction users; (3) does not own the goods or services purchased by the 
transactions users, and does not have any commitments to purchase the goods or 
services, and therefore does not bear any inventory risk, and (4) the Group charges 
the merchants based on the monetary amount of goods or services sold on the 
Group’s platform or redeemed at merchant’s site. Therefore, the Group reports the 
amount received from the transaction users and the amounts paid to the merchants 
related to these transactions on a net basis.

In addition to the provision of services to merchants mentioned above, the Group 
also provides marketing and promotion services for merchants, which include live-
streaming sales of designated products and short-video promotion services for 
merchants. The Group charges a fixed service fee for these services.

Revenues from provision of in-store e-commerce services are recognized at a point 
of time when the related services are delivered.
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6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(iv) Contract liabilities

The Group occasionally charges merchants one-off and upfront entry fees (“Entry 
Fees”) for their future use of the Group’s payment services. The Group initially 
records Entry Fees as a contract liability and then recognizes it as revenue rateably 
over the estimated average service relationship period of the merchants. The 
estimated average service relationship period is within 1 year.

The Group also sells promotion coupons to some merchants, which enable the 
merchants to use them to offset the payment service charges payable to the Group 
for the one-stop payment services. The coupons are sold at a price lower than their 
respective face value. The amounts received/receivable from the merchants are 
recorded as a contract liability which is then recognized as revenue when the coupon 
value is utilised by the merchants to offset the payment service charges payable to 
the Group.

For considerations received for online marketing services and in-store e-commerce 
services from the respective customers and transaction users, the Group has the 
right to unconditional consideration before the provision of the respective services 
to the customers or the merchants, respectively. In both cases, the Group has the 
contract liability when the payment is received or a receivable is recorded, whichever 
is earlier. This means that the Group has an obligation to provide the online 
marketing services to the customer or in-store e-commerce services to the merchant, 
for which the Group has received consideration from the customers or transaction 
users, respectively.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 Revenue (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

(v) Contract fulfilment costs

Contract fulfilment costs primarily consist of costs of payment terminals, which are 
installed in merchants’ retail shops/venues in conjunction with the offering of the 
Group’s one-stop payment services. They are amortised using a straight-line method 
over the expected benefit period of 3 years for the use of payment terminals.

(vi) Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts enacted with customers with 
material consideration where the period between the transfer of the promised goods 
or service to the customer and payments received/receivable by the customer 
exceeds one year. As a result, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction 
prices for the time value of money.

7 Other income

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Interest income from bank deposits 20,174 36,781

Government grants 2,319 16,156

Interest income from advance to 
 an associate (Note 39(a)(ii)) 1,932 1,152

Others 766 2,167

25,191 56,256
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8 Other gains/(losses) - net

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000  

Gains on repurchase of convertible bonds (Note 34) 26,009 –
Impairment reversal on prepayments (Note 23(b)) 442 358
Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment 277 452
Gains on disposal of financial assets at FVPL – 1,671
Net exchange losses (544) (767)
Regulatory fines (840) (28,104)
Others (5,757) (360)

19,587 (26,750)
   

9 Expenses by nature

Costs and expenses included in cost of revenue, selling expenses, administrative expenses and 
research and development expenses are analysed as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000  

Commissions and online marketing traffic acquisition costs 2,196,946 3,057,862
Employee benefit expenses (Note 10(a)) 440,748 459,323
Outsourcing service fees 66,507 89,891
Advertising and promotion expenses 22,615 15,964
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 29,575 37,719
Amortization of intangible assets 18,058 18,211
Amortization of other non-current assets 105,620 94,980
Office expenses 19,321 20,807
Rental expenses relating to short-term leases 13,844 13,616
System development, consulting and data validation 13,900 21,080
Raw materials and consumables 7,640 14,829
Professional service fees 15,554 18,092
Travel and transportation 12,827 13,263
Auditor’s remuneration 5,370 6,999
– audit services 5,100 6,400
– non-audit services 270 599
Others 40,362 59,161

Total 3,008,887 3,941,797
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10 Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments)

(a) Employee benefit expenses are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Wages, salaries and bonuses 265,163 295,529

Welfare, medical and other expenses 31,940 46,014

Defined contribution plans 26,130 35,513

Termination benefits 10,356 2,338

Employee share schemes -value of employee services 107,159 79,929

440,748 459,323
   

Majority of the Group’s defined contributions plans, welfare, medical and other expenses 
are related to the local employees in the PRC. All local employees of the subsidiaries in 
the PRC participate in employee social security plans established in the PRC, which cover 
pension, medical and other welfare benefits. The plans are organised and administered by 
the governmental authorities. Except for the contributions made to these social security 
plans, the Group has no other material commitments owing to the employees. According 
to the relevant regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit contributions 
that should be borne by the companies within the Group as required by the above social 
security plans are principally determined based on percentages of the basic salaries 
of employees, subject to certain ceilings imposed. These contributions are paid to the 
respective labour and social welfare authorities and are expensed as incurred.
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10 Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for each of the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 included 2 directors, whose emoluments are 
reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40. The emoluments payable to the remaining 3 
individuals during each of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Wages and salaries 4,090 3,782

Discretionary bonuses 781 1,807

Welfare, medical and other expenses 80 160

Defined contribution plans 91 144

Employee share schemes -value of employee services 5,100 4,634
 

10,142 10,527
   

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no director or the five highest paid 
individuals received any emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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10 Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

(c) The emoluments of those individuals fell within the following bands:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

Emolument band

HKD 2,000,001 – HKD2,500,000 – –

HKD 3,000,001 – HKD3,500,000 1 1

HKD 3,500,001 – HKD4,000,000 2 –

HKD 4,000,001 – HKD4,500,000 – 2
 

3 3
   

11 Finance costs

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Interest expenses on convertible bonds (Note 34) 23,953 50,581

Interest expenses on bank and other borrowings 34,834 36,809

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note 16(b)) 2,797 2,547
 

61,584 89,937
   

12 Income tax expense

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Current income tax 4,718 24,539

Deferred income tax 5,715 782
 

10,433 25,321
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12 Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the tax rate of 25% for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, being the 
standard income rate in the PRC. The differences are analyzed as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Profit before income tax: 83,447 35,434

Adjusted: share of profits of investment in associates, net (29,530) (357)

53,917 35,077

Tax calculated at tax rate of 25% 13,479 8,769

Tax effects of:

– Different income tax rates applicable to subsidiaries 3,167 6,311

– Research and development super deduction (26,516) (32,416)

– Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,121 7,411

– Income not subject to tax (144) –

– Tax losses not recognized as deferred tax assets 16,750 35,895

– Remeasurement of deferred tax assets due to 
  changes in tax rate 7,398 1,620

– Adjustments in respect of current income tax 
  of previous years (4,021) (2,269)

– Recognition of previously unrecognized in 
  relation to tax losses (801) –

10,433 25,321
   

(a) Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands corporate income tax

Under the current laws of Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, the Company 
is not subject to tax on income or capital gain. In addition, upon payments of dividends 
by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax (“WHT”) will be 
imposed.
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12 Income tax expense (Continued)

(b) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 8.25% on the estimated 
assessable profits up to HKD2,000,000; and 16.5% on any part of the estimated 
assessable profits over HKD2,000,000.

(c) Singapore income tax

Singapore standard corporate income tax rate is 17%. Companies are taxed on their 
profits. For newly established companies and small and medium-sized enterprises, 
there are additional tax incentives. Startups can enjoy a tax exemption on the first 
SGD100,000 of chargeable income for the first three consecutive years, with an additional 
50% exemption available on the next SGD200,000 of chargeable income for small and 
medium-sized enterprises.

(d) PRC CIT

Current income tax provision was made on the estimated assessable profits of entities 
within the Group incorporated in the PRC and was calculated in accordance with the 
relevant regulations of the PRC after considering the available tax benefits from refunds 
and allowances. The general PRC current income tax rate is 25%.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC are subject to a preferential current income 
tax rate of 15% either due to their qualification for “High and New Technology Enterprise” 
(“HNTE”) or their engagement in business that falls within the catalogue for current 
income tax preferential treatments of Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Services 
Industry Cooperation Zone (“Qianhai Zone”). Certain subsidiaries of the Group in the 
PRC are exempt from current income tax or subject to a preferential current income tax 
rate of 12.5% due to their qualification for “Software Enterprise”.

For small and low-profit enterprises, the policy of reducing the taxable income by 75% 
and paying corporate income tax at a rate of 20% will be extended until December 31, 
2027, leading to an effective corporate income tax rate of 5%.
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12 Income tax expense (Continued)

(e) Research and development super deduction

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Administration 
of Taxation of the PRC, certain entities engaging in research and development activities 
were entitled to claim 200% of their research and development expenses incurred during 
the year ended 2023 (“Super Deduction”).

The Group has made its best estimate for the Super Deduction to be claimed for the 
Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits.

(f) PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by a company 
established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits derived after 1 January 
2008 are generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong 
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty arrangement 
entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant WHT rate will be reduced from 
10% to 5%. The Group does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries to distribute 
their retained earnings and intends to retain them to operate and expand its business in 
the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred income tax liability on WHT was accrued as at the end 
of each reporting period.

(g) Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Pillar Two model rules

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) published Pillar 
Two model rules in December 2021, with the effect that a jurisdiction may enact domestic 
tax laws (“Pillar Two legislation”) to implement the Pillar Two model rules on a globally 
agreed common approach. Pillar Two legislation applies to a member of a multinational 
group within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules. The Group currently does not have 
subsidiaries which are located in jurisdictions where the Pillar Two legislation has been 
enacted, and therefore is currently not within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules.
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13 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity 
holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the respective years.

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023  
Profit attributable to equity holders of the 
 Company (in RMB thousands) 82,452 11,627

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
 in issue (in thousands) 374,509 371,349 
Basic earnings per share (expressed 
 in RMB per share) 0.22 0.03
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31 December 
2024 has been determined based on the number of shares in issue, excluding shares held 
for restricted share award schemes (Note 35(b)).

(b) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Group has three categories of potential ordinary shares in the year ended 31 
December 2024 which were the convertible bonds as disclosed in Note 34, the share 
options as disclosed in Note 35(a) and the restricted share units as disclosed in Note 
35(b).

A calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at 
fair value (determined as the average market share price of the Company’s shares during 
the year) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding 
restricted share units and share options. The number of shares calculated as above is 
compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise 
of the share options and the restricted share units.
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13 Earnings per share (Continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued)

For the convertible bonds, they are assumed to have been converted into ordinary shares. 
Interest savings on convertible bonds are adjusted to the extent of the amount charged 
to the profit attributable to owners of the Company. The number of shares calculated as 
above is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the 
exercise of the share options and the conversion of convertible bonds. For the year ended 
31 December 2024, the effect of the convertible bonds was anti-dilutive and therefore not 
included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share.

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023  
Profit attributable to equity holders of the 
 Company (in RMB thousands) 82,452 11,627 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
 in issue (in thousands) 374,509 371,349

Adjustments for unvested restricted share units 
 and share options (in thousands) 2,025 2,381

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
 calculation of diluted earnings per share (in thousands) 376,534 373,730

Diluted earnings per share (expressed in 
 RMB per share) 0.22 0.03
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14 Investments accounted for using the equity method

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year 134,721 131,711

Additions 2,221 1,834

Share of net profit 29,530 357

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) 555 (40)

Currency translation difference 926 859

At the end of the year 167,953 134,721
   

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December 2024 which, in the opinion of 
the Directors, are material to the Group. The entities listed below have share capital consisting 
solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or 
registration is also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is 
the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Percentage of 
ownership interest 
attributable to the 

Group
Principal activities 
and place of 
operation

31 December

Company name 2024 2023

RYK Capital Partners Limited (“RYK”) (a) 10.00% 10.00% Investment holding/
 Hong Kong

Shenzhen Zhizhanggui Cloud Service 
 Co., Ltd. (“Zhizhanggui”)

40.00% 40.00% SaaS services/PRC

    

(a) Management determined that the Group can exercise significant influence over RYK 
through its board representation, notwithstanding the shareholding is below 20%.
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14 Investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

(b) Summarized financial information for associates

The tables below provide summarized financial information for those associates that 
are material to the Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in 
the financial statements of the relevant associates and not the Group’s share of those 
amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using 
the equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in 
accounting policy.

Zhizhanggui RYK

Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  
Summarized statements of 

financial position

Current assets 189,430 119,229 12,269 9,655

Non-current assets 4 6 682,123 599,488

Current liabilities (233,062) (222,157) (2,058) (19,216)

Non-current liabilities – – (40,789) (34,065)

Net (liabilities)/assets (43,628) (102,922) 651,545 555,862

Reconciliation to carrying 
amounts

Opening net (liabilities)/assets at 1 
January (102,922) (84,773) 555,862 452,840

Opening net (liabilities) at 
acquisition date – – – –

Capital injection – – – 18,336

Profit/(loss) for the year 59,294 (18,149) 58,664 76,488

Other comprehensive income – – 5,947 (6,198)

Currency translation difference – – 31,072 14,396

Closing net (liabilities)/assets at 
31 December (43,628) (102,922) 651,545 555,862

Group’s share of net (liabilities)/
assets (17,451) (41,169) 65,155 55,586

Goodwill 114,902 114,902 – –  
Carrying amount 97,451 73,733 65,155 55,586
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14 Investments accounted for using the equity method (Continued)

(b) Summarized financial information for associates (Continued)

Year ended 
31 December

Year ended 
31 December

2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  
Summarized statements of 
 comprehensive income

Revenue 86,665 59,067 473 1,646

Profit/(loss) for the year 59,294 (18,149) 58,664 76,488

Other comprehensive income – – 5,947 (6,198)

Total comprehensive 
 income/(loss) 59,294 (18,149) 64,611 70,290
     

(c) Individually immaterial associates

In addition to the interests in Zhizhanggui and RYK disclosed above, the Group also has 
interests in a number of individually immaterial associates that are accounted for using 
the equity method.

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Aggregate carrying amount of individually 
 immaterial associates 5,347 5,402

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of net loss 
 and total comprehensive loss (54) (32)
   

(d) The Group had no significant commitments and contingencies in respect of associates.
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use
 assets Equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2023

Opening net book amount 25,499 13,775 1,346 7,713 48,333

Additions 52,368 3,028 924 1,920 58,240

Business combination 217 675 – – 892

Disposal (3,214) – – – (3,214)

Depreciation charge (24,372) (6,809) (566) (5,972) (37,719)

Currency translation difference – – 7 – 7

Closing net book amount 50,498 10,669 1,711 3,661 66,539

As at 31 December 2023

Cost 146,169 41,915 4,987 33,633 226,704

Accumulated depreciation (95,671) (31,246) (3,276) (29,972) (160,165)

Net book amount 50,498 10,669 1,711 3,661 66,539
      

Right-of-use
 assets Equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Leasehold 
improvements Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2024

Opening net book amount 50,498 10,669 1,711 3,661 66,539

Additions 6,462 2,893 250 739 10,344

Business combination 603 – – – 603

Disposal (734) (31) – – (765)

Depreciation charge (21,904) (5,333) (306) (2,032) (29,575)

Currency translation difference (14) – 15 8 9
     

Closing net book amount 34,911 8,198 1,670 2,376 47,155
     

As at 31 December 2024

Cost 138,470 44,777 5,251 34,380 222,878

Accumulated depreciation (103,559) (36,579) (3,581) (32,004) (175,723)
     

Net book amount 34,911 8,198 1,670 2,376 47,155
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15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Administrative expenses 26,111 33,424

Research and development expenses 3,331 4,173

Selling expenses 133 122
 

29,575 37,719
   

Accounting policies of property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual 
values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Equipment 3 years or 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements shorter of estimated useful 
life or remaining lease terms

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 169

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Accounting policies of property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying 
amount and are recognized in “other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties, plant and machinery under 
leases which are measured at cost. The initial costs of right-of-use assets include the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date

• any initial direct costs, and

• restoration costs.

If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying assets to the Group by the end of the lease 
term or if the cost of the right-of-use assets reflect that the Group will exercise a purchase 
option, the Group depreciates the right-of-use asset from the commencement date of the 
lease to the end of the useful life of the underlying assets. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and their lease terms on a straight-line 
basis.

16 Leases

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Lease liabilities

Current 19,165 22,521

Non-current 16,767 28,896

35,932 51,417
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16 Leases (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts 
relating to leases:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 21,904 24,372

Finance costs on lease liabilities 2,797 2,547

24,701 26,919
   

(c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of cash flows

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the total cash outflows for leases 
were as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Cash outflows from operating activities

Payments for short-term leases in respect of:

 – Properties 4,471 3,388

 – Servers 9,373 10,228

13,844 13,616

Cash outflows from financing activities

Payment of principal and interest element of lease 
 liabilities 24,344 26,659
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17 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Customer

 relationship Software Platform Brand name Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2022

Cost 444,641 77,800 6,200 1,300 38,200 568,141

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment (5,524) (50,599) (3,078) (1,300) (10,953) (71,454)

Net book amount 439,117 27,201 3,122 – 27,247 496,687

Year ended 31 December 2023

Opening net book amount 439,117 27,201 3,122 – 27,247 496,687

Additions – – 389 – – 389

Amortization charge – (9,600) (630) – (7,981) (18,211)

Closing net book amount 439,117 17,601 2,881 – 19,266 478,865

At 31 December 2023

Cost 444,641 77,800 6,589 1,300 38,200 568,530

Accumulated amortization and 
impairment (5,524) (60,199) (3,708) (1,300) (18,934) (89,665)

Net book amount 439,117 17,601 2,881 – 19,266 478,865

Year ended 31 December 2024

Opening net book amount 439,117 17,601 2,881 – 19,266 478,865

Additions 17,815 – 884 – – 18,699

Amortization charge – (9,600) (1,453) – (7,005) (18,058)
      

Closing net book amount 456,932 8,001 2,312 – 12,261 479,506
      

At 31 December 2024

Cost 462,456 77,800 7,473 1,300 38,200 587,229

Accumu la ted amor t i za t ion  and 
impairment (5,524) (69,799) (5,161) (1,300) (25,939) (107,723)

      

Net book amount 456,932 8,001 2,312 – 12,261 479,506
       



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Accounting policies of intangible assets

(i) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is allocated to each of the CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill 
is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating 
segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events 
or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of 
the CGUs containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of value in use (“VIU”) and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 
impairment is recognized immediately as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed.

The Group engaged an external valuer to assist them in carrying out the goodwill 
impairment assessment. Management determined the recoverable amounts of the 
CGUs based on the VIU, which is calculated using discounted cash flows based on 
five-year financial projections plus a terminal value related to cash flows beyond the 
projection period extrapolated at an estimated termination growth rate.



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT 173

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a) Accounting policies of intangible assets (Continued)

(ii) Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognized and measured at cost or fair value if 
they are acquired in business combinations. Other intangible assets are amortized 
over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method which reflects the 
pattern in which the intangible asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be 
consumed.

The Group amortizes intangible assets with indefinite useful life using the straight-
line method over the following periods:

• Software 3 years

• Customer relationship 3 or 5 years

• Platform 2 years

• Brand name 3 or 5 years

(iii) Research and development expenditures

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred 
on development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved 
products) are capitalized as intangible assets when recognition criteria are fulfilled. 
These criteria include: (1) it is technically feasible to complete the software product 
so that it will be available for use; (2) management intends to complete the software 
product and use or sell it; (3) there is an ability to use or sell the software product; 
(4) it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future 
economic benefits; (5) adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 
the development and to use or sell the software product are available; and (6) the 
expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be 
reliably measured. Other development expenditures that do not meet those criteria 
are recognized as expenses as incurred. There were no development costs meeting 
these criteria and capitalized as intangible assets for the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023.
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in prior years

The goodwill (net book amount) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is allocated to CGUs as 
follows:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

One-stop payment services business segment 145,840 145,840

In-store e-commerce services segment 172,404 172,404

Chuangxinzhong 120,873 120,873

Yeahpay Singapore 14,257 –

Aile 3,558 –

456,932 439,117
   

(i) Impairment test for goodwill related to one-stop payment services segment

Key assumptions used for determination of recoverable amount are set out below:

2024 2023

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 0.6%-10.0% 5.0%-8.0%

Gross profit margin during the forecast period 14.0%-14.9% 13.0%-14.3%

Terminal growth rate 2.5% 2.5%

Pre-tax discount rate 17.7% 20.4%
   

(1) Revenue growth rate and gross profit margin during the forecast period

Revenue growth rate and gross profit margin during the forecast period are 
determined by management of the Company based on past performance and 
the future business plan of one-stop payment services segment.

(2) Terminal growth rate

A terminal growth rate of 2.5%, which is based on the long term expected 
inflation rate, has been applied to the terminal year’s cash flow.
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in prior years 
(Continued)

(i) Impairment test for goodwill related to one-stop payment services segment 
(Continued)

(3) Pre-tax discount rate

17.7% pre-tax discount rate was applied, which reflected the nature and stage 
of development of the one-stop payment services segment.

(4) Based on the result of the goodwill impairment test performed by the 
Directors, the estimated recoverable amount exceeded its carrying value by 
approximately RMB1,329,647,000 as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, no 
impairment provision was required to be made as at 31 December 2024. The 
Directors had performed a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in 
management’s impairment test of goodwill. Had the estimated revenue growth 
rate and estimated gross profit margin during the forecast period been 12.0% 
lower and 5.5% lower respectively, the recoverable amount would have been 
equal to the carrying amount.

(ii) Impairment test for goodwill related to in-store e-commerce services segment

Key assumptions used for determination of recoverable amount are set out below:

2024 2023 
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period – 12.6%-

30.9% 8.0%-50.0%

Gross profit margin during the forecast period 92.3%-93.5% 85.0%

Terminal growth rate 2.5% 2.5%

Pre-tax discount rate 18.7% 32.4%
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in prior years 
(Continued)

(ii) Impairment test for goodwill related to in-store e-commerce services segment 
(Continued)

(1) Revenue growth rate and gross profit margin during the forecast period

Revenue growth rate and gross profit margin during the forecast period are 
determined by management of the Company based on past performance and 
the future business plan of the in-store e-commerce services segment.

(2) Terminal growth rate

A terminal growth rate of 2.5%, which is based on the expected inflation rate, 
has been applied to the terminal year’s cash flow.

(3) Pre-tax discount rate

18.7% pre-tax discount rate was applied, which reflected the nature and stage 
of development of the in-store e-commerce services segment.

(4) Based on the result of the goodwill impairment test performed by the Directors, 
the estimated recoverable amount exceeded it carrying value by RMB10,016,000 
as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, no impairment provision was required to 
be made as at 31 December 2024. The Directors had performed a sensitivity 
analysis on the key assumptions used in management’s impairment test of 
goodwill. Had the estimated revenue growth rate and estimated gross profit 
margin during the forecast period been 0.5% lower and 1.7% lower respectively, 
the recoverable amount would have been equal to the carrying amount.
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in prior years 
(Continued)

(iii) Impairment test for goodwill related to the acquisition of Chuangxinzhong

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. The Directors consider 
Chuangxinzhong as a separate CGU and the goodwil l is al located to the 
Chuangxinzhong CGU.

Key assumptions used for determination of recoverable amount are set out below:

2024 2023

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 8.4%-38.8% 5.0%-14.2%

Terminal growth rate 2.5% 2.5%

Pre-tax discount rate 17.5% 19.6%

(1) Revenue growth rate during the forecast period

Revenue growth rate is determined by management of the Company based on 
past performance and the future business plan of Chuangxinzhong and synergy 
expected to be achieved from the business combination.

(2) Terminal growth rate

Aterminal growth rate of 2.5%, which is based on the expected inflation rate, 
has been applied to the terminal year’s cash flow.

(3) Pre-tax discount rate

17.5% pre-tax discount rate was applied, which reflected the nature and stage 
of development of the underlying business acquired and also the returns 
required by the Company in the acquisition.

(4) Based on the result of the goodwill impairment test performed by the Directors, 
the estimated recoverable amount exceeded its carrying value by approximately 
RMB11,656,000 as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, no impairment provision 
was required to be made as at 31 December 2024. The Directors had performed 
a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used in management’s impairment 
test of goodwill. Had the estimated revenue growth rate and discount rate 
during the forecast period been 0.5% lower and 0.2% higher respectively, the 
recoverable amount would have been equal to the carrying amount.
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in the current 
year

(i) Impairment tests for goodwill related to Aile acquisition

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. The Directors consider Aile as a 
separate CGU (the “Aile CGU”) and the goodwill is allocated to the Aile CGU.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the Aile CGU are RMB3,558,000 as at 
31 December 2024.

The recoverable amount of Aile CGU was determined to be higher than it is carrying 
amount and no impairment loss was recognized as at 31 December 2024.

Key assumptions used for determination of recoverable amount are set out below:

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 10.0%-262.4%

Gross profit margin during the forecast period 74.1%

Terminal growth rate 2.0%

Pre-tax discount rate 19.1%

(1) Terminal growth rate

A terminal growth rate of 2.0%, which is based on the expected inflation rate, 
has been applied to the terminal year’s cash flow.
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in the current 
year (Continued)

(i) Impairment tests for goodwill related to Aile acquisition (Continued)

(2) Discount rate

19.1% pre-tax discount rate was applied, which reflected the nature and stage of 
development of the underlying business acquired and also the returns required 
by the Company in the acquisition.

(3) Based on the result of the goodwill impairment test performed by the Directors, 
the estimated recoverable amount exceeded it carrying value by RMB2,078,000 
as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, no impairment provision was required to 
be made as at 31 December 2024. The Directors had performed a sensitivity 
analysis on the key assumptions used in management’s impairment test of 
goodwill. Had the estimated gross profit margin and estimated discount rate 
during the forecast period been 5.2% lower and 6.9% higher respectively, the 
recoverable amount would have been equal to the carrying amount.

(ii) Impairment tests for goodwill related to Yeahpay Singapore acquisition

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU that are 
expected to benefit from that business combination. The Directors consider Yeahpay 
Singapore as a separate CGU (the “Yeahpay Singapore CGU”) and the goodwill is 
allocated to the Yeahpay Singapore CGU.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the Yeahpay Singapore CGU are 
RMB14,257,000 as at 31 December 2024.

The recoverable amount of Yeahpay Singapore CGU was determined to be higher 
than it is carrying amount and no impairment loss was recognized as at 31 December 
2024.

Key assumptions used for determination of recoverable amount are set out below:

Revenue growth rate during the forecast period 9.0%-392.2%

Gross profit margin during the forecast period 47.3%-52.3%

Terminal growth rate 2.0%

Pre-tax discount rate 19.2%
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Impairment tests for goodwill arising from business combinations in the current 
year (Continued)

(ii) Impairment tests for goodwill related to Yeahpay Singapore acquisition 
(Continued)

(1) Terminal growth rate

A terminal growth rate of 2.0%, which is based on the expected inflation rate, 
has been applied to the terminal year’s cash flow.

(2) Discount rate

19.2% pre-tax discount rate was applied, which reflected the nature and stage 
of development of the underlying business acquired and also the returns 
required by the Company in the acquisition.

(3) Based on the result of the goodwill impairment test performed by the Directors, 
the estimated recoverable amount exceeded it carrying value by RMB4,176,000 
as at 31 December 2024. Accordingly, no impairment provision was required to 
be made as at 31 December 2024. The Directors had performed a sensitivity 
analysis on the key assumptions used in management’s impairment test of 
goodwill. Had the estimated gross profit margin and estimated discount rate 
during the forecast period been 2.2% lower and 2.1% higher respectively, the 
recoverable amount would have been equal to the carrying amount.

(d) The amortization of intangible assets has been charged to profit or loss as follows:

Year ended 31 December
 

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Cost of revenue 7,200 7,575

Administrative expenses 10,858 10,636

18,058 18,211
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18 Other non-current assets

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Payment terminals 102,132 185,199
   

The costs of payment terminals are amortized over 3 years in accordance with the expected 
benefit period. The amortization of payment terminals is charged to cost of revenue according 
to the provisions prescribed under IFRS 15.

19 Financial instruments by category

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Financial assets-amortized cost

– Trade receivables 380,966 355,059

– Other receivables 2,521,993 2,282,095

– Loan receivables 658,127 882,332

– Cash and cash equivalents 595,719 887,909

– Restricted cash 1,714,296 2,097,246

– Long-term bank deposits – 80,996
 

5,871,101 6,585,637
 

Financial assets at FVPL 918,256 840,936
 

Financial liabilities-amortized cost

– Trade payables 251,302 274,711

– Other payables (excluding accrual for payroll  
and welfare allowances, dividends payable,  
interest payable and other taxes payable) 3,579,070 3,942,052

– Lease liabilities 35,932 51,417

– Convertible bonds – 405,539

– Bank and other borrowings 931,993 780,062
 

4,798,297 5,453,781
 

Financial liabilities at FVPL – 24,880
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20 Financial assets at FVPL

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
Current assets

Investment in listed entities (a) 4,522 13,594

Non-current assets

Investment in unlisted entities (b) 913,734 817,338

Contingent assets – 10,004

913,734 827,342

918,256 840,936
   

The movement of the financial assets at FVPL is set out below:

Year ended 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000  
At the beginning of the year 840,936 648,556

Additions 7,254 45,864

Disposal (11,610) (17,277)

Changes in fair value through profit or loss 81,445 163,850

Currency translation differences 231 (57)
 

At the end of the year 918,256 840,936
   

(a) The balance represented the Group’s investments in equity interests of several listed 
companies on the Hong Kong Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
and the New York Stock Exchange, USA.

(b) The balance primarily comprised the Group’s investments in preferred shares and 
financial instrument related to Fushi Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“Fushi”) amounting 
to approximately RMB834,957,000 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 
RMB731,898,000).
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20 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of financial assets

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other 
comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit 
or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this 
will depend on the business model in which the investment is held. For investments 
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether 
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 
account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

(ii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, 
in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial 
assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
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20 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt 
instruments:

• Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows 
where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets 
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and 
presented in “other gains/(losses) - net” together with foreign exchange gains 
and losses. Impairment losses, if any, are presented as separate line item in 
profit or loss.

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely 
payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the 
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange 
gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial 
asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and 
recognized in “other gains/(losses) - net”. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “other gains/(losses) - net” 
and impairment expenses, if any, are presented as separate line item in profit 
or loss.

• Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized 
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that 
is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented 
net within “other gains/(losses) - net” in the period in which it arises.
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20 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the 
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity 
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification 
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the 
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in profit or 
loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in “other gains/
(losses) - net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as applicable. 
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments 
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(iii) Impairment

The Group has following assets subject to the expected credit loss model with IFRS 9:

• Trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables;

• Restricted cash;

• Cash and cash equivalents;

• Financial guarantee contracts.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECL which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.
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20 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Impairment (Continued)

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends 
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Impairment on other receivables and loan receivables are measured as either 
12-month ECL or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase 
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment 
is measured as lifetime ECL. To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, 
the Group only transacts with state-owned or reputable financial institutions. There 
has been no recent history of default in relation to these financial institutions.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of 
the previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. Impairment 
testing of financial assets is described in Note 3.1(b).
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20 Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

(c) Accounting policies of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Derecognition

Financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset, if the part being considered for 
derecognition meets one of the following conditions: (i) the contractual rights to 
receive the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or (ii) the contractual rights 
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset have been transferred, the Group 
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset; 
or (iii) the Group retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the 
financial asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to the 
eventual recipient in an agreement that meets all the conditions of de-recognition of 
transfer of cash flows (“pass through” requirements) and transfers substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.

Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety meets the criteria for 
derecognition, the difference between the two amounts below is recognized in profit 
or loss:

• the carrying amount of the financial asset transferred; and

• the sum of the consideration received from the transfer and any cumulative 
gain or loss that has been recognized directly in equity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group continues to 
recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognizes an 
associated liability.

Other financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged, cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit 
or loss.
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21 Long-term bank deposits

An analysis of the Group’s long term bank deposits as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are 
analysed as blow:

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Denominated in:

RMB – 80,996
   

Long-term bank deposits represented bank deposits with original maturities ranging from 2 to 
3 years. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the long-term bank deposits were disposed 
and transferred to a third party.

22 Trade receivables

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Trade receivables 400,421 376,012

Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (Note 3.1(b)) (19,455) (20,953)

380,966 355,059
   

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables balances approximated their fair value as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023. All the trade receivables balances were denominated in RMB.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. Information about the impairment of trade 
receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk has been disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 December 2024, RMB15,000,000 of trade receivables were pledged for certain bank 
borrowings of the Group (Note 31).
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22 Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group allows a credit period within 90 days to its customers. Aging analysis of trade 
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Up to 3 months 383,070 348,177

3 to 6 months 968 9,684

6 to 12 months – 614

Over 1 year 16,383 17,537
 

400,421 376,012
   

23 Prepayments and other receivables

(a) Prepayments and other receivables in non-current assets

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Prepayments for:

Construction of office building 42,766 37,930

Payment terminals 139 –

Others – 1,000

Sub-total 42,905 38,930

Other receivables

Deposits 4,711 4,696

Less: allowance for impairment of other 
 receivables (Note 3.1(b)) (1,740) (1,264)

Sub-total 2,971 3,432

45,876 42,362
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23 Prepayments and other receivables (Continued)

(b) Prepayments and other receivables in current assets

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
  

Prepayments

Prepayments for SaaS terminals 1,300 1,152

Prepayments to media publishers and advertising 
agents 1,392 4,156

Others 6,308 12,295

Less: allowance for impairment of prepayments (3,653) (4,095)

Sub-total 5,347 13,508

Other receivables

Receivables from payment networks (i) 1,997,372 1,795,303

Amounts due from related parties (Note 39(b)) 337,641 318,312

Amounts due from business partners (ii) 19,400 26,361

Deposits placed with financial institutions 1,947 33,663

Deposits on lease and others 80,569 45,763

Payment network deposits 2,457 1,040

Others 115,295 100,676

Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables 
(Note 3.1(b)) (35,659) (42,455)

Sub-total 2,519,022 2,278,663

2,524,369 2,292,171
   

(i) The balance mainly represents funds processed by the Group during the process 
of providing its one-stop payment services and in-store e-commerce services to 
merchants, which had been received by the payment networks, and would be then 
transferred to the respective merchants through the Group in accordance with the 
terms of agreements entered between the Group and the merchants.

(ii) The balance mainly represents advance made by the Group and utility fees to be 
received for the purpose of developing merchants to its business partners, which 
would be deducted from their commission fee or returned within contractual period.

(iii) The carrying amounts of the other receivables balances approximated their fair value 
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Prepayments and other receivables balances were 
mainly denominated in RMB.
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24 Loan receivables

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan receivables (i) 677,935 926,099

Less: allowance for impairment of loan receivables 
(Note 3.1(b)) (19,808) (43,767)

658,127 882,332
   

(i) The loan receivables mainly comprise micro-credit loans and small-sized loans to various 
borrowers provided by the Group itself or through various financial institutions. The loans 
bore interest rate from 5.5% to 36% per annum and with lending periods of less than one 
year. As at 31 December 2024, approximately RMB627,000,000 (2023: RMB590,000,000) 
of the loan receivables were either guaranteed or secured.

(ii) The Group has lent to a large number of borrowers. None of the loan advanced to a single 
borrower contributed 10% or more of the Group’s loan receivables during the years ended 
31 December 2024 and 2023.

25 Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Cash at bank and in hand 2,310,015 2,985,155

Less: restricted cash (a) (1,714,296) (2,097,246)

595,719 887,909
   

(a) Restricted cash mainly represents payments made by consumers and collected by the 
Group on behalf of merchants in connection with the provision of the Group’s one-stop 
payment services, and is denominated in RMB.

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December 
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
RMB 532,880 539,838

USD 30,039 245,149

HKD 30,094 101,583

Other currencies 2,706 1,339

595,719 887,909
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25 Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

(b) Accounting policies of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and 
other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

26 Share capital and share premium

Authorized:

Number of
shares Nominal value  

In USD
In RMB

equivalent

Balance at 31 December 2024 and 2023 1,000,000,000 25,000 176,988
    

Issued:

Number of
shares Nominal value

Share
premium Total    

In USD’000
In RMB’000

equivalent In RMB’000 In RMB’000

As at 1 January 2023 446,543,642 11 75 3,069,864 3,069,939

Transfer shares to awardees upon 
vesting – – – 34,397 34,397

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
cancellation (550,800) – – (10,143) (10,143)

As at 31 December 2023 445,992,842 11 75 3,094,118 3,094,193

As at 1 January 2024 445,992,842 11 75 3,094,118 3,094,193

Transfer shares to awardees upon 
vesting – – – 53,906 53,906

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
cancellation (a) (2,980,400) – (1) (41,284) (41,285)

     

As at 31 December 2024 443,012,442 11 74 3,106,740 3,106,814
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26 Share capital and share premium (Continued)

Issued: (Continued)

Note:

(a) Among the shares repurchased in 2023, 2,980,400 shares were cancelled in 2024, which resulted in a 
decrease of share capital and share premium amounted to RMB41,285,000. (Note 27).

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2024, 4,224,400 shares were repurchased for the purpose of share 
award schemes at par value of US$0.000025 per share for a total cash consideration of approximately 
HKD52,067,000 (equivalent to RMB47,343,000), details are as follows:

Month/Year Number of shares

Highest price 

paid per share

Lowest price 

paid per share

Aggregate

price paid

In HKD In HKD In HKD     

Jan-24 2,170,400 14.76 12.14 29,160,609

Feb-24 527,600 13.52 11.82 6,563,325

Mar-24 105,600 12.64 11.98 1,301,433

Apr-24 522,800 11.74 10.00 5,521,845

May-24 536,000 11.76 10.14 5,859,952

Jun-24 103,600 10.48 10.36 1,085,967

Jul-24 63,600 9.96 9.68 625,804

Aug-24 96,800 10.70 10.48 1,033,424

Sep-24 10,000 9.92 9.92 99,417

Nov-24 10,000 9.90 9.90 99,230

Dec-24 78,000 9.54 9.01 716,009
     

(c) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, 80,628,549 shares and 76,926,283 shares were held by restricted share 
units’ nominees, being Yeah United and Yeah Talent, both of which are controlled and consolidated by the 
Group as structured entities and the above shares held by them for the purpose of restricted share award 
schemes are recorded as treasury shares and included in reserves.
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27 Reserves

Reserves 

Treasury 
shares

Statutory 
reserves

Currency 
translation
differences

Other 
comprehensive 

income

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve

Conversion 
option 

reserve
Other 

reserves Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000         
As at 1 January 2024 (1,282,364) 59,157 (107,229) 489 129,654 97,861 (208,169) (1,310,601)

Transfer shares to awardees 
 of employee share scheme 
 upon vesting 1 – – – (64,519) – – (64,518)

Buy-back of shares for the 
 purpose of cancellation 
 (Note 26(a)) 41,285 – – – – – – 41,285

Buy-back of shares for the 
 purpose of share award 
 schemes (Note 26(b)) (47,343) – – – – – – (47,343)

Profit appropriations to statutory 
 reserves – 2,337 – – – – – 2,337

Profit appropriations to risk 
 reserves – (270) – – – – – (270)

Currency translation differences – – (6,635) – – – – (6,635)

Acquisition of additional equity 
 interests in non-wholly owned 
 subsidiaries (Note 36) – – – – – – (69,798) (69,798)

Repurchase and redemption of 
 convertible bonds (Note 34) – – – – – (97,861) – (97,861)

Share award schemes-value of 
 employee services (Note 35(b)) – – – – 102,759 – – 102,759

Share option schemes-value of 
 employee services (Note 35(a)) – – – – 4,400 – – 4,400

        

As at 31 December 2024 (1,288,421) 61,224 (113,864) 489 172,294 – (277,967) (1,446,245)
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27 Reserves (Continued)

Reserves 

Treasury 
shares

Statutory 
reserves

Currency 
translation
differences

Other 
comprehensive 

income

Share-based 
compensation 

reserve

Conversion 
option 

reserve
Other 

reserves Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000         
As at 1 January 2023 (1,147,025) 55,008 (110,521) 529 95,907 97,861 (208,169) (1,216,410)

Transfer shares to awardees 
 of employee share scheme 
 upon vesting – – – – (46,182) – – (46,182)

Buy-back of shares for the 
 purpose of cancellation (31,535) – – – – – – (31,535)

Buy-back of shares for the 
 purpose of share award 
 schemes (103,804) – – – – – – (103,804)

Profit appropriations to 
 statutory reserves – 4,091 – – – – – 4,091

Profit appropriations to risk 
 reserves – 58 – – – – – 58

Currency translation differences – – 3,292 – – – – 3,292

Share of other comprehensive 
 income of investment accounted 
 for using the equity method – – – (40) – – – (40)

Share award schemes-value of 
 employee services (Note 35(b)) – – – – 77,653 – – 77,653

Share option schemes-value of 
 employee services (Note 35(a)) – – – – 2,276 – – 2,276

As at 31 December 2023 (1,282,364) 59,157 (107,229) 489 129,654 97,861 (208,169) (1,310,601)
         

Pursuant to the relevant rule s and regulations governing foreign investment enterprise 
established in the PRC and the articles of association of certain PRC subsidiaries of the 
Group, the subsidiaries are required to transfer certain portion of their profit after taxation 
to the statutory reserve fund, until the accumulated total of the fund reaches 50% of their 
respective registered capital.

28 Dividends

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company for year ended 31 December 2024 
(2023: nil).
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29 Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities represent deferred revenues arising from advertising fees, entry fees 
received from merchants, platform commission and fair value of unconsumed coupons sold to 
merchants for reduction against payment processing commissions, which are recognized as 
revenue based on the accounting policy set out in Note 6(b)(iv).

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
At the beginning of the year 26,073 31,864

Received from merchants 64,754 95,691

Received from advertising customers 122,417 175,021

Revenue recognized (189,851) (276,503)

At the end of the year 23,393 26,073
   

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all performance obligations not yet satisfied by the 
Group were from contracts with original expected duration of one year or less. Therefore, as 
permitted by the relevant practical expedient under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to 
these unsatisfied performance obligations was not disclosed.

30 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables in current liabilities

As at 31 December
 

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

 

Trade payables (i) 251,302 274,711
 

Other payables
Payables to merchants (ii) 3,267,227 3,645,960
Employee benefit payables 41,508 60,200
Deposits from distribution channels (iii) 71,582 86,849
Other taxes payables 34,643 30,101
Amounts due to related parties (Note 39(b)) 27,207 16,054
Dividends payable 16,253 –
Interest payable on convertible bonds – 14,602
Provision for regulatory fines – 27,814
Others 213,054 165,375

 

3,671,474 4,046,955

3,922,776 4,321,666
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30 Trade and other payables (Continued)

Trade and other payables in current liabilities (Continued)

(i) Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to media publishers, suppliers for purchase 
of payment terminals and other equipment, commission payable to distribution channels 
for one-stop payment services and in-store e-commerce services and processing fees 
payable to payment networks and financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of trade payables based on the 
invoice date was as follows:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Up to 3 months 123,336 158,512

3 to 6 months 16,276 30,520

Over 6 months 111,690 85,679

251,302 274,711
   

(ii) The balance represents funds processed by the Group for merchants, which are required 
to be settled with merchants upon the respective contractual settlement clearance dates.

(iii) The amount represents refundable deposits placed by distribution channels with the 
Group when they signed up the distribution channel agreements with the Group. It would 
be refunded to the respective distribution channel upon expiration of the agreements.

(iv) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, trade and other payables were mainly denominated in 
RMB and the fair values of these balances approximated their carrying amounts.
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31 Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current

Bank borrowings

– unsecured but guaranteed (a) 884,003 723,062

– unsecured and unguaranteed 9,990 –

– secured and guaranteed (a) 15,000 7,000

Borrowing from other non-banking financial 
 institutions

– unsecured but guaranteed – 50,000

– secured and guaranteed (b) 20,000 –

928,993 780,062

Non-current

Bank borrowings

– unsecured but guaranteed (c) 3,000 –
   

(a) For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, bank borrowings bore effective interest 
rate of 3.8% and 4.4% per annum, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of RMB451,250,000 of Shenzhen Yeahka was 
jointly guaranteed by Leshua and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of RMB349,700,000 of Leshua was jointly 
guaranteed by Shenzhen Yeahka and the Company.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of RMB45,053,000 of Yeahka Limited was 
guaranteed by Shenzhen Yeahka.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of RMB23,000,000 of Chuangxinzhong 
was guaranteed by Qin Lingjin (“Mr. Qin”). Bank borrowings of RMB15,000,000 of 
Chuangxinzhong was secured by pledge of certain trade receivables, and jointly 
guaranteed by Tianjin Chuangxinzhong and Mr. Qin.

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of RMB10,000,000 of Beijing Chuangxinhe 
Technology Co., Ltd. was jointly guaranteed by Beijing Zhongguancun Technology 
Financing Guarantee Co., Ltd. and Mr. Qin. Bank borrowings of RMB5,000,000 of Beijing 
Chuangxinhe Technology Co., Ltd. was jointly guaranteed by Chuangxinzhong and Mr. Qin.
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31 Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings of RMB20,000,000 of Feiquan Cloud bore 
effective interest rate of 4.9% per annum, which was secured by pledge of patent rights 
and jointly guaranteed by Shenzhen Yeahka, Leshua and the Company.

(c) As at 31 December 2024, long-term bank borrowings of RMB3,000,000 of Beijing 
Chuangxinhe Technology Co., Ltd. was jointly guaranteed by Beijing Capital Financing 
Guarantee Co., Ltd. and Mr. Qin.

32 Financial liabilities at FVPL

As at 31 December
 

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

Current liabilities

Contingent consideration (a) – 24,880

The movement of the financial liabilities at FVPL is set out below:

Year ended 31 December
 

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
 

At the beginning of the year 24,880 30,173

Changes in fair value 394 19,287

Settlement of the contingent consideration 
 relating to the acquisition of Chuangxinzhong (b) (26,316) (25,624)

Currency translation differences 1,042 1,044

At the end of the year – 24,880
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32 Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

(a) The balance mainly represented the fair value of the contingent consideration payable 
relating to the acquisition of Chuangxinzhong, which the ultimate payout is contingent 
upon the fulfilment of certain guaranteed annual profit targets set for Chuangxinzhong 
for each of the three years ending 30 November 2021, 2022 and 2023.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the contingent cash consideration relating 
to the acquisition of Chuangxinzhong was fixed at RMB26,316,000 as a result of the 
fulfilment of the guaranteed profit target for the year ended 30 November 2023 by 
the original shareholders of Chuangxinzhong. As at 31 December 2024, RMB21,855,000 
of the above fixed contingent consideration was paid to the original shareholders of 
Chuangxinzhong.

33 Deferred income tax

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

(a) Deferred income tax assets

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Tax losses 40,667 38,523

Others 21,992 25,525

62,659 64,048
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33 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(a) Deferred income tax assets (Continued)

The movement on the deferred tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting 
of balance within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Tax losses
Lease 

liabilities Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 31 December 2022 27,191 2,382 9,919 39,492

Credited to consolidated 
 statement of 
 comprehensive income 11,332 3,936 9,288 24,556

As at 31 December 2023 38,523 6,318 19,207 64,048

Debited to consolidated 
 statement of 
 comprehensive income 2,144 (458) (3,075) (1,389)

As at 31 December 2024 40,667 5,860 16,132 62,659
     

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, deferred tax assets associated with tax losses of 
approximately RMB8,617,000 and RMB5,618,000 of Yeahka Technology Limited (a Hong 
Kong subsidiary of the Group) had not been recognized, which can be carried forward 
against future taxable income with no expiry date. The Group only recognizes deferred 
income tax assets for cumulative tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilize those tax losses. Management will continue to assess the 
recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods. The remaining tax 
losses of certain PRC group entities that had not been recognized as deferred tax assets 
can be carried forward against future taxable income will expire in the following years:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
2025 44,786 45,562

2026 53,603 53,603

2027 159,244 160,427

2028 139,694 139,694

2029 104,381 –

501,708 399,286
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33 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fair value changes of financial assets or 
 liabilities at FVPL 78,667 70,668

Right of use assets 5,768 6,201

Intangible assets 4,350 7,590

88,785 84,459
   

The movement on the deferred tax liabilities without taking into consideration the 
offsetting of balance within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Intangible 
assets

Fair value 
changes of 

financial 
assets and 

liabilities
Right-of-use 

assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2023 11,076 45,778 2,267 59,121

(Credited)/debited to 
 consolidated statement 
 of comprehensive 
 income (3,486) 24,890 3,934 25,338

As at 31 December 2023 7,590 70,668 6,201 84,459

As at 1 January 2024 7,590 70,668 6,201 84,459

(Credited)/debited to 
 consolidated statement 
 of comprehensive 
 income (3,240) 7,999 (433) 4,326

    

As at 31 December 2024 4,350 78,667 5,768 88,785
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33 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c) The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities is 
as follows:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total gross deferred income tax assets 62,659 64,048

Offsetting (5,536) (6,195)

Net deferred income tax assets 57,123 57,853

Total gross deferred income tax liabilities 88,785 84,459

Offsetting (5,536) (6,195)

Net deferred income tax liabilities 83,249 78,264
   

34 Convertible bonds

The Group issued USD70,000,000 convertible bonds at a coupon interest rate of 6.25% per 
annum on 13 July 2022. The bonds mature in five years from the issue date. The bonds could 
be converted into the Company’s ordinary shares, at the holder’s option at any time on or after 
23 August 2022 up to the close of business on the 10th day prior to the maturity date (both 
days inclusive), at HKD23.32 (fixed in USD at USD2.97) per share. The holder of the bonds had 
the right to require the Company to redeem all or some of the bonds if Mr. Liu Yingqi and his 
affiliates together ceased (directly or indirectly) to own at least 25% of the equity interest of 
the Company.

The net proceeds from the issue of the convertible bonds were approximately RMB457,059,000, 
after the deduction of transaction costs approximately RMB13,915,000. The initial value of the 
liability component of approximated to RMB359,198,000 (the fair value was calculated using 
a market interest rate for equivalent non-convertible bonds) and is subsequently stated at 
amortized cost until conversion or maturity of the bonds. The residual amount, representing 
the value of the equity conversion component, is accounted for as a conversion option reserve 
included in other reserves.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company repurchased all initial principal 
amounts of  convert ib le bonds amount ing to USD70,000,000 (approx imate ly to 
RMB498,352,000) at a discount price of USD69,527,500 (approximately to RMB494,994,000). 
The repurchase price was allocated between the liability component and the equity component 
on the same basis that was used in the original allocation process. Any difference between the 
consideration payable allocated to liability component and the liability component’s carrying 
amount was recognized in profit or loss.
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34 Convertible bonds (Continued)

The convertible bonds recognized are calculated as follows:

RMB’000

Face value of the convertible bonds on the issue date 470,974

Less: transaction costs (13,915)

Net proceeds 457,059

Less: equity component (Note 27) (97,861)

Liability component on initial recognition 359,198

Liability component at 1 January 2023 379,320

Interest accrued at amortization cost 50,581

Coupon interest paid (30,869)

Currency translation differences 6,507

Liability component at 31 December 2023 405,539

Liability component at 1 January 2024 405,539

Interest accrued at amortization cost 23,953

Coupon interest paid (29,097)

Repurchase and redemption (369,934)

Adjustment of amortized cost of convertible bonds due to 
 repurchase and redemption (26,009)

Currency translation differences (4,452)

Liability component at 31 December 2024 –
  

Interest expenses on the liability component of the convertible bonds were calculated using 
the effective interest method, applying the effective interest rate of 12.83% per annum.

35 Share-based payments

(a) Share option schemes

In September 2020, the board of the Company proposed to adopt the share option 
scheme to attract, retain and motivate talented employees to strive towards long term 
performance targets set by the Group and to provide them with an incentive to work 
better for the interest of the Group. The proposal was approved by the general meeting of 
the Company in October 2020.

The Company has granted three batches of share options to employees and directors, 
on 7 January 2021, 12 May 2021 and 21 January 2022, respectively. The granted share 
options are vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 42-month, 4-year and 4-year period 
from vesting commencement, respectively.
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35 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued)

(i) Movements in the number of share options granted to employees outstanding and 
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

No. of options

Average 
exercise price 

per share 
option (HKD)

Outstanding as at 1 January 2024 4,897,250 44.18

Granted during the year – –

Forfeited during the year (40,000) 33.02
  

Outstanding as at 31 December 2024 4,857,250 44.27
  

Vested and exercisable as at 
 31 December 2024 3,506,000 45.34

  

Outstanding as at 1 January 2023 5,160,000 47.77

Forfeited during the year (262,750) 38.81

Outstanding as at 31 December 2023 4,897,250 44.18

Vested and exercisable as at 
 31 December 2023 3,003,250 45.55
   

During year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the forfeiture of share options 
prior to their respective expiry dates were due to the resignation of certain grantees.

The weighted-average remaining life for the above outstanding share options was 
6.29 years as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 7.29 years).
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35 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued)

(ii) Movements in the number of share options granted to directors outstanding and 
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

No. of options

Average 
exercise price 

per share 
option (HKD)

Outstanding as at 1 January 2024 400,000 44.20  
Outstanding as at 31 December 2024 400,000 44.20

  
Vested and exercisable as at 
 31 December 2024 400,000 44.20

Outstanding as at 1 January 2023 400,000 44.20

Outstanding as at 31 December 2023 400,000 44.20

Vested and exercisable as at 
 31 December 2023 300,000 44.20
   

The weighted-average remaining life for the above outstanding share options was 
6.02 years as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 7.02 years).
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35 Share-based payments (Continued)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued)

(ii) Movements in the number of share options granted to directors outstanding and 
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

The share-based compensation expenses recognized during the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are summarised in the following table:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Employee options scheme
 – value of employee services 4,400 2,276
   

(b) Share award schemes

Under a stock incentive plan approved by the board of directors of the Company 
(the “Share Award Plan”), several batches of share options were granted to certain 
employees and directors.

In August 2019, the board of directors of the Company passed a resolution, according 
to which all outstanding options representing 34,109,384 shares of the Company granted 
under the Share Award Plan were converted into 34,109,384 shares of restricted share unit 
(“RSU”) granted to the same option holders, who became eligible participants under such 
scheme. There was no modification of terms or conditions which had increased the fair 
value of the equity instruments granted and such arrangement was accounted for as the 
continuance of the original Share Award Plan.
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35 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) Share award schemes (Continued)

Details of RSUs granted are as follows:

Grant date
(yyyy/mm/dd)

Number of 
RSU after 

share subdivision Vesting period
Exercise 

price Expiration terms

2018/1/1 3,280,000 To be vested evenly within a 4-year 
 period from vesting commencement

USD1.06 15 years from 
 date of grant

2019/8/1 3,524,000 To be vested evenly with in a 4-year 
 period from vesting commencement

USD1.62 Same as above

2021/1/7 390,000 To be vested evenly with in a 42 months 
 period from vesting commencement

HKD16.64 Same as above

2022/1/21 1,500,000 Note i HKD0.01 Same as above

2023/3/28 8,151,565 Note ii HKD0.01 Same as above

2024/6/5 7,745,914 Note iii HKD0.01 Same as above

2024/8/27 Note iv To be vested evenly within a 27 months 
 period from vesting commencement

Nil Same as above

     

Note i: There are two types of vesting schedules: (1) to be vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 
4-year period from vesting commencement; (2) to be vested evenly in 5 distributions within 
a 4-year period form vesting commencement or two months after the commencement of the 
employment contract of the respective grantee.

Note ii: There are three types of vesting schedules: (1) to be vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 
4-year period from vesting commencement; (2) to be vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 37 
months period from vesting commencement; (3) to be vested evenly in 2 distributions within a 
2-year period from vesting commencement.

Note iii: There are four types of vesting schedules: (1) to be vested in full in the month of grant; (2) to be 
vested evenly in 2 distributions within a 14 months period from vesting commencement; (3) to 
be vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 38 months period from vesting commencement; (4) 
to be vested evenly in 4 distributions within a 4-year period from vesting commencement.

Note iv: In August 2024, the Company granted a bonus award to the certain employees that entitles 
them to receive a variable number of shares with fair value equivalent to the bonus award 
amount, if they remain in employment for three years and fulfill certain performance targets for 
each of the three years ending 30 November 2024, 2025 and 2026. The number of shares that 
the employees will receive is based on the share price on the vesting date and to be approved 
by the Board of the Company.
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35 Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) Share award schemes (Continued)

The share-based compensation expenses recognized during the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023 are summarized in the following table:

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Employee share schemes – value of 
 employee services 102,759 77,653
   

Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding and their related exercise prices:

Average 
exercise 

price (RMB)
Number of 

RSUs

Outstanding balance as at 1 January 2024 0.14 7,454,773

Granted during the year 0.01 7,745,914

Vested during the year 0.01 (4,065,417)

Forfeited during the year 0.01 (455,140)

Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2024 0.10 10,680,130

– Vested but not transferred as at 
 31 December 2024 0.01 496,100

Outstanding balance as at 1 January 2023 5.14 2,033,760

Granted during the year 0.01 8,151,565

Vested during the year 4.25 (2,437,672)

Forfeited during the year 1.10 (292,880)

Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2023 0.14 7,454,773

– Vested but not transferred as at 
 31 December 2023 6.17 3,314,432
   

The fair value of the awarded shares was determined based on the market price of the 
Company’s shares at the respective grant date. The expected dividends during the vesting 
period have been taken into account when assessing the fair value of these awarded 
shares.

The weighted average fair value of awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 
December 2024 was HKD10.29 per share (equivalent to approximately RMB9.37 per share) 
(2023: HKD24.84 (RMB21.75)).
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36 Non-controlling interests

Set out below is summarized financial information of each subsidiary that has non-controlling 
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed of each subsidiary are those 
before inter-company eliminations.

As at 31 December 
Chuangxinzhong Leshua Shangquan Dingding Cultural IVP Growth

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
   

Summarized statement of 
 financial position

Current assets 361,957 332,020 36,770 38,280 40,569 42,685 – –

Current liabilities (143,844) (119,164) (249,359) (227,661) (294,436) (302,969) – –

Current net assets/(liabilities) 218,113 212,856 (212,589) (189,381) (253,867) (260,284) – –

Non-current assets 7,441 8,840 7,225 7,265 4,847 5,886 428,603 376,860

Non-current liabilities (6,790) (7,833) – – (1,659) (2,980) – –

Non-current net assets 651 1,007 7,225 7,265 3,188 2,906 428,603 376,860

Net assets 218,764 213,863 (205,364) (182,116) (250,679) (257,378) 428,603 376,860

Accumulated 
 non-controlling interests – 34,323 (71,877) (63,740) (44,137) (97,011) 40,527 35,823
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36 Non-controlling interests (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 
Chuangxinzhong Leshua Shangquan Dingding Cultural IVP Growth

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      
Summarized statement of 
 comprehensive income

Revenue 86,719 125,865 2,438 3,913 50,097 97,863 – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 21,154 69,875 (23,247) (34,062) 6,698 (9,234) 51,742 87,975

Total comprehensive 
 income/(loss) 21,154 69,875 (23,247) (34,062) 6,698 (9,234) 51,742 87,975

Profit/(loss) allocated to 
 non-controlling interests 762 9,257 (8,137) (12,082) (6,390) (5,966) 4,704 7,998

       

Year ended 31 December

Chuangxinzhong Leshua Shangquan Dingding Cultural IVP Growth

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Summarized statement of 
 cash flows

Cash flows from operating 
 activities (10,430) (28,410) 114 (11,443) (15,817) (152,006) (90) 11

Cash flows from investing 
 activities (60) – – – (185) 526 – –

Cash flows from financing 
 activities (1,876) 4,493 – 1,536 16,532 149,924 – –

Net increase/(decrease) in 
 cash and cash equivalents (12,366) (23,917) 114 (9,907) 530 (1,556) (90) 11
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36 Non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) Transactions with non-controlling interests

The impact of transactions with non-controlling interests during the year ended 31 
December 2024 were as below:

Credit/(debit) 
to other
reserves

Credit/
(debit) to non-

controlling 
interests

Total net
debit to equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Acquisition of additional 
 interest in a non – wholly 
 owned subsidiary – 
 Chuangxinzhong (i) 85 (18,832) (18,747)

Acquisition of additional 
 interest in a non – wholly 
 owned subsidiary – Dingding 
 Cultural (ii) (69,883) 59,263 (10,620)

(69,798) 40,431 (29,367)

(i) Acquisition of additional interest in Chuangxinzhong

On 27 August 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with the 
non-controlling shareholder of Chuangxinzhong to acquire additional 15% equity 
interest at a cash consideration of RMB18,747,000.

The Group recorded a debit of approximately RMB18,832,000 to non-controlling 
interests and a credit to other reserve is RMB85,000.

RMB’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired (18,832)

Less:

Cash consideration paid to non-controlling interests 5,000

Cash consideration payable to non-controlling interests 13,747

Excess of consideration paid to non-controlling interests 
 recognized within equity (85)
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36 Non-controlling interests (Continued)

(a) Transactions with non-controlling interests (Continued)

(ii) Acquisition of additional interest in Dingding Cultural

In October 2021, Leshou, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into an 
agreement to subscribe the newly increased registered capital of Dingding Cultural 
at a consideration of RMB100,000,000 so as to obtain 60% equity interest in 
Dingding Cultural. As set out in the share purchase agreement, if Dingding Cultural 
couldn’t complete the financial guarantee, gross merchandise value guarantee and 
other prerequisites, non-controlling shareholders transfers all his shareholding in 
Dingding Cultural to Leshou for free.

In October 2024, the non-controlling shareholders of Dingding Cultural transferred 
additional 40% equity interest to Leshou at a cash consideration of RMB40,000.

The Group recorded a credit of approximately RMB59,263,000 to non-controlling 
interests and a debit of approximately RMB69,883,000 to other reserve.

RMB’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 59,263

Less:

Contingent consideration to non-controlling interest 10,580

Cash consideration paid to non-controlling interests 40

Excess of consideration paid to non-controlling interests 
 recognized within equity 69,883

37 Business combinations

(a) Acquisition of Yeahpay Singapore

In March 2024, In order to expand the one-stop payment business to overseas, Yeahka 
Technology acquired 100% of the equity interest in Yeahpay Singapore from the original 
shareholders for a cash consideration of USD1,000,000. Yeahpay Singapore is mainly 
engaged in provision of one-stop payment services to merchants in Singapore.

Goodwill of approximately RMB14,257,000 had been recognized for the acquisition, 
which represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the 
net identifiable liabilities assumed. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.
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37 Business combinations (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of Yeahpay Singapore (Continued)

The following table summarises the consideration paid for the acquisition, the fair value 
of net liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

RMB’000

Cash consideration paid 951

Receivable from the original shareholder 6,954

Total consideration paid 7,905
  

The separately identifiable assets and liabilities recognized as a result of the acquisition 
are as follows:

Fair value

RMB’000  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,562

Trade receivables 64

Prepayments and other receivables 3,295

Trade and other payables (11,230)

Salaries payables (43)

Total identifiable net liabilities (6,352)

Goodwill 14,257

(i) Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

RMB’000

Cash consideration (951)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1,562

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in 
 cash flows from investing activities 611
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37 Business combinations (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of Yeahpay Singapore (Continued)

(ii) Revenue and profit contribution

Had the Acquired Company been consolidated from 1 January 2024, consolidated 
revenue and consolidated net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024 would have been RMB3,087,360,000 and RMB63,788,000, respectively.

(b) Acquisition of Aile

In April 2024, In order to expand the one-stop payment business to overseas, Yeahka 
Technology acquired 100% of the equity interest in Aile from the original shareholders for 
a cash consideration of HKD1,000,000. Aile is mainly engaged in provision of one-stop 
payment services to merchants in Hong Kong.

Goodwill of approximately RMB3,558,000 had been recognized for the acquisition, 
which represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the 
net identifiable liabilities assumed. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be 
deductible for income tax purposes.

The following table summarises the consideration paid for the acquisition, the fair value 
of net liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

RMB’000

Cash consideration paid 907
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37 Business combinations (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of Aile (Continued)

The separately identifiable assets and liabilities recognized as a result of the acquisition 
are as follows:

Fair value

RMB’000  
Cash and cash equivalents 1,026

Financial asset 7,113

Prepayments and other receivables 1,342

Plant and equipment 620

Right of use assets 603

Trade and other payables (12,639)

Contract liabilities (85)

Lease liabilities (631)

Total identifiable net liabilities (2,651)

Goodwill 3,558
  

(i) Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

RMB’000

Cash consideration (907)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1,026

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in 
 cash flows from investing activities 119
  

(ii) Revenue and profit contribution

Had the Acquired Company been consolidated from 1 January 2024, consolidated 
revenue and consolidated net profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2024 would have been RMB3,086,744,000 and RMB71,747,000, respectively.
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows

(a) Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before income tax 83,447 35,434

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 29,575 37,719

Amortization of intangible assets 18,058 18,211

Amortization of other non-current assets 105,620 94,980

Gains on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment (277) (452)

Net impairment losses on financial assets 88,183 57,843

Impairment reversal on prepayments (442) (358)

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses 107,159 79,929

Share of profits of associates (29,530) (357)

Gains on repurchase of convertible bonds (26,009) –

Net fair value gains on financial assets and 
 liabilities at FVPL (81,051) (144,563)

Gains on disposal of financial assets at FVPL – (1,671)

Interest expenses on convertible bonds 23,953 50,581

Interest expenses on bank and other borrowings 34,834 36,809

Interest expenses on leases 2,797 2,547

Interest income (22,872) (40,100)

Changes in working capital:

Increase in trade receivables (24,345) (71,839)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments and other 
 receivables (222,595) 101,305

Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables 135,060 (355,170)

Decrease in inventories 882 4,169

Decrease in other current assets 4,557 17,312

Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash 382,950 (1,205,330)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other 
 payables (441,960) 1,007,495

Decrease in contract liabilities (2,765) (7,875)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 165,229 (283,381)
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows (Continued)

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Additions in right-of-use assets 6,462 52,368
   

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

This section sets out an analysis of net debt cash and the movements in net debt cash for 
each of the years presented.

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and cash equivalents 595,719 887,909

Convertible bonds – (405,539)

Bank and other borrowings (931,993) (780,062)

Lease liabilities (35,932) (51,417)
 

Net debt (372,206) (349,109)
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38 Notes to consolidated statement of cash flows (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Other assets Liabilities from financing activities

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents
Lease 

liabilities Borrowings
Convertible 

bonds Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash as at 
 1 January 2024 887,909 (51,417) (780,062) (405,539) (349,109)

Cash flows (294,669) 24,344 (151,931) 494,994 72,738

Other non-cash movements 2,479 (8,859) – (89,455) (95,835)
     

Net cash as at 
 31 December 2024 595,719 (35,932) (931,993) – (372,206)

     

Net cash as at 
 1 January 2023 1,591,508 (26,622) (680,390) (379,320) 505,176

Cash flows (711,135) 26,659 (99,672) (30,367) (814,515)

Other non-cash movements 7,536 (51,454) – 4,148 (39,770)

Net cash as at 31 
 December 2023 887,909 (51,417) (780,062) (405,539) (349,109)
      

39 Significant related party transactions

Parties are related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. 
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members of 
key management and their close family members of the Group are also considered as related 
parties.

The following parties are related parties of the Group that had significant transactions and/or 
balances with the Group during the years ended and as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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39 Significant related party transactions (Continued)

Name of the related parties Nature of relationship

Shenzhen Xunxiang Technology Co., Ltd 
 (“Xun Xiang”)

Associate of the Group

Zhizhanggui Associate of the Group

Chaomeng Financial Technology 
 (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Chao Meng”)

Associate of the Group

RYK Associate of the Group

Fushi Associate of the Group

Source Winner Limited, Bright Usening 
 Limited, Better One Limited, Nice Globe 
 Limited, Summer.A Limited (collectively 
 as “Founders of Chuangxinzhong”)

Entities controlled by Chuangxinzhong’s 
 non-controlling shareholders

Tianjin Pinghe Management Consulting 
 Partnership (Limited Partnership)

An entity controlled by Chuangxinzhong’s 
 non-controlling shareholders

Ren Yangbin (“Mr. Ren”) Key management person of a subsidiary

Sun Yang (“Mr. Sun”) Key management person of a subsidiary

(a) Continuing transactions with related parties

(i) Technology service income

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

RYK 1,553 1,692

Fushi 43,455 44,519

45,008 46,211
   

(ii) Interest income

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Zhizhanggui 1,932 1,152
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39 Significant related party transactions (Continued)

(a) Continuing transactions with related parties (Continued)

(iii) Commissions to distribution channels

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fushi 273,091 362,987

Zhizhanggui 4,526 3,341

Xun Xiang 1,524 1,626

279,141 367,954
   

(iv) Marketing service costs

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fushi 5,512 8,528
   

(v) Cost of goods sold

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Zhizhanggui 873 657
   

(vi) Marketing service income

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Zhizhanggui 162 2,152
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39 Significant related party transactions (Continued)

(a) Continuing transactions with related parties (Continued)

(vii) Loan to associates

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fushi 11,074 –

Zhizhanggui – 38,000
 

11,074 38,000
   

In 2024, the Group offered interest-free loan of RMB11,074,000 to Fushi with a term 
of 12 months.

In 2023, the Group offered operational loan of RMB38,000,000 to Zhizhanggui, which 
bears an interest of 4.38% per annum and has a term of 12 months.

(b) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Investments in preferred shares and financial 
 instruments of Fushi (Note 20) 834,957 731,898

 

Trade receivables

Zhizhanggui 168 162

Fushi 60,025 38,591
 

60,193 38,753
 

Less: allowance for impairment of amount due 
 from related parties (1,896) (980)

 

58,297 37,773
 

Other receivables

Mr. Ren 420 420

Mr. Sun 2,000 2,000

Zhizhanggui

– Loan to Zhizhanggui (Note 39(a)(vii)) 46,000 46,000

– Others 140,689 138,641
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As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000 
Fushi

– Loan to Fushi (Note 39(a)(vii)) 107,724 96,228

– Others 12,520 6,643

Chao Meng 27,870 27,870

RYK 418 510

337,641 318,312

Less: allowance for amount due from Chao Meng (27,870) (27,870)

Less: allowance for impairment of amount due 
 from other related parties (4,077) (3,970)

305,694 286,472

Trade payables

Zhizhanggui 10,093 6,283

Fushi 1,460 20,568

11,553 26,851

Other payables

Zhizhanggui 1,043 780

Fushi 26,164 15,274

27,207 16,054
   

39 Significant related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)
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39 Significant related party transactions (Continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

– Financial liabilities at FVPL

 Tianjin Pinghe Management Consulting 
  Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Note 32) – 24,880

 

– Financial guarantee received from

  Mr. Qin 56,000 33,000
   

(c) Terms and conditions

The above transactions with related parties were made on normal commercial terms and 
conditions and market rates.

Except from loans to Zhizhanggui which are interest bearing (Note 39(a)(vii)), all other 
outstanding balances with related parties are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on 
demand.

(d) Key management personnel compensation

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Wages and salaries 4,095 3,317

Discretionary bonuses 480 1,612

Welfare, medical and other expenses 277 316

Defined contribution plans 279 268

Employee share schemes – value of 
 employee services 5,459 5,257

10,590 10,770
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40 Benefits and interests of Directors

The remuneration of each director of the Company paid/payable by the Group for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, are set out as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024:

Name Director’s fee Salaries
Discretionary 

bonuses

Allowances 
and benefits 

in kind

Employee 
share 

schemes – 
value of 

employee 
services

Social 
security and 

housing fund Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yingqi* – 584 100 – – 96 780

Mr. Yao Zhijian – 1,015 100 – 2,561 102 3,778

Mr. Luo Xiaohui – 1,235 100 – 1,590 104 3,029

Ms. Liang Shengtian – 780 80 – 679 95 1,634

Non-Executive Director:

Mr. Akio Tanaka** – – – – – – –

Independent 
 Non-Executive 
 Directors:

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 225 – – – – – 225

Mr. Yao Wei 225 – – – – – 225

Mr. Yang Tao** 225 – – – – – 225

Mr. Ouyang Rihui*** – – – – – – –
       

675 3,614 380 – 4,830 397 9,896
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40 Benefits and interests of Directors (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2023:

Name Director’s fee Salaries
Discretionary 

bonuses

Allowances 
and benefits 

in kind

Employee 
share 

schemes – 
value of 

employee 
services

Social 
security and 

housing fund Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yingqi* – 581 348 – – 154 1,083

Mr. Yao Zhijian – 1,020 561 – 3,061 159 4,801

Mr. Luo Xiaohui – 1,235 420 – 1,539 159 3,353

Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Mathias Nicolaus 
 Schilling – – – – – – –

Mr. Akio Tanaka – – – – – – –

Independent Non-
 Executive Directors:

Mr. Tam Bing Chung Benson 225 – – – – – 225

Mr. Yao Wei 225 – – – – – 225

Mr. Yang Tao 225 – – – – – 225

675 2,836 1,329 – 4,600 472 9,912
        

* Liu Yingqi is the CEO of the company.

** Mr. Yangtao and Mr. Akio Tanaka resigned on 11 December 2024

*** Mr. Ouyang Rihui was appointed on 11 December 2024.

There was no director received or receivable of any emolument from the Group as an 
inducement to join or upon joining, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of office; no 
directors and senior management waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments for the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

No consideration was provided to third parties for making available directors’ services during 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

No retirement or termination benefits have been paid to the Company’s directors for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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40 Benefits and interests of Directors (Continued)

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings entered into by the Company in favour of 
directors, controlled body corporates by and connected entities with such directors for the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business 
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023.

41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company

As at 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 41(a) 662,502 662,502

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
 or loss 41(b) 6,643 20,694

Property, plant and equipment 167 165

669,312 683,361

Current assets

Other receivables 41(c) 805,948 1,197,442

Financial assets at fair value through profit 
 or loss 41(b) 4,522 5,305

Cash and cash equivalents 41(d) 36,059 168,491

846,529 1,371,238

Total assets 1,515,841 2,054,599

EQUITY

Share capital and share premium 3,106,814 3,094,193

Reserves 41(e) (1,145,368) (1,106,392)

Accumulated losses (739,841) (607,241)

Total equity 1,221,605 1,380,560
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As at 31 December

2024 2023

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Convertible bonds 34 – 405,539

Current liabilities

Other payables 41(f) 249,183 259,438

Borrowings 45,053 9,062

294,236 268,500

Total liabilities 294,236 674,039

Total equity and liabilities 1,515,841 2,054,599
    

The financial position of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 
2025 and was signed on its behalf.

Liu Yingqi Yao Zhijian

Director Director

41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company (Continued)
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41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company (Continued)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries

The subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are disclosed in Note 
1.2.

(b) Financial assets at FVPL

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Opening balance 25,999 44,667

Addition – 35,864

Disposal (3,191) (17,277)

Changes in fair value (11,875) 13,858

Currency translation differences 232 (51,113)
 

Closing balance 11,165 25,999
 

Representing:

Current portion 4,522 5,305

Non-current portion 6,643 20,694
 

11,165 25,999
   

(c) Other receivables

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amount due from a related party 716,660 1,109,484

Others 89,288 87,958

805,948 1,197,442
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41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company (Continued)

(d) Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank 36,059 168,491
   

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

USD 8,748 143,421

HKD 27,311 25,070

36,059 168,491
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41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company (Continued)

(e) Reserves

Reserves

Treasury shares

Currency
translation 
differences

Share-based
Compensation 

reserve
Conversion

option reserve Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 2024 (1,282,364) (51,543) 129,654 97,861 (1,106,392)

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
 cancellation (Note 26(a)) 41,285 – – – 41,285

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
 share award schemes (Note 26(b)) (47,343) – – – (47,343)

Transfer shares to awardees of employee 
 share scheme upon vesting 1 – (64,519) – (64,518)

Currency translation differences – 22,302 – – 22,302

Share award schemes-value of employee 
 services (Note 35(b)) – – 102,759 – 102,759

Share option schemes-value of employee 
 services (Note 35(a)) – – 4,400 – 4,400

Repurchase of convertible bonds – – – (97,861) (97,861)

As at 31 December 2024 (1,288,421) (29,241) 172,294 – (1,145,368)

As at 1 January 2023 (1,147,025) (61,133) 95,907 97,861 (1,014,390)

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
 cancellation (31,535) – – – (31,535)

Buy-back of shares for the purpose of 
 share award schemes (103,804) – – – (103,804)

Transfer shares to awardees of employee 
 share scheme upon vesting – – (46,182) – (46,182)

Currency translation differences – 9,590 – – 9,590

Share award schemes-value of employee 
 services (Note 35(b)) – – 77,653 – 77,653

Share option schemes-value of employee 
 services (Note 35(a)) – – 2,276 – 2,276

As at 31 December 2023 (1,282,364) (51,543) 129,654 97,861 (1,106,392)
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41 Financial Position of the Company and Notes to Financial Position of the 
Company (Continued)

(f) Other payables

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to related parties 245,782 239,495

Others 3,401 19,943

249,183 259,438
   

42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies

42.1 Subsidiaries

42.1.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 
control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights 
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They 
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. When 
necessary, accounting policies by subsidiaries have been changed to conform to the 
Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of financial position, respectively.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

42.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(a) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual arrangements

As described in Note 1.2(a), Yeahka WFOE has entered into the contractual 
arrangements with Shenzhen Yeahka and its registered shareholders which 
enable Yeahka WFOE and the Group to:

• Exercise effective control over Shenzhen Yeahka;

• Exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Shenzhen Yeahka;

• Receive substantially all the economic interests and returns generated 
by Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries in consideration for technical 
support, consulting and other services provided exclusively by Yeahka 
WFOE, at Yeahka WFOE’s discretion;

• Obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all equity interests 
in Shenzhen Yeahka from its registered shareholders at a nominal 
consideration unless the relevant government authorities request that 
another amount be used as the purchase consideration and in which case 
the purchase consideration shall be such amount. Where the purchase 
consideration is required by the relevant government authorities to be 
an amount other than a nominal amount, the registered shareholders of 
Shenzhen Yeahka shall return the amount of purchase consideration they 
have received to Yeahka WFOE. At Yeahka WFOE’s request, the registered 
shareholders of Shenzhen Yeahka will promptly and unconditionally 
transfer their respective equity interests in Shenzhen Yeahka to Yeahka 
WFOE (or its designee within the Group) after Yeahka WFOE exercises its 
purchase right;

• Obtain pledges over the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Yeahka from 
its registered shareholders to secure, among others, performance of their 
obligations under the contractual arrangements.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

42.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result 
in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change 
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts 
of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests 
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to 
non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognized in 
reserve within equity.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment 
because of a loss of control, joint control or significant influence, any retained 
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying 
amount recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets 
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another 
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.

(c) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business 
combinations other than under common control, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

• fair values of the assets transferred,

• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business,

• equity interests issued by the Group,

• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, and

• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

42.1.1 Consolidation (Continued)

(c) Business combinations (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the 
acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net 
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the

• consideration transferred;

• amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and

• acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired 
entity over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded 
as goodwill.

If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of 
the business acquired, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss as a 
bargain purchase.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. 
Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair 
value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date 
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising 
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

42.1.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes 
direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for 
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a 
dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive 
income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying 
amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying 
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets 
including goodwill.

42.2 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting in 
accordance with IAS 28. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognized 
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s 
share of the profit or loss of the investee and the share of other comprehensive income 
of the investee after the date of acquisition. Dividends received or receivable from 
associates are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. The 
Group’s investments in these associates include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of 
any accumulated impairment loss. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an 
associate, the excess cost of the associate over the Group’s share of the net fair value 
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the 
business acquired, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, 
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.2 Associates (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of the associates’ post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount 
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equal or exceed its 
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not 
recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that 
the investments in the associate are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the 
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate 
and its carrying value and recognizes the amount adjacent to “share of profits/(losses) 
of investments accounted for using the equity method” in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the 
Group and its associate are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements 
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealized losses 
are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Gain or losses on dilution of 
equity interest in associates are recognized in profit or loss.

42.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are 
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (“Functional Currency”). The Functional Currency of the Company 
is USD. Group companies including Yeahka WFOE and Structured Entities were 
incorporated in the PRC and these entities considered RMB as their functional 
currency. As the major operations of the Group are within the PRC, the Group has 
determined RMB as its presentation currency and presented its consolidated financial 
statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).



YEAHKA LIMITED 2024 ANNUAL REPORT238

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than Functional Currency are translated into 
Functional Currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Currency exchange differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the closing rates at the end of the reporting period are recognized in 
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss within “finance costs”. All other foreign 
exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss within “other (losses)/gains -net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as 
part of the fair value gain or loss.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as 
equities held at FVPL are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on 
non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as FVOCI, are included in 
other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the 
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency of RMB are translated into the presentation currency 
as follows:

• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.3 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued)

• Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate 
on the dates of the transactions); and

• All resulting currency translation differences are recognized as a separate 
component of other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net 
investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to other comprehensive 
income. When a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences are 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing 
rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognized in other comprehensive 
income.

42.4 Trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables

Trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables mainly consist of receivables 
from payment networks, commission receivables, loan receivables, lease deposits, etc. 
If collection of other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are classified as 
current assets. Otherwise, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is 
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components, when they are 
recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective 
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Other receivables and loan receivables 
are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 3.1 for the Group’s 
impairment policy for trade receivables, other receivables and loan receivables.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.5 Share capital and shares held for employee share scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as 
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted 
from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the shares 
are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any 
consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs 
and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of the 
Company.

Shares held by the employee share trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted 
from contributed equity.

42.6 Financial assets

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognized as a financial liability at the time the 
guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the 
higher of:

• the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under 
IFRS 9; and

• the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of 
income recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the present value of the 
difference in cash flows between the contractual payments required under the debt 
instrument and the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or the 
estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.7 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in 
the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Other payables mainly consist of deposits 
and entry fees received from distribution channels and amounts payable to merchants.

The Group receives from distribution channels two payments during the course of 
business: (1) an upfront refundable deposit and (2) an upfront non-refundable entry fees 
upon they sign up the service agreements with the Group. The Group, in return, shares 
its payment service revenue with distribution channels in the form of commissions in 
accordance with the terms of the service agreements. The upfront deposit is recorded 
as a liability of the Group and it is refundable to the distribution channels upon, they 
terminate the distribution service agreement or upon expiry of the contractual service 
period. The entry fees from distribution channels are credited into profit or loss to off-set 
against the commission paid/payable to distribution channels based on a straight-line 
method over the contractual period of the service agreements of 3 years.

Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

42.8 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or 
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.9 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time 
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying 
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.

42.10 Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible bonds that can 
be converted to share capital at the option of the holders with number of shares to be 
issued by the Group would not vary with changes in their fair value.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined using a market 
interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded as a liability 
on an amortized cost basis until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. 
The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognized 
and included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects. The equity component is 
recognized initially at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial 
instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability component, which is included 
in shareholders’ equity in other reserves. Any directly attributable transaction costs are 
allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying 
amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial 
instrument is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity 
component of a compound financial instrument is not re-measured subsequent to initial 
recognition except on conversion or maturity.

The liability component of a convertible instrument is classified as current unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.11 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized 
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period in the countries where 
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities 
are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred 
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of each reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax asset is realized, or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.11 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences 
arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates, except for deferred income tax 
liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled 
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference for associates. Only when there is an agreement in place that 
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference in the 
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary differences 
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible temporary differences 
arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates only to the extent that it is 
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient 
taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

42.12 Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result 
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. Employee 
entitlements to sick and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of leave.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.12 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined contribution plans 
organised by the relevant governmental authorities. The Group’s liability in respect 
of these plans is limited to the contributions payable in each period. Contributions to 
these plans are expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited by 
those employees who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Assets 
of the plans are held and managed by government authorities and are separated 
from those of the Group.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group 
before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes termination 
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs 
for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment 
of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of 
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

(d) Share-based benefits

As disclosed in Note 35, the Group operates several equity-settled share-based 
compensation plans (including share option scheme and share award scheme), under 
which the Group receives services from its employees in exchange for the equity 
instruments of the Company. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of equity instruments is recognized as an expense. The total 
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted:

• Including any market performance conditions (e.g., the entity’s share price);

• Excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting 
conditions (e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and retention periods of an 
employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

• Including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (e.g., the requirement for 
employees to save or holdings shares for a specific period).
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.12 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Share-based benefits (Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about 
the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest. The total expense is 
recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, at a minimum an expense 
is recognized as if the terms had not been modified. An additional expense is 
recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at 
the date of modification.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date 
of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized 
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled 
and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as 
described in the previous paragraph.

If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture, when the vesting conditions (other 
than market conditions) have not been met, any expense not yet recognized for that 
award, as at the date of forfeiture, is treated as if it had never been recognized. At 
the same time, any expense previously recognized on such cancelled equity awards 
are reversed from the accounts effective as at the date of forfeiture.

At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options 
or restricted share units that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting 
and service conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, 
if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment made to equity.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required 
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognized for further operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A 
provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item 
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the 
provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

42.14 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all attached 
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in profit or loss over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 
liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.15 Leases

The Group leases various properties. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods 
of one to five years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain 
various terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but 
leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets (included in properties, plant and equipment) 
and the corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is 
available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and 
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for 
each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis.

The depreciation of right-of-use asset is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate their cost to their residual values over remaining lease terms.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 
receivable;

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise 
that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee 
exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate 
can be determined, or the entity’s incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized 
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a 
lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets comprise machinery with value below 
RMB35,000.
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42 Summary of other potentially material accounting policies (Continued)

42.16 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the CODM. The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and 
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the CEO of the 
Company that makes strategic decisions.

42.17 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the 
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.

43 Contingencies

Saves as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had no material contingent 
liabilities outstanding as at 31 December 2024.

44 Capital commitment

As at 31 December

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted but not provided for:

Construction of office building 20,416 5,677
   

45 Events after balance sheet date

In January 2025, the Company placed a total of 19,150,000 placing shares to certain 
independent third parties at the placing price of HKD10.10 per placing share with net 
proceeds of approximately HKD189 million, net of all applicable costs and expenses including 
commissions, professional fees and out-of pocket expenses.
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In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words and expressions 
shall have the following meanings.

“AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 
June 5, 2025

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time 
to time) adopted on June 24, 2022

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Company

“Auditor” PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company

“Board” the board of Directors of the Company

“business day(s)” any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in Hong 
Kong) on which banks in Hong Kong are generally open for normal 
banking business

“BVI” the British Virgin Islands

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China

“Companies Act” the Companies Act, Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands (as amended or
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

“Company”,“our 
 Company” or 
 “the Company”

Y E A H K A L I M I T E D (移卡有限公司 ) ,  a n  e x e m p t e d  c o m p a n y 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 
September 8, 2011, and, except where the context otherwise requires, 
all of its subsidiaries, or where the context refers to the time before 
it became the holding company of its present subsidiaries, its 
present subsidiaries

“Contractual 
 Arrangements”

a series of contractual arrangements entered into on October 29, 
2019 by, among others, Yeahka WFOE, the PRC Consolidated Entities 
and their respective shareholders, details of which are described in 
the section headed “Directors’ Report — Connected Transactions — 
Continuing Connected Transactions — Contractual Arrangements” in 
this annual report
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“Creative Brocade” Creative Brocade Ltd., an exempted company incorporated in the 
BVI with limited liability on September 7, 2011 and wholly-owned by 
Mr. Liu, and one of our controlling shareholders

“Creative Brocade 
 International”

Creative Brocade International Limited, an exempted company 
incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on November 15, 2019 
and held as to 99.9% by Brocade Creation and 0.1% by Creative 
Brocade, and one of our controlling shareholders

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“ESG” environmental, social and governance

“ESG Committee” the environmental, social and governance committee of the 
Company

"Fushi Technology" Fushi Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (深圳市富匙科技有限公司), a 
company established in the PRC on April 12, 2016 with limited liability

“GMV” gross merchandise value

“GPV” gross payment volume

“Group”, “our Group”,
 “we”, “our” or “us”

our Company, its subsidiaries and the PRC Consolidated Entities 
from time to time, or, where the context so requires, in respect of 
the period before our Company became the holding company of our 
present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were subsidiaries of 
our Company at the relevant time or the business operated by such 
subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the case may be)
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“HK$” or “HKD” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“Hong Kong”, 
 “Hong Kong SAR” or
 “Hong Kong Special
 Administrative Region”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“ISO” The International Organization for Standardization 

“Leshua Technology” Leshua Technology Co., Ltd. (樂刷科技有限公司), a limited liability 
company established under the laws of the PRC on July 31, 2013 and 
one of the PRC Consolidated Entities

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

“Listing Date” the date, being June 1, 2020, on which the Shares were listed on the 
Stock Exchange and from which dealings in the Shares are permitted 
to commence on the Stock Exchange

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to 
time

“Main Board” the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the 
Stock Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel 
with GEM of the Stock Exchange

“Memorandum” the memorandum of association of our Company (as amended from 
time to time), adopted on June 24, 2022

“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
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“Mr. Liu” Mr. Liu Yingqi (劉穎麒), chairman of the Board, executive Director 
and chief executive officer of our Company

“NetsUnion” China Nets Union Clearing Corporation (中國網聯清算有限公司)

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Company

“Penguin Financial” Shenzhen Penguin Financial Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳市企鵝金融科
技有限公司), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC on 
June 4, 2014, which is a subsidiary of Shiji Kaixuan Technology Co., 
Ltd (深圳市實際凱旋科技有限公司)

“PRC Consolidated Entities” Shenzhen Yeahka and its subsidiaries the financial results of which 
have been consolidated and accounted for as subsidiaries of our 
Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements

“PRC Government” the central government of the PRC, including all political subdivisions 
(including provincial , municipal and other regional or local 
government entities) and its organs or, as the context requires, any 
of them

“PRC Legal Advisors” Han Kun Law Offices

“Pre-IPO Stock Incentive 
 Scheme”

the pre-IPO stock incentive scheme of the Company approved and 
adopted by the Board on January 1, 2013, and as subsequently 
amended, the principal terms of which are set out in “Statutory and 
General Information — D. Share Incentive Schemes — 1. Pre-IPO 
Stock Incentive Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated May 20, 2020

“Registered Shareholders” the registered shareholders of Shenzhen Yeahka, namely, Mr. Liu 
Yingqi, Mr. Qin Baoan, Shenzhen Tencent and Penguin Financial

“Reorganization” the reorganization of the Group in preparation of the Listing, details 
of which are set out in “History, Reorganization and Corporate 
Structure — Corporate Reorganization” in the Prospectus
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“Reporting Period” or the 
 “Year”

the year ended December 31, 2024

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“RSU(s)” restricted share unit(s)

“RSU Eligible Persons” persons eligible to receive RSUs under the RSU Scheme who are 
existing directors (whether executive or non-executive, but excluding 
independent non-executive directors), senior management or 
officers of the Company or any of the subsidiaries of the Company, 
including persons who are granted RSUs under the RSU Scheme as 
an inducement to enter, and conditional upon their entering, into 
employment contracts with the Company or any subsidiaries of the 
Company (“Employee Participants”); directors and employees of 
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies 
of the Company (“Related Entity Participants”); or advisers or 
consultants who provide management, business or professional 
consulting services to the Group on a continuing or recurring basis in 
its ordinary and usual course of business which are in the interests 
of the long term growth of the Group (“Service Providers”). In 
determining the eligibility of Service Providers, the Board shall also 
consider a range of factors including the nature and frequency of 
the services provided, and the current and anticipated contribution 
of their services to the Group’s financial and business performance, 
among other indicators

“RSU Nominee 1” Yeah Talent Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI 
on November 6, 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TMF Trust (HK) 
Limited, one of the RSU Trustees

“RSU Nominee 2” Yeah United Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI 
on November 6, 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TMF Trust (HK) 
Limited, one of the RSU Trustees

“RSU Participant(s)” the participant(s) in the RSU Scheme

“RSU Scheme” the restricted share unit scheme of our Company approved and 
adopted by our Board on August 1, 2019
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“RSU Trustees” TMF Trust (HK) Limited and Futu Trustee Limited, independent 
and professional trustees appointed by our Company to act as the 
trustees of the RSU Scheme

“SaaS” a software licensing and delivery model in which software is licensed 
on a subscription basis and is centrally hosted

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of 
Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented from time to time

“Share(s)” ordinary shares in the capital of our Company with nominal value of 
US$0.000025 each

"Share Option Scheme" the share option scheme adopted at the extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company held on October 13, 2020

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of Share(s)

“Shenzhen Tencent” Shenzhen Tencent Domain Computer Network Co., Ltd. (深圳市騰訊網
域計算器網路有限公司), a limited company incorporated in the PRC on 
April 28, 1997, which is a subsidiary of Shenzhen Tencent Computer 
Systems Co., Ltd. (深圳市騰訊計算機系統有限公司), a subsidiary of 
Tencent

“Shenzhen Yeahka” Shenzhen Yeahka Technology Co., Ltd. (深圳市移卡科技有限公司), 
a limited company established in the PRC on June 16, 2011, the 
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted 
for as a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual 
Arrangements, and one of the PRC Consolidated Entities

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Tencent” Tencent Holdings Limited, an exempted company with limited 
liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the 
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange 
(stock code: 700) and/or its subsidiaries, as the case may be

“U.S.” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all 
areas subject to its jurisdiction

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
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“UnionPay” China UnionPay (中國銀聯股份有限公司), the only bank card clearing 
house and bank card association in China, who operates an inter – 
bank transaction settlement system through which the connection 
and switch between banking systems and the interbank, cross-region 
usages of bank cards issued by associate banks may be realized

“Yeahka HK” Yeahka Technology Limited, a limited company incorporated under 
the laws of Hong Kong on October 7, 2011 and a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of our Company

“Yeahka WFOE” Yeahka Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (宜卡科技(深圳)有限公司), a 
limited company established under the laws of the PRC on May 17, 
2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

“%” percent

In this annual report, the terms “ associate”, “ close associate”, “ connected person”, 
“ connected transaction”, “ continuing connected transaction”, “ core connected person”, 
“ controlling shareholder”, “ subsidiary” and “ substantial shareholder” shall have the 
meanings given to such terms in the Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise requires.
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